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KEY DATES

Annual Results Announcement
Despatch of Annual Report to Shareholders
Latest time to lodge transfers
(for attending and voting at the
Annual General Meeting)
Closure of Register of Members
(for attending and voting at the
Annual General Meeting)
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(for final dividend)

Record Date of Final Dividend
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Corporate Information and Key Dates
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Definitions
B

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the

following expressions shall have the following meanings:

“associate(s)

“Board”

“Chia Hsin Cement”

“CHPL”

“Company”

“Convertible Preference

Shares”

”»

“Director(s)

“Group”

::HK$"

“Hong Kong”

has the same meaning ascribed

thereto under the Listing Rules

the board of Directors

Chia Hsin Cement Corporation, a
parent company of a substantial

shareholder of the Company, CHPL

Chia Hsin Pacific Limited, a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and a substantial shareholder of the

Company

TCC International Holdings Limited,
a company incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands with limited liability,
the Ordinary Shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock

Exchange

the restricted voting convertible
preference shares of HK$0.10 each in
the share capital of the Company

the director(s) of the Company

the Company and its subsidiaries

Hong Kong Dollars, the lawful currency

of Hong Kong

the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the PRC

TCC International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2016
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“Independent Third
Party(ies)”

“Listing Rules”

“Ordinary Shares”

“PRC”

“BRMB”

“SFO”

“Shareholder(s)”

“Stock Exchange”

person(s) or company(ies) which is
(are) independent of the directors,
supervisors, controlling shareholder,
substantial shareholder and the chief
executive (such terms as defined in
the Listing Rules) of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries or an associate

of any of them

the Rules Governing the Listing of

Securities on the Stock Exchange

ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in

the share capital of the Company

the People’s Republic of China, which
for the purposes of this annual report
excludes Hong Kong, the Macao
Special Administrative Region and

Taiwan

Renminbi Yuan, the lawful currency of
PRC

Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong)

a registered holder(s) of Ordinary

Shares

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited
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Definitions

EE

“subsidiary”

“substantial

shareholders

“T’Cement”

“TCC Cement

Companies”

“TCC Group”

“TCCr

Hus$u

“op”

»

has the meaning ascribed thereto
under the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong
Kong), as amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time
and “subsidiaries” shall be construed

accordingly

has the same meaning ascribed

thereto in the Listing Rules

Taiwan Cement Corporation, a
company incorporated in Taiwan,
the shares of which are listed on the
Taiwan Stock Exchange and which,
through its wholly owned subsidiary,
is holding approximately 63.05%
of the issued share capital of the

Company

for the purposes of the Environmental
and Social Responsibility Report
included in this annual report, has the
meaning ascribed thereto on page 65

of this annual report

for the purposes of the Environmental
and Social Responsibility Report
included in this annual report,

T’Cement and our Group collectively

TCC International Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands and a substantial shareholder
of the Company

United States Dollars, the lawful

currency of the United States

per cent

TCC International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2016

A

B8 2 ]

[EERR]

[T'Cement |

a Kk

NCIN

BREH]

[TCCI]

[%&7t]

[% ]

B

B

B

B

B

=

&

&

BB REHGD (FEEDE

622F ) (EAEHER] 7

sk A B 75 B 20 Bl 7 %

ﬂz g [ EME A
L St

A% EHRAMT %AZE
FIB%E

AEKERNAERA
Fﬁﬁé‘éﬁ“?ﬁﬂﬁﬁiiz
HEROREEE? x%ﬁﬁi
- A 3 iR

\

HzENBEA
hﬁﬂi’&ﬁE%f:fﬂxZ}K%"]
63.05%

MAFERABNRERALE
BEEHREMS BBEAFR
SEOSEME T % 2 H &

MAFRHNREL LS
EEHEMS * T'Cement &
REBERSTH

TCC International Limited
—ERRE R X B SR
AVAPA/NI R 7 VNN A -2
P& R

X XBEEE®

AL



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFRE

This is my first message to members of the Company in my
capacity as the Chairman of the Board. You should have learned
of the tragic news regarding the passing away of the late
Chairman Koo, who was not just a long-time colleague but also a
close friend of mine. It is with deep regret that | have to assume
the lead position of the Group under such an unexpected and

unfortunate circumstance.

Under the leadership of the late Mr. Leslie Koo, the Group has
developed from its humble beginning in Southern China to
become one of Mainland China’s top cement manufacturers. The
Group’s status in the Mainland China is not merely earned from a
massive scale and extensive market coverage, it is respected and
recognised by its peers for its advanced production technology

and outstanding operation efficiency.

ERBIFREFEIFARASMLARBRIE
HHRE - SUECSEECRIFEENELRE
HHER - WETFEERETERENZFRF
MEENBR REEHEERERTATE
MERT BHEREANEEHBA  FREIR
DRRB -

EMETFEERET BRASERERLRO )
REBEE BREDEARERS —R&EKRHK
REEM -ANEBEEPBEARES XN NE
ERENAEEANABERBEZOMSEESE &
BEENEERM R SENEENTTREZR
ENBEREFA -
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
RS

What late Mr. Koo has left to us is more than the legacy of
transforming the Group into a leading player in the world’s single
largest cement market, he has also laid the foundation for the
Group’s sustainable development in its core business and a
platform for vertical and horizontal extension of its value chain.
The strategic distribution of facilities in key geographical locations
and the well-tested operational mechanism and management
and control systems, laid down under the guidance of the late
Chairman Koo, have formed the backbone of our Group’s

continued development.

Following years of organic expansion and mergers and
acquisitions, the Group has already established an efficient
operations portfolio in the cement sector in Mainland China.
| believe our Group is ready to move on to the next level of

expansion to attain qualitative transformation, on top of our

ongoing quantitative growth.

WELEMERRAPIR B G ERE R R AKX
TemE EMERLE  ME /AR EZLER
MAKEEREE TER UBET FaES
EEERVERARNRERLEHR EREEE
MEIET SENRETK T ERTEARENE
EREMSEBHE BAREES —ETZAX
MEERFINEZERR ELOANAXEEE
FEEROT-

BB % F R RR IR KRG ARED
RERACEITRRL T RBMEBAES - Tl
ERECABKRERERT LHOEE £4
FRAMBEIBEROFAE BRAGREER
BRAMEREL -
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In addition to generating tangible value for our shareholders, it is
also our obligation as a corporate citizen to commit resources to
preserve and enhance the environment of our world. Our parent
company in Taiwan has been utilising cement manufacturing
facilities and state-of-the-art technologies to resolve a range
of environmental issues since the early 1980’s. In light of
the worsening global climate change and the deteriorating
eco-condition in certain parts of Mainland China, we as a
corporation, equipped with the necessary know-how and
facilities, are obliged to extend our contribution to environmental

protection in the communities we operate.

In the last Chairman’s Statement, the late Mr. Koo had drawn
the blueprint for our Group’s transformation into an integrated
eco-solutions provider, capitalising on its established enormous
cement operations. Driven by the vision of the late Chairman
Koo, we have embarked on the establishment of a one-stop
environmental solution within integrated operations. Within our
Group’s facilities, the heat generated from high temperature
kiln during the process of cement production could be used to
generate electricity, as well as to incinerate urban and industrial

wastes.

The Group laid its first step in the provision of eco-solutions
through the inauguration of its waste treatment plant in Anshun,
Guizhou province. The plant, with a daily capacity of handling
200 metric tons of household waste, has been running smoothly
since its commencement at the end of 2015. A second waste
treatment project is being planned in Shaoguan, Guangdong
province, alongside the development of the Group’s clinker and
cement production line. This will be the Group’s first greenfield
cement project integrated with a waste treatment facility from the

initial design.

The success of these projects will provide a solid showcase for
the Group to convince government authorities to engage our
cement plants in similar environmental solutions in the various

regions in which we have a presence.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFRE
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERmE

Given the extensive experience and know-how of our parent
company in eco-solutions, the processing of household waste
is only the first on a long list of services that can be rendered
by our cement facilities and proven technologies. Our highly
efficient cement kiln is capable of handling a range of industrial
residue from various industries, such as waste solvent and
calcium fluoride sludge, as well as construction wastes. The high
temperature generated by our cement kiln can also vaporise
sludge from waste treatment plants and coal ash from power

plants, thus minimising harmful emission to the environment.

Apart from capitalising on existing cement facilities for waste
treatment, it is also possible for the Group to develop and
operate stand-alone waste incineration plants and sewage
treatment plants in different parts of Mainland China, to complete
our strategic deployment along the eco-solutions industrial chain.
Some of our shareholders may not be aware that our parent
company in Taiwan is one of the island’s major operators of
waste incineration plants and sewage treatment plants, servicing

close to one third of the population on the island.

The transformation of cement plants from a source of pollutants
to a provider of eco-solutions, on one hand allows the Group to
contribute to the local community and the Earth’s ecosystem; on
the other hand, it offers an opportunity for the Group to venture
into a new business segment catering to the Mainland China’s
recent State policies of promoting a cleaner environment and

green production.

Apart from exploring new business opportunities, the Group
is also aggressively strengthening its operation efficiency and
revolutionising its customer relationship management through the
application of latest information technologies. When the Group
launched its e-commerce platform at the end of 2015, it might
not have gained the attention it deserved. However, the platform
has proven to be an invaluable asset in the Group’s logistics

control and customer services.

TCC International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2016
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Our e-commerce platform performs far more functions than its
name indicates. It is in effect an intelligent management system
integrating online purchases, shipment tracking, production,
and sales monitoring on a single platform. The system has been
adopted by a vast majority of our customers providing them with
the latest information on their order placement. The platform
also offers the Group’s management mobile access to most up-
to-date statistics on material procurement, production progress
and sales. Furthermore, the system generates sales analysis
and customer credit information to facilitate sales promotion and
credit control. The e-commerce platform is able to analyse big
data generated from the Group’s operations, thereby providing
a multi-dimensional perspective of the Group's activities, and is
becoming an instrumental tool in assisting the management’s
decision making. Such capability places the Group in an
advantageous position in identifying market opportunities and

formulating business strategies.

The Group’s performance in 2016 demonstrated that our
management’s dedication to optimise operational efficiency had
enabled the Group to ride on the tide of market rebound and

generated favourable results for our shareholders.

Learning a hard lesson from the devaluation of Renminbi against
US dollars in 2015, our financial team managed to revamp our
debt structure, by reducing two-thirds of our foreign currency

loan in 2016, so as to minimise our foreign exchange exposure.

Our strong market presence in the Southern region had been a
major impetus for the Group’s encouraging performance during
the year under review. Our business in this region will continue to
be an important driver of the Group’s performance in 2017. The
Group’s operations in the Southwestern region also displayed
healthy improvement in 2016. Given the continued enhancement
in cost-effectiveness and operational efficiency in our various
plants within the region, we expect the Southwestern operations
to provide more significant contribution to the Group’s bottom
line in 2017.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFRE
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FRRE

Our traditional business of cement manufacturing has developed
a sizeable portfolio with mature and effective operational
mechanism. Our cement operations are already in the forefront
of the industry. The advanced facilities and extensive local
connections of our cement operations offer a concrete foundation
for our transformation into an eco-solutions provider in the near
future. | am confident that our commitment to the “green value
chain strategy” will lead our Group to a new era of growth and
development. This approach will not only broaden our earnings
base and income sources, but more importantly, it will align
the interest of our operations with the well-being of the local
communities. | believe the best way for us to pay our tribute to
the late Chairman is to realise his vision of optimising the Group’s

resources to contribute to a circular economy.

BZRERNIOBEERHEERRBARED
EXEMAG  AENA LA RCELKS - HFIRK
REBRBNITEMNBLMA HEENORER
Bz E I AR R SR FIARRAZ LREER
HERHERESREHERENRELRE - HAEE - B
4 [eEERB | WRASTAEEEBRNK
FRE RO FACTT - % B N E AT B A AFIH
BAMERLWERR EEENRE  ERHERME
BHaEEHmTENBLES B -HARRA
BWETEZIHNRETN RRERBEFE
BRAAINAEEERABZEREBENRER -

Chang, An-Peng, Nelson

Chairman

Hong Kong
27 March 2017
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MARKET OVERVIEW

Total cement output in Mainland China for the year ended 31
December 2016 only mildly increased by 2.5 per cent year-on-
year and amounted to approximately 2,403 million metric tons.
Following a significant plunge in 2015, cement average selling
price (“ASP”) gradually recovered from the second quarter of
the year and began to rebound sharply from September 2016
onwards. In December 2016, nationwide cement ASP rose 31.2

per cent from its lowest level in February of that year.

During the year, the State Council of the PRC pushed forward the
supply-side structural reform on the construction material sector
with an aim to secure steady growth in the industry. The State’s
promotion of higher concentration in the cement market had
fostered intensified cooperation among leading players. Effective
self-disciplined effort in maintaining stable supply, in particular
in Southern China, resulted in strong cement ASP during the

second half of the year under review.

Despite Mainland China’s maintenance of a 6.7 per cent year-on-
year growth in GDP, uncertainty in global economic environment,
sluggish domestic demand and excess industrial capacity had
hindered the growth in fixed asset investment during 2016. Fixed
asset investment in Mainland China in 2016 reported a 8.1 per
cent growth to RMB59.65 ftrillion, representing a 1.9 percentage
points retreat from that of 2015. However, fixed asset investment
in infrastructure development reported a strong growth of 17.4
per cent year-on-year and reached RMB11.89 trillion. Driven by
relaxation of austerity measures, the property market recovered
in 2016 from a challenging year in 2015. Real estate investment
in 2016 enjoyed a year-on-year growth of 6.9 per cent, compared
to a mere 1.0 per cent growth in 2015, and reached RMB10.26
trillion. Robust infrastructure and property investments offered
solid supports to the cement demand during the year under

review.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEERE VSR

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The Group reported a sales volume of 53.3 million metric tons for
the year ended 31 December 2016, representing a 11.2 per cent
year-on-year growth. The growth in the Group’s sales volume
was mainly driven by healthy demand from both the private and
public sectors. The Group’s cement ASP started from a relatively
low level at the beginning of the year and remained steady till
May 2016, when cement ASP started to gradually pick up. The
Group’s cement ASP soared in the fourth quarter of 2016, rising
by approximately 22.0 per cent quarter-on-quarter. At the end of
2016, the Group’s cement ASP rose by approximately 39.0 per
cent from the beginning of the year. Mirroring the performance
of cement ASP, the Group’s unit profitability recovered from the
bottom in the first quarter of 2016 to reach its peak in the fourth

quarter.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group reported a
revenue of HK$11,412.8 million, up by 4.6 per cent from that
of the previous year. Gross profit and gross profit margin of the
Group stood at 2,390.5 million and 20.9 per cent, representing
year-on-year increases of 42.7 per cent and 5.6 percentage
points, respectively. The significant improvement in both gross
profit and gross profit margin was mainly attributed to strong
cement ASP, in particular in Southern region in which the Group

enjoyed a dominant position.

E 3 E)
AEBR-Z—R"F+_A=+—HILFEHK
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FHEEBRF LAKE9.0% - REEHK BEAL
BAMEXKEFHEBRAMM - —RFE—
FEMARLDA ZEFENFEENEE-
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7 2,390,500,0007T 520.9% - B & & [F B 7
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SALES VOLUME OF CEMENT, CLINKER

CEERE P Sk

CEMENT AND CLINKER ASP BY REGION

AND SLAG POWDER IN 2016 BY REGION #Zi#EE| 9 2K ERBZEFHEE

TE-RFERHWEE D 2K - B

RIBEEREE D
RMB/metric ton
3.4% ANREE/NME
300
2.1%
46.7% 250 .\:\
39.2%
.h \
200 a —
N—=
8.6%
150 \.//.
Southern 2R 24.9 million metric tons & & ANE
Eastern ZEH 4.6 milion metric tons & & ANE
Southwestern FiE 20.9 milion metric tons & & AW 100
Northeastern 1t 1.1 million metric tons & & QA 2013 2014 2015 2016

Others E A 1.8 million metric tons & & A NE

Total sales volume : 53.3 milion metric tons
HGHE © 53.3 nEam

One of the causes for the Group’s loss in 2015 was significant
foreign exchange loss incurred from devaluation of Renminbi
against US dollars, since US dollar-denominated loan accounted
for a significant portion of the Group’s debt portfolio. To minimize
its foreign exchange exposure, the Group radically replaced its
US dollar-denominated loan by domestically sourced funding.
Further reduction in US dollar-denominated loan was achieved
through premature repayment and capitalisation of debts at the
subsidiary level. Such efforts resulted in significant slicing of

foreign exchange loss in 2016.

Fueled by strong cement ASP and enhanced operation efficiency
along with effective Renminbi hedging strategies, the Group
managed to resume profitability to report a profit attributable to
owners of the Company of HK$193.8 million, against a loss of

HK$249.4 million in the previous year.

As of the end of 2016, the Group operated a total of 32 clinker
production lines and was equipped with 59 cement grinding mills
with overall clinker and cement capacities of 48,411,000 metric

tons and 58,642,000 metric tons, respectively.

® Northeastern &t
®m Southwestern 75/

® FEastern FEXR
B Southern ¥
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEERE VSR

Southern Region

The Group’s operations in the Southern region reported a
sales volume of 24.9 million metric tons for the year 2016,
representing a year-on-year growth of 12.5 per cent. The Group’s
plants in Guangdong and Guangxi provinces reported sales
volumes of 15.3 million metric tons (excluding 194,157 metric
tons of clinker shipped to Fuzhou) and 9.5 million metric tons
(excluding 185,244 metric tons of intercompany sales to Fuzhou)

respectively.

The Southern region contributed 46.6 per cent of the total sales
volume of the Group, making it the Group’s largest market in
2016. The Group’s effort in improving cost-effectiveness in the
region resulted in reduction in unit cost during the year. Driven
by enhanced operational efficiency and higher cement ASP, the
Southern region operations experienced substantial upsurge in

operating profit and offered significant contribution to the Group’s

favourable performance during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

High market concentration in the Southern region, evidenced
by domination of more than half of the market's share by a
handful of large cement enterprises, led to effective cooperation
in maintaining disciplined supply. The concerted effort of leading
players in the region contributed to strong ASP for most part
of 2016. The Group’s plants in Guangdong recorded a 40-50
per cent hike during the year in cement ASP, while its plants in

Guangxi experienced a 20 per cent surge in ASP during the year.

Unlike the previous year when a sizeable portion of the output
from the Group’s Guigang plant in Guangxi was shipped to the
Pearl River Delta, strong local demand had consumed almost all
of the output from the Guigang plant. Reduced cement supply

to the Guangdong market served to strengthen the cement ASP

and sales of the Group’s two plants in Yingde Guangdong.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEERE VSR

Southwestern Region

Most of the Group’s facilities in the Southwestern region which
comprised Chongging municipality, Sichuan, Guizhou and Hunan
provinces, completed their run-in period and began to operate
up to their desired efficiency. However, improvement in cement
ASP in the region was relatively modest compared to that of
the Southern region, as the region’s coordination on market
discipline was not as effective as that in the Southern region
among cement manufacturers, due to lack of dominant players.
There had been noticeable variation in ASP movement among the

various provinces and municipality within the region.

The Group’s Guizhou operations experienced a significant
upsurge in cement ASP during the last quarter of 2016, while the

Sichuan province only registered modest ASP recovery due to

demand constraint.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As a result of improvement in overall operation efficiency
and enhancement in cement ASP, the Group’s Southwestern
operations reported a healthy operating profit in 2016 as

opposed to a loss in the previous year.

The region reported a sales volume of 20.9 million metric tons,
up 17.8 per cent year-on-year. The Group’s production lines in
Chongging municipality and Sichuan province together generated
a sales volume of 10.5 million metric tons. TCC Huaihua Cement
Company Limited, which demonstrated enhanced operational
efficiency during the year under review, reported a sales volume
of 3.3 million metric tons, representing 78.6 per cent year-
on-year increase. The aggregate sales volume of the Group’s
Guizhou plants amounted to 7.1 million metric tons during the

year.

The Group’s urban waste treatment project in Anshun Guizhou
province became fully operational during the year. The Anshun
plant processed 33,400 metric tons of household wastes in
2016, being its first year of operation. Applying mature and
proven technologies developed by the Group’s parent company

in Taiwan, the plant is serving as a pilot showcase for the Group’s

exploration of the eco-solution market in Mainland China.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CEERER Sk

Eastern Region ERiE

During the year, the Group’s operations in the region reported FERN SETERREENEBHRBLREER
a sales volume of 4.7 million metric tons, down 1.5 per cent as 4,700,000AMF - B EF T#K1.5% - OB ME M
compared to that of the previous year. The sales volume of the HERMAERE MEMNBNHEESBETHA-
plant in Jurong recorded a slight increase, while there was a

modest decline in sales volume for the Fuzhou plant.

Cement ASP in the Eastern region remained volatile due to ARBEF R ERBEMNKEFHERRE
severe competition. Although the region’s operations failed to BEENEERSD BEAEERZMWENED
resume profitability, the Group’s Jurong plant began to break MARBARE ERASENOUABMEEREFE
even in the last quarter of the year under review, and thus NENMEERABERRS FE 2FBEBIAK
managed to significantly narrow its loss for the year. The Fuzhou 8 W FE o BN Bk 5 A 75 1 B ZE g Hb (= A 2R 4
plant, which mainly relied on clinker supply from the Southern fE B EMBKAR ERFEMERSEE-

region operations, suffered widened loss due to higher raw

material cost.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CEERE P Sk

Northeastern Region

The Group’s Liaoning plant reported a sales volume of 1.1 million
metric tons, down by 15.5 per cent year-on-year. Despite the
local government’s effort in stabilizing cement ASP, it has yet to

see any noticeable improvement in the market condition.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEERER Sk

Hong Kong

The Group’s operations in Hong Kong generated a sales volume
of approximately 530,000 metric tons, down by 15.2 per cent
as compared with that in 2015. The retreat in sales volume was
due partly to the Group insistence on maintaining a reasonable
price in tendering for public sector projects and the overhaul of
its cement plant in the territory. Despite the drop in sales volume,
the Hong Kong operations continued to generate a decent profit

for the year.

Others
The Group’s two slag powder non-wholly owned subsidiaries in
Anhui and Guangxi provinces together generated a sales volume

of 1.3 million metric tons, up 17.0 per cent year-on-yeatr.

OTHER SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

As at 31 December 2016, a net increase in fair value of
HK$373,000 (2015: net decrease in fair value of HK$11,550,000)
was recognised for held-for-trading investments upon stating
them at market prices. As at 31 December 2016, the carrying
amount of held-for-trading investments was HK$38.2 million
(2015: HK$37.8 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES,
CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND NET GEARING
RATIO

The Group adopts prudent treasury policies in managing cash

resources and bank borrowings.

The current ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2016 are as

EEET &5

RBES  HBRR - EREERF
REAMLE

AEBERABEZEBRRAEERRSERRK
RITEE -

REEBR -_Z—R"FT_A=+—BZR&H

follows: b2 /(1IN
2016 2015
=B-AF —
HK$’000 HK$’000
TExT FAT
Current assets mEEE 9,204,277 10,660,416
Current liabilities mEBAEE 4,981,771 8,574,624
Current ratio mE R 1.85 1.24

The Group’s current ratio as at 31 December 2016 was 1.85
(2015: 1.24). The liquidity position is maintained at a healthy

level.

Total cash and bank balances of the Group as at 31 December
2016 amounted to HK$4,341.8 million (2015: HK$5,802.6
million), including time deposits, pledged bank deposits and
restricted bank deposits of HK$83.2 million, HK$17.3 million
and HK$68.8 million (2015: HK$382.0 million, HK$19.3 million
and HK$70.6 million) respectively. Highly liquid short term
investments, classified as held-for-trading investments, with a
market value of HK$38.2 million as at 31 December 2016 (2015:
HK$37.8 million), were also held by the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEERER Sk

The maturity profile of the Group’s bank loans as at 31 December

2016 are repayable as follows:

R_FB—R"E+_A=+—H AKERTE
B HERBR T

X

2016 2015

—E-REF —E—RF

HK$’000 HK$’000

F&T FRET

Within one year R—FR 2,295,456 6,028,147
More than one year but

not exceeding two years BE—FENBERME 1,458,000 2,236,200
More than two years but

not exceeding five years BEMFEETBAEE 5,664,800 3,468,536

Total bank loans RITERBET 9,418,256 11,732,883

There was no material effect of seasonality on the Group’s
borrowing requirement. As at 31 December 2016, HK$177.6
million of the bank loans was denominated in HK$, HK$7,216.8
million in US$ and HK$2,023.9 million in RMB. All of the bank

loans are of floating rate structures.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The net gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2016 are

EEET &5

REBR -_ZE-—RFT+_A=1t—HZFEE

as follows: BEREMAT:
2016 2015
—E-REF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FHET
Total bank loans RITER LR 9,418,256 11,732,883
Less: Cash and bank balances, time  J& : IR & MIR1T4 8
deposits, pledged bank deposits and  FHifE sk - 2R IT
restricted bank deposits TFHREZRERITER (4,341,753) (5,802,552)
Net borrowings BEFE 5,076,503 5,930,331
Equity attributable to owners of the
Company ARFHEEAEGER 18,548,856 19,960,552
Net gearing ratio FEEAGBLE 27.4% 29.7%

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s net gearing ratio, which
was calculated as the ratio of net borrowings divided by equity
attributable to owners of the Company, was 27.4% (2015:

29.7%), and maintained at a healthy level.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEERE VSR

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and
equipment, prepaid lease payments and mining rights of
approximately HK$168.1 million, HK$18.3 million and HK$19.2

million respectively.

Save for aforesaid, the Group had no other significant

investments, material acquisitions or disposals.
FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES

On 1 June 2015, the Company announced a fully underwritten
one-for-two rights issue of 1,647,821,617 ordinary shares at
the issue price of HK$2.20 per share. The rights issue became
unconditional on 9 July 2015 and net proceeds of HK$3,608.1

million were raised by the Company, which were applied towards

the intended use of funding as stated in the circular to the
Shareholders of the Company dated 22 June 2015.

EXRE - EXRRBIHESHE

FRNAEEBEADE BEELLE -TEAFHE
ERIE R ERE S B4 A168,100,0007% 7T
18,300,000 7T 5% 19,200,000 T, ©

B EXFraESN AEEMEBEEGEARE &
R ERHEFHE-

KEEH
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- B ER2.20/8 T 2 BITEMERE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

USE OF PROCEEDS

As stated in the circular to the Shareholders of the Company
dated 22 June 2015, the Group had plans to use the proceeds
obtained from the rights issue. The proceeds have been partially
utilised. The amount used during the year ended 31 December
2016 and the residual balance to be used as at 31 December

2016 are as follows:

EEET &5

FRERERE

BMARBDR—_TE—RAFENA-+-_ARKRE
BHZBRHAN AEECTEBAHRRME
ZHBE-FBREEHDALH REBEE=Z
—RNEFE+ZA=Zt+-BHLFEEEHAZAER
BER-_ZE-—RNE+-_A=+—RAZFYIRZ
BREELN T

Residual Residual
balance to be Used balance to be
used as at during used as at
1 January 2016 the year 31 December2016
RZB-RF R-ZB-—RE
—-RA—H +=A=t+-H
BHDRRE REREA BRDR%E
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BE#ET BEAR BEART
() Repayment of some of the bank () BRAEE HHRITEE
borrowings of the Group 33.5 (33.9) -
(ii) Finance commitments under previously (i) AR T REET 2
agreed acquisitions and any future AERANRRKEREES
acquisitions 538.7 (6.9) 531.8
(iii) General working capital i) —pEEES 14.9 (14.9) -
587.1 (55.9) 531.8
CHARGE ON ASSETS EREE

As at 31 December 2016, bank deposits amounting to HK$17.3
million have been pledged by the Group as performance

guarantee in relation to certain mining contracts.

RZE—R"RF+ZHA=+—H"17,300,000%
TTZRITEREHAKRERRER/RSE TRE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEERE VSR

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURES

The Group’s sales and purchases during the reporting period
were mostly denominated in RMB. However, most of the Group’s
bank borrowings were denominated in currencies other than
RMB.

RMB is not a freely convertible currency. Future exchange rates
of RMB could vary significantly from the current or historical
exchange rates as a result of controls that could be imposed by
the PRC government. The exchange rates may also be affected
by economic developments and political changes domestically
and internationally as well as the demand and supply of
RMB. The appreciation or devaluation of RMB against foreign
currencies may have an impact on the operating results of the

Group.

The Group currently does not maintain a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the Group’s management monitors the
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant

foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

In addition, the Group enters into short-term forward foreign
currency contracts (less than 3 months) for hedging purpose.
The Group utilises a variety forward foreign currency contracts to

hedge its exposure to foreign currencies on a regular basis.

As at 31 December 2016, major outstanding forward foreign
exchange contracts that the Group has committed is buying US$
and selling RMB at rates from 7.0265 to 7.0275. Their fair value
is estimated to be an asset of HK$396,000 and is included as
derivative financial instruments at the end of the reporting period.

The contracts will mature in the first quarter of 2017.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MAJOR CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s capital expenditure in
respect of the acquisition of property, plant and equipment
contracted but not provided for in the consolidated financial
statements amounted to HK$473.4 million. The Group anticipates
funding those commitments from its internal resources and bank

borrowings.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2016, the Group provided a corporate
guarantee jointly with other shareholders of an associate to a
bank in respect of banking facilities granted to that associate
in aggregate amounted to RMB400,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$448,000,000), of which RMB300,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$336,000,000) has been utilised by the associate. Pursuant
to the corporate guarantee agreement, the Group has provided
the guarantee amount proportioned to its equity interest in the
associate, which represents RMB90,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$100,800,000).

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no other material

contingent liabilities as at the end of the reporting period.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had 9,683 full-time
employees. Total expenses in wages and salaries of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2016 amounted to HK$808.2
million. The Group ensures that the pay levels of its employees
are competitive and in line with market trend and its employees
are rewarded on a performance related basis within the general
framework of the Group’s salary and bonus system. In addition,
the Directors may invite employees, including executive Directors
(in which case approval of independent non-executive Directors
is required), of the Company or any of its subsidiaries and
associates to take up options to subscribe for shares of the
Company. During the year, no share options were granted to

Directors or employees.
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PROSPECTS AND FUTURE PLANS
R B R K=t El

It is generally expected that Mainland China's GDP growth rate
will stay at around 6.5 per cent in 2017, meaning that the State is

going to maintain a modest but steady economic growth.

In the year 2017, the cement market is expected to experience
deepened supply-side structural reform, which is an
important component of the State's 13th Five-Year Plan. The
implementation of the State Council's No. 34 document (Guiding
Opinions on Promoting Steady Growth, Structural Adjustments
and Efficiency Enhancement of the Building Material Industry) will
lead to accelerated elimination of obsolete capacity, as well as
inefficient operators failing to comply with the State's stringent
environmental requirement. Gradual realisation of the abolition
of PC32.5 grade cement and strict restriction on new capacity
expansion until 2020 will help to improve the balance in the

market's supply and demand.

The State’s prohibition of new capacity development has forced
large conglomerates to escalate their merger and acquisition
efforts to achieve scale and geographical expansion. Further
industry consolidation driven by a handful of nationwide
or regional market leaders will result in intensified market
concentration. This will in turn translate into better coordination

among key players to maintain market order.

According to Digital Cement's forecast, cement market demand
in 2017 will basically remain the same or slightly below that
of 2016. The State's continued commitment in infrastructure
development, in particular, transportation network and hydraulic
engineering projects, and the introduction of Private Public
Participation projects ("PPP") will become the impetus for further

implementation of civil engineering works in the public sector.
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PROSPECTS AND FUTURE PLANS

Property development, which is the most important driver of
private sector demand, continues to prosper, evidenced by
record high land premium in first tier cities. Although there are
signs of reinstallation of tighter austerity measures in those
cities due to heightened property prices, construction works
commenced or committed earlier are expected to continue to fuel

private sector demand.

Given the aforementioned favourable factors, cement ASP in

2017 is expected to maintain a stable or steadily upward trend.

However, the cement industry is not without challenge in 2017.
The significant hike in coal price since late 2016 is expected to
continue in the current year. Energy expenses accounted for
a substantial portion of cement manufacturers' cost structure.
Surging coal price will inevitably exert pressure on cement plants'
profit margins. In addition, rising labour and transportation costs,
as well as the State's tightened pollution control requirements are

all going to impact on the bottom line of cement manufacturers.

As for the Group's performance in 2017, the management
maintains a relatively optimistic view. The Group's Southern
region operations are expected to continue to enjoy a
healthy growth from strong demand and stable ASP at a
relatively high level. In addition to massive private and public
sector construction works in the Guangdong province, the
commencement of construction of Hong Kong International
Airport's third runway is likely to tighten cement supply in
the region. The project would also tie up substantial logistic
resources due to its engagement of massive transportation
means such as barges, and is thus expected to add further

pressure on cement supply.

The enormous cement consumption generated by the
construction of Hong Kong International Airport's third runway
will also contribute to strong demand and healthy ASP for the

Group's Hong Kong operations.
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PROSPECTS AND FUTURE PLANS
R B R K=t El

The Group's Southwestern region is likely to further improve
its profitability, in particular, in Chongging and Guizhou due to
enhancement in operational efficiency. The Group's plants in
Hunan are aimed to provide positive contribution to the Group in
2017, although the release of new capacity in the province may

hinder its sales and product ASP.

The Group’s Shaoguan plant, with one clinker and cement
production line of 2 million metric tons, is scheduled for
inauguration by the end of 2017/early 2018. The plant will act as
the bridgehead for the Group’s market extension to the northern
part of Guangdong province. It also constitutes a strategic
linkage between the Group’s plants in Yingde, Guangdong and

the Hunan province, filling in the market gap in between.

Following years of expansion under the leadership of the late
Chairman Koo, the Group is now among the top tier cement
conglomerates in Mainland China. The Group is formulating
its development strategy for the next five to ten years with an
emphasis on social contribution and operation transformation,
capitalizing on its established portfolio. The Group’s parent
company in Taiwan is a pioneer in the utilization of cement
facilities for waste treatment and environmental preservation. The
Group’s urban waste treatment project in Anshun, Guizhou is
aimed as a stepping stone for the Group's entry into the arena of
eco-solution. The application of proven and mature technologies
from the Group’s parent company can serve to address Mainland
China’s pressing environmental concern. The Group is seeking to
extend its collaboration with local governments in handling urban

waste as well as industrial pollution.
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PROSPECTS AND FUTURE PLANS

A second waste treatment plant is being planned in Shaoguan,
Guangdong. Under the Group’s strategy of integrating cement
production, power generation and eco-solution within its cement
operations, the Group will seek to gradually widen its exposure in
waste and emission treatment, initially in areas with its facilities to

optimise synergetic benefit.

The Group's extension of its operation to eco-solution, in one
way, will offer it a diversified income source and create a new
earning base in the long run. It is also the Group's ongoing
strategy to apply innovative technology to fine-tune its business
model and to service the communities in which it has a significant
presence. After equipping all of its cement plants with residual
heat power generation units, the Group intends to gradually
install waste treatment facilities within its various cement
operations. Negotiations with local governments are underway
for the establishment of a network of eco-solution projects
to steer the Group's sustainable and environmentally friendly

development.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEAEREBEGE

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Chang, An-Ping, Nelson

Mr. Nelson Chang, aged 64, has been the Chairman since 23
January 2017 and an executive Director since 27 March 2017.
He is also the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a
member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. He
served as a non-executive Director from January 2008 until
26 March 2017. Mr. Nelson Chang is the uncle of two non-
executive Directors, Mr. Chang, Kang-Lung, Jason and Ms.
Wang, Lishin, Elizabeth, and the uncle of Mr. Koo, Jason Kung
Yi, an executive Director. Mr. Nelson Chang graduated from New
York University with a Master Degree in Business Administration.
He was a director of and vice chairman of Chia Hsin Cement
until June 2016. Mr. Nelson Chang is also a director of Hong
Kong Concrete Company Limited, Quon Hing Concrete Company
Limited and Yargoon Company Limited, all being associated
companies of the Group since 27 March 2017. He is currently
an independent director of Synnex Technology International
Corporation, and a director of T'Cement, China Synthetic Rubber
Corporation and Taiwan Prosperity Chemical Corporation. Since
23 January 2017, Mr. Nelson Chang has been appointed as the
chairman and president of T’"Cement and China Synthetic Rubber
Corporation; and the chairman of Taiwan Prosperity Chemical
Corporation. Since 24 January 2017, he has been appointed as
the chairman and president of Ho-Ping Power Company. Since
3 February 2017, he has been appointed a director of TCC
International Limited. Chia Hsin Cement, Synnex Technology
International Corporation, T'Cement, China Synthetic Rubber
Corporation and Taiwan Prosperity Chemical Corporation are
companies listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange.

Mr. Koo, Jason Kung Yi

Mr. Koo, aged 33, has been appointed as the managing Director,
an executive Director, and a member of both the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company
since 27 March 2017. Mr. Koo is the nephew of Mr. Chang, An-
Ping, Nelson, an executive Director. He holds a Bachelor Degree
in Economics from the National Central University and a Master
Degree in Business Administration from the Wharton School of
the University of Pennsylvania, USA. He is the deputy managing
director of Hong Kong Concrete Company Limited and a director
of Quon Hing Concrete Company Limited and Yargoon Company
Limited, all being associated companies of the Group, since 27
March 2017. Mr. Koo has been a director of T'Cement, China
Synthetic Rubber Corporation and Taiwan Prosperity Chemical
Corporation, companies listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange,
since 23 January 2017. Mr. Koo was a vice president at Morgan
Stanley before joining the Group in September 2016.

TCC International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2016
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Non-executive Directors

Dr. Shan Weijian

Dr. Shan, aged 63, has been a non-executive Director since
August 1997. Dr. Shan is the chairman and chief executive
officer of PAG, an investment firm. He is also a Governor of
China Venture Capital and Private Equity Association. He was
a senior partner of TPG, co-managing partner of Newbridge
Capital, managing director of J.P. Morgan, an assistant professor
at the Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania and
an investment officer at the World Bank in Washington DC. Dr.
Shan graduated from the Beijing Institute of Foreign Trade with
a major in English in 1979. He obtained a Master Degree in
Business Administration from the University of San Francisco in
1981, and received a Masters of Arts Degree in Economics and
a PhD Degree in Business Administration from the University of
California at Berkeley in 1984 and 1987 respectively. Dr. Shan
was an independent non-executive director of BOC Hong Kong
(Holdings) Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange,
from 2002 to June 2016.

Mr. Chang, Kang-Lung, Jason

Mr. Jason Chang, aged 45, has been a non-executive Director
since January 2008. Mr. Jason Chang is the nephew of Mr.
Chang, An-Ping, Nelson, an executive Director and the cousin
of Ms. Wang, Lishin, Elizabeth, a non-executive Director. Mr.
Jason Chang graduated from the Massachusetts Institute of
Technology, Boston, the United States with a Master Degree in
Management of Technology. He also holds a Bachelor Degree
of Arts from Carroll College, Helena, the United States. Mr.
Jason Chang is the director of Chia Hsin Cement Corporation
since 2001 and the chairman since June 2013, and a director
of T’"Cement since June 2015, both companies are listed on the
Taiwan Stock Exchange. He is also a director of CHPL since May
2012.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEAEREBEGE

Ms. Wang, Lishin, Elizabeth

Ms. Elizabeth Wang, aged 43, has been a non-executive Director
and a member of the Audit Committee of the Company since
January 2008. Ms. Elizabeth Wang is the niece of Mr. Chang, An-
Ping, Nelson, an executive Director and the cousin of Mr. Chang
Kang-Lung, Jason, a non-executive Director. Ms. Elizabeth
Wang graduated from the Waseda University, Tokyo, Japan with
a Master Degree in Organization Restructuring. She also holds
a Bachelor Degree of Science in Finance from Boston College,
Boston, the United States. Ms. Elizabeth Wang is a director
and the chairperson of CHPL. She was a director of Chia Hsin
Cement Corporation, a company listed on the Taiwan Stock
Exchange, until June 2016.

Ms. Wang, Chi-May

Ms. C. Wang, aged 59, has been appointed as a non-executive
Director since 27 March 2017. She holds a Bachelor Degree in
Accounting from The State University of New Jersey, USA. She
has over 27 years of experience in general operations and human
resource management. Ms. C. Wang joined the Group in 2001
and has been the senior vice president of operations of T'Cement
since April 2012. She is also a director of Ho-Ping Power
Company, Ta-Ho Maritime Corporation and TCC Information
Systems corporation since March 2005, April 2006 and August
2008 respectively.

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Liao Poon Huai, Donald C.B.E., J.P.

Dr. Liao, aged 87, has been an independent non-executive
Director since August 1997. He is also the chairman of both
the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee, and a
member of the Nomination Committee of the Company. He was
educated at The University of Hong Kong and the University of
Durham, United Kingdom. He received a degree of Doctor of
Science from the University of Durham, United Kingdom, in 2011.
He is a senior advisor to Mitsui & Company (Hong Kong) Limited.
He retired from the Hong Kong civil service in 1989 and was the
former Secretary for District Administration and the Secretary
for Home Affairs. He served as a non-executive director for The
Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited and The
HSBC China Fund Limited. He had served on the Council of
the Stock Exchange between 1991 and 1995. Dr. Liao was also
appointed as an Official Member of the Hong Kong Legislative
Council in 1980 and of the Hong Kong Executive Council in

1985.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Dr. Chih Ching Kang, Kenneth

Dr. Chih, aged 62, has been an independent non-executive
Director since September 2006. He is also a member of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Dr. Chih had been a Chief Architect
Global Purchasing and Supply Chain of General Motors
Corporation (“GM”) in Detroit, the United States, from 2007 to
2009. Before joining GM in 2007, Dr. Chih was the director and
Chief Information Officer of Orient Overseas Container Line Ltd.,
a subsidiary of Orient Overseas (International) Limited (“OOCL”)
which is listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange. He
also served as executive committee member of the board of
OOCL and was globally responsible for IT strategy, information
systems development, information technology infrastructure,
business process and ISO9000 facilitation. Dr. Chih also served
as director of several OOCL subsidiary companies such as Cargo
Smart Limited and IRIS Systems Limited. Before joining OOCL
in 1993, Dr. Chih was the Senior Principal at American Airlines
Decision Technologies. Dr. Chih also had extensive consulting
experience in the United States railroad transportation industry.
Dr. Chih received an M.A. and a Ph.D. from Princeton University,
an M.S. from the University of Texas at Austin and a B.S. from
National Taiwan University. He is an independent director of China
Synthetic Rubber Corporation, a company listed on the Taiwan
Stock Exchange, since June 2012.

Mr. Shieh, Jen-Chung, Roger

Mr. Shieh, aged 59, has been an independent non-executive
Director since January 2007. He is also a member of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Shieh started his career with
Ogilvy & Mather Advertising Taiwan since 1982. In 1999, he
became managing director of Enterprise IG, a consultancy
company and a subsidiary of one of the world’s largest
communications groups, WPP Group plc. In 2001, Mr. Shieh was
relocated to Shanghai to set up Enterprise IG China and further
develop its business and operations in the Greater China Region.
He retired from WPP Group plc in 2005. Mr. Shieh has over 20
years of experience in advertising, public relations, corporate
image and identity management. He is currently an independent
director of China Synthetic Rubber Corporation, a company listed

on the Taiwan Stock Exchange, since June 2012.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEAEREBEGE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Huang, Yi-Meng

President of TCC Yingde Cement Co., Ltd

Mr. Huang, aged 49, holds an Associate Degree in Electrical
Engineering from National Taipei Institute of Technology in
Taiwan, and joined T’'Cement in 1991. He has over 20 years of
experience in electrical and automation engineering businesses
in cement industry. Between 2002 and April 2008, he had
joined the Group as a leader of electrical sect in construction
department in TCC Yingde Cement Co., Ltd and TCC Fuzhou
Cement Co., Ltd. and was responsible for electrical and
automation related fields during plants construction phase. He
serviced in TCC (DongGuan) Cement Company Limited since
November 2009. Mr. Huang then joined TCC (Guigang) Cement
Ltd. as a leader of electrical department in September 2010 and
was appointed as President of the plant in July 2011. He was
then transferred to TCC Yingde Cement Co., Ltd as President in
May 2015.

Mr. Song, Chen-Chia

President of TCC (Guigang) Cement Ltd.

Mr. Song, aged 38, holds a Master Degree in Engineering
Management from University of Technology, Sydney in Australia,
and joined T’Cement in 2006. He has more than 10 years of
experience in project management in cement industry. Between
2011 and July 2014, he had joined the Group as a leader
of equipment operation sect in TCC (Guigang) Cement Ltd.,
and was responsible for supervising equipment operation and
maintenance. He then rejoined the Group as President in May
2015.

Mr. Wu, Hai-Hua

President of Jurong TCC Cement Co., Ltd.

Mr. Wu, aged 41, holds a Bachelor Degree in Silicate Engineering
from Southwest University of Science and Technology. He has
more than 18 years of experience in production and engineering
construction management of cement industry. He joined the
Group in October 2010.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Peng, Chih-Hang

President of TCC Fuzhou Cement Co., Ltd.

Mr. Peng, aged 42, graduated from the Mechanical Engineering
Department of National Taipei University of Technology in Taiwan,
and joined T'Cement in 2006. He has more than 10 years of
experience in cement-related engineering. He joined the Group in
October 2009.

Mr. Zou Pengdfei

Vice President of Anhui King Bridge Cement Ltd.

Mr. Zou, aged 54, graduated from Anhui Open University,
and received training programs in University of Science and
Technology of China, Beijing Building Materials Industry School
(M 8rR) ,
SH AR ) and Central School of China Youth League. He started

Sichuan Jiangyou Vocational School (8JI1;T

his career with a large-scale cement group since 1984, worked in
various cement companies in the PRC as principal, responsible
for overseas expansion projects and was the person-in-charge
for overseas project expansion. Mr. Zou has more than 32 years
of relevant working experience in cement manufacturing. He

joined the Group in September 2015.

Mr. Wu, Chih-Feng

President of TCC Liuzhou Construction Materials Company
Limited

Mr. Wu, aged 58, graduated in Marine Engineering from National
Taiwan Ocean University. Mr. Wu has joined T'Cement since
1988. He has acquired practical experience through holding
various posts responsible for plant construction planning,
product dispatching management, storage and transportation
management, standardized plant operation and advanced plant

management. He joined the Group in October 2007.

Mr. Lin, Po-Chun

President of TCC (DongGuan) Cement Company Limited

Mr. Lin, aged 40, holds a Bachelor Degree in Business
Administration from Dayeh University. He joined the Group in
September 2009.
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Zisiﬁﬁmﬂﬂqiﬁﬁﬂﬁ

Mr. Hu Zhiquan

Executive Vice President of Yingde Dragon Mountain Cement
Co, Ltd

Mr. Hu, aged 583, graduated from Anhui Finance and Trade
College (2B & 2Bt ) .
scale cement group since 1982, had many years of materials

He started his career with a large-

supply and logistics management expertise, and worked in a
large-scale cement group as director of supply department and
was executive vice president in various cement companies in
the PRC. Mr. Hu has extensive experience in the operation and
management of the cement industry. He joined the Group in
October 2015.

Mr. Chiang, Cheng-Tao

President of TCC Liaoning Cement Company Limited

Mr. Chiang, aged 49, holds an Associate Degree in Chemical
Engineering from National Taipei Institute of Technology in
Taiwan, and joined T’Cement in 1989. He has more than 26 years
of experience in cement production management. He joined the
Group in August 2008.

Mr. Yao Chengfu

President of TCC New (Hangzhou) Management Company
Limited

Mr. Yao, aged 47, graduated from Xiangtan Mining Institute
in Hunan province specialised in Mining Engineering. Mr.
Yao had held senior management positions in large-scale
cement companies in the PRC and has more than 20 years of
experience in corporate operation management, human resource
management, plants operational control and planning and

construction of cement plants. He joined the Group in April 2008.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Wang Zhaowen

Executive Vice President of TCC Chongqging Cement
Company Limited

Mr. Wang, aged 36, graduated from Xi’an University of Science
and Technology specialised in Mining Engineering. Mr. Wang
has more than 10 years of experience in cement and mine
exploitation, engineering construction, equipment operation
management and external public relations co-ordination. He

joined the Group in September 2007.

Mr. Yang Zhonghong

President of TCC Huaihua Cement Company Limited and
TCC Jingzhou Cement Company Limited

Mr. Yang, aged 45, graduated from Huaibei Coal Industry
Teachers College specialised in Foreign Language, and holds an
university diploma qualification. Mr. Yang had held management
positions in large-scale cement groups in the PRC and has
more than ten years of experience in cement manufacturing and

production operation. He joined the Group in September 2013.

Mr. Yang Tao

Executive Vice President of TCC Guangan Cement Company
Limited

Mr. Yang, aged 34, graduated from Luoyang Industrial College,
specialized in Cement Silicate Technology. He has more than
10 years of working experience in cement manufacturing,
technology management and quality control. He joined the Group
in November 2007.
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Mr. Wang Shiming

Executive Vice President of Guizhou Kong On Cement
Company Limited

Mr. Wang, aged 35, graduated from HuaiNan Union University,
specialized in Accounting. Mr. Wang had held management
positions in large-scale cement companies in the PRC, and has
more than 10 years of working experience in cost calculations of
cement manufacturing and cement plant operation. He joined the
Group in March 2012.

Mr. Xie Yubing

President of TCC Anshun Cement Company Limited

Mr. Xie, aged 49, graduated from Anhui Building Materials
Industrial School specialised in Cement Technology. Mr. Xie had
held technical management positions in large-scale cement
companies in the PRC and has more than 10 years of experience
in cement manufacturing, production operation and engineering

construction. He joined the Group in September 2012.

Mr. Qiao Shengtao

President of Guizhou Kaili Rui An Jian Cai Co., Ltd.

Mr. Qiao, aged 36, graduated from Luoyang Industrial College
specialised in Cement Silicate Technology. He has more than 10
years of working experience in cement manufacturing, technology
management and quality control. He joined the Group in October
2007.

Mr. Dong Guoying

President of Scitus Naxi Cement Co., Ltd. and Executive Vice
President of Scitus Luzhou Cement Co., Ltd.

Mr. Dong, aged 35, graduated from Anhui University of
Architecture, specialized in Inorganic Non-metal Study. Mr. Dong
had worked in large-scale cement companies in the PRC, and
has more than 10 years of experience in cement manufacturing

and quality control. He joined the Group in December 2010.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Wang Daoping

Executive Vice President of TCC Huaying Cement Company
Limited

Mr. Wang, aged 383, graduated from Anhui University of
Science & Technology, specialized in Ammunition Engineering,
and has more than 10 years of working experience in mine
exploitation, engineering construction, cement manufacturing and

management. He joined the Group in August 2009.

OTHERS

Ms. Chan Wai Ling, FCIS, FCS (PE)

Company Secretary

Ms. Chan is the company secretary of the Company. She is a
director of Corporate Services of Tricor Services Limited and a
fellow member of both The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries (HKICS) and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators (ICSA) in the United Kingdom. She has more
than 20 years of experience in the corporate secretarial field. Ms.
Chan is currently the joint company secretary of IMAX CHINA
HOLDING INC. (HKSE Stock Code: 1970) and SITC International
Holdings Company Limited (HKSE Stock Code: 1308) as well
as the company secretary of China Polymetallic Mining Limited
(HKSE Stock Code: 2133), Sun Art Retail Group Limited (HKSE
Stock Code: 6808) and China Maple Leaf Educational Systems
Limited (HKSE Stock Code: 1317).
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Corporate Governance Report
tEERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company recognises the value and importance of
achieving good corporate governance standards to enhance
corporate performance, sound internal control, transparency
and accountability to its Shareholders. The Board and the
management of the Company are committed to adhere to the
principles of corporate governance and adopt good corporate
governance practices and procedures to meet the legal and
commercial standards by focusing on areas such as internal

control, fair disclosure and accountability to all Shareholders.

The Board is of the view that the Company has fully complied
with all the code provisions set out in the CG Code throughout
the year ended 31 December 2016, except for the following
deviations:

Code provision A.4.1

Code provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
The non-executive Directors are not appointed for a specific team
but they are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with
the provision to the Company’s Articles of Association, and their

appointment will be reviewed when they are due for re-election.

Code provision D.1.4

Pursuant to the Code Provision D.1.4, the Company should
have formal letters of appointment for directors setting out the
key terms and conditions of their appointment. The Company
did not have formal letter of appointment for all the existing
Directors. However, they are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company
in accordance with the provision to the Company’s Articles of
Association. In addition, the Directors are required to refer to the
guidelines set out in “A Guide on Directors’ Duties” issued by the
Companies Registry and “Guidelines for Directors” and “Guide
for Independent Non-executive Directors” (if applicable) published
by the Hong Kong Institute of Directors in performing their duties
and responsibilities as Directors. Besides, the Directors are
required to comply with the requirements under applicable laws,
the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and the

Company’s business and governance policies.
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Corporate Governance Report

Code provision F.1.2

Code provision F.1.2 stipulates that the appointment of the
company secretary should be dealt with by a physical board
meeting rather than a written resolution. The appointment of
the current company secretary of the Company was dealt
with by way of passing a written resolution duly signed by all
the Directors in December 2016. Prior to such appointment,
all Directors were consulted with no dissenting opinion on
the proposed matter. It was considered that a physical Board

meeting is not necessary for approving the said appointment.

CODES OF CONDUCT ON DIRECTORS’
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for securities
transactions and dealings (the “Code of Conduct”) based on the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules. The terms of the Code of Conduct are no less exacting
than the standards in the Model Code, and the Code of Conduct
applies to all the relevant persons as defined in the Model Code,
including the Directors, any employee of the Company, or a
director or employee of a subsidiary or holding company of the
Company who, because of such office or employment, are likely
to be in possession of unpublished price sensitive information in
relation to the Company or its securities. Having made specific
enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they had complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code and the Code of
Conduct throughout the year 2016 and up to the date of this

annual report.
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Corporate Governance Report
tEERRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of
the Company and oversees the Group’s business, strategic
decisions and performances and is responsible for promoting
the success of the Company by directing and supervising its
affairs. In practice, the Board takes responsibilities for decision
making in all major matters of the Company include approving
and monitoring of all policy matters, setting of objectives,
annual budgets and overall strategies, material transaction,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters. The Board delegates its authority and
responsibilities to the senior management for the day-to-
day management, administration and operation of the Group.
These responsibilities include the implementation of decisions
of the Board, the co-ordination and direction of day-to-day
operation and management of the Company in accordance
with the management strategies and plans approved by the
Board. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions entered into by these senior executives
and the Board has the full support of them to discharge its

responsibilities.

Corporate Governance Functions

No corporate governance committee has been established and
the Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions such as developing and reviewing the Company’s
policies, practices on corporate governance and continuous
training and development of directors and senior management

etc.
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Corporate Governance Report

Board Composition

As at 31 December 2016 and up to the date of this annual
report, the Board comprised two executive and seven non-
executive Directors of whom three are independent as defined
by the Stock Exchange. To enhance independence and
accountability, the role and responsibility of the Group Chairman
and the Group Managing Director is separated. The Directors,
including the independent non-executive Directors, have brought
a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
delivery of the Board functions. All Directors have given sufficient
time and attention to the Company’s affairs. The Board believes
that the ratio of executive Directors to non-executive Directors is
reasonable and adequate to provide checks and balances that
safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and the Company
as a whole. The profiles of each Director are set out in the
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”

section in this annual report.

Throughout the year and up to the date of this annual report,
the Company had three independent non-executive Directors
representing not less than one-third of the Board. One of the
three independent non-executive Directors has the appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules.
The Board has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence and
considers that all the independent non-executive Directors are
independent under the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the

Listing Rules.

The family relationships among the Board members, if any, have
been disclosed under “Biographical Details of Directors and

Senior Management” section in this annual report.

Through the insurance plan of the Company’s parent company,
T'Cement, the Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and
Officers’ Liability Insurance for the directors and officers of the
Company for indemnifying their liabilities arising from corporate

activities.
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Appointments, re-election and removal

According to the Articles of the Company, the Board has the
power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as
a Director either to fill a causal vacancy or as an addition to the
Board. The nomination should be taken into consideration of the
nominee’s qualification, ability and potential contributions to the
Company.

In accordance with the Articles, all Directors appointed to fill a
causal vacancy should be subject to election by Shareholders at
the first general meeting after their appointment. At every annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or,
if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third shall retire from office by
rotation.

The non-executive Directors are not appointed for a specific term
but they are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with
the provision to the Company's Articles of Association, and their
appointment will be reviewed when they are due for re-election.

Board Meetings

The Board meets in person or through other electronic means
of communication at least four times every year. The Board
is responsible for overseeing the Group’s businesses and
development, formulating long term strategies and policies.
The Board also monitors and controls operating and financial
performance in pursuit of the Group’s strategic objectives. At
least 14 days’ notice of regular Board meeting are given to
all Directors, who are all given an opportunity to attend and
include matters in the agenda for discussion. Apart from regular
meetings, senior management from time to time provides
Directors information on activities and development of the
businesses of the Group. The company secretary takes detailed
minutes of the meetings and keeps records of matters discussed
and decision resolved at the meetings. Individual attendance
records of each Directors at the respective Board and committee
meetings are set out in the table on page 52 of this annual report.
All Directors and Board committees have recourse to external
legal counsel and other professionals for independent advice at
the Group’s expense if they require it. The Board has delegated
the day-to-day management and operation of the Group’s
businesses to management.
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Directors’ Continuous Training and Development Programme
Pursuant to the CG Code, all Directors should participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. Directors are
continually updated on developments in the statutory and
regulatory regime and the business environment to facilitate the
discharge of their responsibilities. The Company has provided
timely regulatory and technical updates to all Directors, including
those in relation to the Group’s business and latest developments
of the Listing Rules and regulatory environment. All Directors

have confirmed that such updates were reviewed by them.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy effective on 1
September 2013. The Company seeks to achieve board diversity
through the consideration of a number of factors, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
Selection of candidates will be based on merit and contribution
which the selected candidates will bring to the Board with the

consideration of the above diversity attributes.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises nine
directors of which two are women. The Board is characterised
by significant diversity, whether considered in terms of gender,

nationality, professional experience, skills and knowledge.

Pursuant to the requirements of the CG Code, three Board
committees, namely, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee, were established to

oversee particular aspects of the Group’s affairs.
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Directors’ Attendance Record at Meetings

Details of the attendance of individual Directors at the meetings
of the Board and Board Committees, and the Annual General

Meeting during the year are set out in the table below:

ESHFEERTE

BEERNFAREFTERESZERER LK
RAFAGZHFEXRHFBHRN TR

Meetings Attended/Held
HE/ 2788
Annual
Audit Remuneration  Nomination General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
- ERERE HFMZERE REZEE RRBFAE
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Chang, An-Ping, Nelson! R F AN 2/4 NATER  NATER  NATER 01
Mr. Wu Yih Chin® REHELAED 2/2 N/A i A 2/2 2/2 1/1
Mr. Koo, Cheng-Yun, Leslie® ER LTS 4/4 N/A T8 F 2/2 2/2 11
Mr. Hung, Jin-Yang® AR F Y 2/2 NATER  NATER  NADER  NATER
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Dr. Shan Weijian HEEET 1/4 NATER  NATER  NATER 01
Mr. Chang, Kang-Lung, Jason KRl %k & 4/4 NATER  NATER  NATER 0/1
Ms. Wang, Lishin, Elizabeth FTubaL 3/4 2/2 N/A T iEF N/A i 0/1
Independent non-executive Directors BYE#HTES
Dr. Liao Poon Huai, Donald BAREL 4/4 2/2 2/2 2/2 11
Dr. Chih Ching Kang, Kenneth WEEEL 4/4 2/2 2/2 2/2 0/1
Mr. Shieh, Jen-Chung, Roger HEBEE 4/4 2/2 2/2 2/2 1/1
Notes: Bt it -

0

Mr. Chang, An-Ping, Nelson was appointed as the chairman of
the Nomination Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee on 23 January 2017. He was subsequently re-

designated as an executive Director on 27 March 2017.

Mr. Wu Yih Chin resigned as an executive Director and ceased to
be a member of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee on 25 May 2016.

Mr. Koo, Cheng-Yun, Leslie passed away on 23 January 2017.

Mr. Hung, Jin-Yang was appointed as an executive Director, a
member of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee on 25 May 2016, and resigned from such positions on
27 March 2017.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs and
to assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Board has
established three Board Committees, namely Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee.
Independent non-executive Directors play an important role in
these committees to ensure independent and objective views are

expressed and to promote critical review and control.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee was established in 1999 and currently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors and a non-

executive Director:

Dr. Liao Poon Huai, Donald
Dr. Chih Ching Kang, Kenneth
Mr. Shieh, Jen-Chung, Roger
Ms. Wang, Lishin, Elizabeth

(Chairman of the Committee)

All committee members possess diversified industry experiences
and appropriate professional qualifications as required under the

Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year, with the
attendance rate of 100%. Their major duties and responsibilities
are set out in the terms of reference and the work conducted by

the Audit Committee included the following matters:

1.  Reviewed and approved the audit scope and fees proposed
by the external auditor in respect of the final audit for the
year of 2016;

2. Reviewed the Group’s 2015 annual and 2016 interim
reports, internal controls and corporate governance issues,
financial and accounting policies and practices and made

recommendations to the Board,;
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3. Recommended to the Board on the re-appointment of
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor and to develop
policy on the engagement of an external auditor to supply

non-audit services;

4. Discussed with the external auditor their independence and

the nature and scope of the audit; and

5. Discussed with the external auditor any material queries
raised by the auditor to management in respect of the
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control

and management’s response.

The Audit Committee reviewed the Group’s internal control
based on the information obtained from the external auditor and
Company’s management and was of the opinion that there are

adequate internal controls in place in the Group.

To comply with the requirement under the CG Code in respect
of the responsibilities for performing the corporate governance
duties, the Board has delegated its responsibilities to the
Audit Committee to develop and review the policies and
practices of the Company on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board; to review and monitor the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements; to develop, review and monitor the
code of conduct applicable to the Directors and employees;
to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management and to review
the Company’s compliance with the code provisions set out in
the CG Code contained in the Listing Rules and disclosures in

the corporate governance report.

New terms of Reference of the Audit Committee were adopted by
the Board on 27 March 2017.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2005 and
currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors
and two executive Directors:
Dr. Liao Poon Huai, Donald (Chairman of the Committee)
Mr. Chang, An-Ping, Nelson

Mr. Koo, Jason Kung Yi

Dr. Chih Ching Kang, Kenneth

Mr. Shieh, Jen-Chung, Roger

Its major terms of reference are summarised as follows:

1.  To formulate and recommend to the Board the policy for
the remuneration of the executive Directors and other senior

executives as designated by the Board;

2. To determine the individual remuneration package of each
executive Director including basic salary, annual bonus plans

and allocation of share options;

3. To consider and recommend to the Board any payment
or compensation commitment to be made to an executive

Director on termination of his contract;

4. In formulating its policy, the Committee shall give due regard
to the contents of the Listing Rules and shall also consider
market forces and compare between different remuneration
packages paid to directors of other companies of a similar
size in comparable industries. The executive Directors may
attend meetings of the Remuneration Committee when
invited to do so, but not when their own remuneration is

being discussed; and

5. To determine any performance related remuneration

schemes and executive share option schemes.
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The Remuneration Committee is authorized by the Board to seek
any information it requires from any employee of the Company in

order to perform its duties.

In connection with its duties, the Remuneration Committee is
required by the Board to select, set terms of reference for and
appoint remuneration consultants, at the Company’s expense
as the Remuneration Committee deems necessary in order to

perform its duties.

The Remuneration Committee sets the remuneration policy for
the executive Directors and senior management. Specifically,
the Remuneration Committee agrees their service contracts,
salaries, other benefits, including bonuses and other terms and
conditions of employment. It also agrees terms for their cessation

of employment.

Two meetings were held in 2016, with the attendance rate of
100%. No executive Director takes part in any discussion about
his own remuneration. During the year, remuneration of the
Directors has been discussed and no significant change has
been proposed to the remuneration policy and the directors’

remuneration.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established in 2012 and
currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors
and two executive Directors:
Mr. Chang, An-Ping, Nelson (Chairman of the Committee)
Mr. Koo, Jason Kung Yi

Dr. Liao Poon Huai, Donald

Dr. Chih Ching Kang, Kenneth

Mr. Shieh, Jen-Chung, Roger
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Its major terms of reference are summarised as follows:

1. To review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s

corporate strategy;

2. To identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for

directorships;

3. To assess the independence of independent non-executive

Directors; and

4. To make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors, in particular the Chairman and the managing

Director.

The Nomination Committee is authorized by the Board to seek
any information it requires from any employee of the Company in

order to perform its duties.

The Nomination Committee shall have the authority delegated
by the Board to engage independent professional advisors, at
the Company’s expense, to assist the Nomination Committee in

order to perform its duties.
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Member of Nomination Committee can call for a meeting anytime
when it is necessary by giving notice in writing to the Chairman
of the Nomination Committee of not less than seven days’ notice.
Two meetings were held in 2016, with the attendance rate of
100%. During the year, issues concerning the structure, size
and composition of the Board were discussed and no change
has been proposed to the structure, size and composition. The
Nomination Committee has also considered and recommended
to the Board the appointment of employees and changes in
compositions of the Board and Board Committees with effect
from 25 May 2016.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year, the fees charged to the accounts of the
Company and its subsidiaries for the non-statutory audit services
amounted to HK$918,000. The non-statutory audit services
consist of the professional service in relation to the rights issue,
tax compliance and the interim review. The cost of statutory audit
services provided by external auditor was HK$7,623,000. The
responsibilities of the external auditor with respect to financial
reporting are set out in the section of headed “Independent

Auditor’s Report” on pages 118 to 128 of this annual report.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

Pursuant to the code provision C.1.2 of the CG Code, it
stipulates that management should provide all members of the
Board with monthly updates giving balances and understandable
assessment of the Company’s performance, position and

prospects in sufficient details.
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During the year ended 31 December 2016, the management
of the Company has provided to all Directors (including non-
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors)
monthly reports which provided sufficient details in relation to the
Company’s performance, position and prospects. In addition, the
management has also provided all Directors, in a timely manner,
updates on any material changes to the performance, position
and prospects of the Company and sufficient information for

matters brought before the Board.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare the
Company’s accounts for the year ended 31 December 2016,
which give a true and fair view and are in accordance with
generally accepted accounting standards published by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Appropriate
accounting policies are selected and applied consistently;

judgments and estimates made are prudent and reasonable.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against

material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take
in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing
and maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and

internal control systems.

The Audit Committee, assists the Board in leading the
management and overseeing their design, implementation and

monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.
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All departments conducted internal control assessment regularly
to identify risks that potentially impact the business of the Group
and various aspects including key operational and financial

processes, regulatory compliance and information security.

The management, in coordination with department heads,
assessed the likelihood of risk occurrence, provided treatment
plans, monitored the risk management progress, and reported
to the Audit Committee and the Board on all findings and the

effectiveness of the systems.

The management has confirmed to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management and

internal control systems for the year ended 31 December 2016.

The Company entered into a service agreement with T'Cement
for the provision of services to the Group on an on-going
basis, including financial management (including budgeting,
monitoring financial performance and formulating treasury
policies) and internal audit. The Internal Audit Department
of T’Cement is responsible for providing the internal audit
function and performing independent review of the adequacy
and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems. The Internal Audit Department examined key issues in
relation to the accounting practices and all material controls and
provided its findings and recommendations for improvement to
the Audit Committee.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as the
management report and the internal audit findings, reviewed
the risk management and internal control systems, including
the financial, operational and compliance controls, for the year
ended 31 December 2016, and considered that such systems
are effective and adequate. The annual review also covered
the financial reporting and internal audit function and staff

qualifications, experiences and relevant resources.
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The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides
a general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers, senior
management and relevant employees in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to

enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that
unauthorized access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees and all other reimbursements and
emoluments paid or payable to the Directors during the year
are set out, on an individual and named basis, in Note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report on pages
196 and 197.

COMPANY SECRETARY

On 7 September 2016, Mr. Ho Kam Fung was appointed as the
company secretary of the Company in place of Ms. Leung Ka
Kay. On 1 January 2017, Ms. Chan Wai Ling of Tricor Services
Limited (an external service provider), was appointed as the
company secretary of the Company in place of Mr. Ho Kam Fung.
Her main contact person at the Company is Mr. Koo, Jason Kung
Yi, an executive Director. Ms. Leung and Mr. Ho have confirmed
that during the year ended 31 December 2016, they undertook

not less than 15 hours of relevant professional trainings.

The biographical details of Ms. Chan is set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior

Management” on page 45 of this annual report.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Pursuant to the Articles, any two or more Shareholders holding
at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meeting of the Company shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary of
the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition. The requisition must be lodged with the

Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board in writing to the Company at the Company’s office
in Hong Kong at 16th Floor, Hong Kong Diamond Exchange
Building, 8-10 Duddell Street, Central, Hong Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2016, there is no change in

the Company’s constitutional documents.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has established a wide range of communication
channels between itself and its shareholders, investors and other
stakeholders. These include the annual general meeting, the
annual and interim reports, notices, announcements and circulars

and the Company’s website at www.tcchk.com.
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Corporate Governance Report

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
Subsequent to the date of the 2016 interim report of the

Company and up to the date of this annual report, changes in

the information of Directors which are required to be disclosed

pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules are set out below:

On 22 January 2017:

(@)

Mr. Chang, An-Ping, Nelson was appointed as the acting

Chairman.

On 23 January 2017:

(b)

Mr. Koo, Cheng-Yun, Leslie, the Chairman and an executive
Director of the Company, the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee,

passed away on 23 January 2017.

Mr. Chang, An-Ping, Nelson was appointed as the Chairman,
the Chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of
the Remuneration Committee of the Company in place of Mr.

Leslie Koo, Cheng-Yun, Leslie.

On 27 March 2017:

(d)

Mr. Hung, Jin-Yang resigned from his position as the
managing Director and an executive Director, a member
of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, and the authorised representative of the

Company.

Mr. Koo, Jason Kung Yi was appointed as the managing
Director and an executive Director, a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee,
and the authorised representative of the Company in place of

Mr. Hung, Jin-Yang.

Ms. Wang, Chi-May was appointed as a non-executive

Director.

Mr. Chang, An-Ping, Nelson was re-designated as an

executive Director.
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RERHMEEERE

MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN

“Environmental protection is a responsibility but not a cost” has
always been the motto of the Group’s environmental protection
outlook. For environmental protection, we keep on exploring
with innovation. Faced with intensifying global competition,
the environmental and climatic issues brought by economic
development are becoming more serious. How to balance
between sustainable operation and a sustainable environment in
a responsible manner is the responsibility of every enterprise.

With the Group’s in-depth experience, and strict adherence to
the mentality of “Ensuring brand quality with unrelenting effort”,
besides producing high quality cement and being dedicated
in business development, the Group treasures environmental
resources with improving competitiveness, maximising resources
recycling, lowering unit energy consumption, and reducing
wastages as the core objectives during the production process.
For the counteracting strategies that are relevant to the impact
of climatic changes to the environment, apart from conducting
energy conservation measures and endeavoring to lower factory
greenhouse gas, the Group also continues to conduct resources
recycling to replace original materials to safeguard environmental

resources.

We believe “What is taken from society should be used in the
interests of society”. Besides facilitating operation management,
we actively promote resource investments and environmental
practices, establish “green industry” and implement sustainable
development and environmental protection with real actions,
devote to enterprise social responsibility wholeheartedly, and
enforce a reform policy of “Welcoming changes and learning
with passion”, adopt an ever-innovative attitude to create a win-
win platform for enterprise sustainability and shareholder interest

maximisation.

CHANG, An-Ping, Nelson
Chairman

Hong Kong
27 March 2017
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Environmental and Social Responsibility Report

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This is the third year for the Group to prepare the Environmental
and Social Responsibility Report in order to demonstrate our
continuous commitment to transparency and accountability to

our stakeholders.

SCOPE OF THE REPORT

This Environmental and Social Responsibility Report is prepared
according to the principles and provisions of the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide set out in Appendix 27
of the Listing Rules, with the plants of the Group in the PRC as
the targets. The scope covers 16 (2015: 16) subsidiaries of the
Company in total that are principally engaged in the manufacture
and distribution of cement and clinker but excludes associates
and joint ventures (collectively referred to as “TCC Cement

Companies”).

This report sets out the environmental and social strategies of
TCC Cement Companies and their implementation. Through
this report, shareholders, investors and the public will be given
a more comprehensive and thorough understanding regarding
the governance and culture of the Group, which is a channel to
review the performance of the Group in the environmental and

social responsibility aspects.

STAKEHOLDERS’ FEEDBACK
We welcome stakeholders’ feedback on our environmental and
social responsibility approach and performance. Please give your

suggestions or share your views with us via ir@tcchk.com.
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ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

A.

Environmental

1.

Emissions

TCC Cement Companies stringently comply with the
applicable prevention and control laws promulgated by
the State Government on wastage, waste gas, sewage

emission and noise pollution in the PRC, inter alia:—

—  Environmental Protection Law of the PRC

— Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of

Atmospheric Pollution

— Emission Standard of Air Pollutants for Cement

Industry

—  Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
PRC

— Law of the PRC on Prevention and Control of

Pollution From Environmental Noise

To maintain an environmentally friendly production
environment, for each of the years ended 31 December
2015 and 2016, the pollutants discharged by TCC
Cement Companies were monitored and inspected
regularly by a certified environmental supervisory
department. Most of TCC Cement Companies hold the
Pollutant Emission Permit ()52 %) BE 5T 7] & ) and
regularly engage independent certified environment
supervisory institutions to conduct emission monitoring
quarterly or annually. The inspection results have
complied with the requirements of the relevant national

standards.
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For dust pollution and waste gas emission, TCC
Cement Companies invested heavily in purchasing
advanced equipments at the time of plants
construction, so as to maintain the emission level to be

under national standards. The emission information of

RERHMEEERE

BRMEISREBERBEN 8K
AREPREB KR TEERER

R EHEREZEHERREEIN
T EE_FT-AFT_A=1+—H
LFE 8RR RAIFLE BER

waste gas emissions of TCC Cement Companies for WEZHFMEIENT
the year ended 31 December 2016 is as follows:
Average
emission intensity Emissions in total
FHHEREE BEERE

2016 —B-RE
Nitrogen oxide e &) 278 mg/m? 24,099 tonnesMi
Oxysulphide may 36 mg/m?® 3,826 tonneslif
Smoke dust 1% B2 14 mg/m? 1,816 tonnesli
2015 —T-HF
Nitrogen oxide RAREty 290 mg/m? 21,292 tonnesfid
Oxysulphide malyw 68 mg/m?® 3,394 tonnesMA
Smoke dust TEEE 22 mg/m? 2,744 tonnesMa

The emission information of greenhouse gases

emissions of TCC Cement Companies for the year

BE_T—ARF+_A=1t—HILF

EBRNKEAFMAREREBIHNE

ended 31 December 2016 is as follows: RBER BT ¢

2016 2015

—E—NEF —E—RE

Tonnes Tonnes

WA 1A

Carbon dioxide-directly —E bR B 36,267,451 32,404,828

Carbon dioxide-indirectly — & bhix— R 1,914,334 1,778,527
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TCC Cement Companies have successively established
new Selective Non-Catalytic Reduction technology
(SNCR) smoke and gas denitration engineering
systems, so that the nitrogen oxide emission
concentration can be reduced significantly. As at
31 December 2016, 13 (2015: 13) cement plants
had completed the installation of the denitration
engineering systems. The harmful and harmless wastes
were collected universally and recycled by qualified
entities. For the year ended 31 December 2016, the
penalty payable by TCC Cement Companies due to
environmental pollution was approximately HK$351,860
(2015: HK$383,000).

Use of Resources

TCC Cement Companies put great emphasis on energy
and water resources conservation. Each of the TCC
Cement Companies has formulated its system for
energy saving, rational utilisation of energy and energy
management to control the energy and resources used
in its production, operation and management activities,
thereby increasing utilisation rate and economic

efficiency of energy and resources to avoid pollution.

Most of the plants of TCC Cement Companies are
equipped with residual heat power generation to reduce
energy consumption. Furthermore, each company has
always adopted the recycling use of recycled water,
from which plenty of water resources were recycled
for use in production process and pre-agitating truck
cleaning. Over the years, huge amounts of capital have
been invested to gradually improve the water utilisation
plan and related equipments to reduce environment

pollution caused by water discharge.
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The consumption data of TCC Cement Companies

for the year ended 31 December 2016 is set out as

follows:

BE-_Z-A"F+-_A=1t—HLLHF

S é/E7k/)@,
™

Al REBEURH W

2016 2015
—ARE —T—hF
Unit Total volume Total volume
B wme wE
Total power consumption #iEE &
(including residual heat (EHEEBEE) kwh/1,000”
power generation) FFHTRE 3,885,972,569 3,759,162,000
Total water consumption BFEK=E m?
UK 23,582,606 18,274,000
Total paper bags for REKEHED piece
packaged cement EHE 1% 319,585,946 244,643,000
Environmental and Natural Resources RERXAER
Residual Heat Power Generation BEEE

Besides striving continuously to optimise cement
production processes to reduce product unit heat
consumption and power consumption to reduce
greenhouse gases emission per tonne, TCC Cement
Companies also take energy saving and environmental
protection into account. All clinker production lines
of TCC Cement Companies are NSP production lines
which are equipped with residual heat power generation
systems. They are able to recycle the heat in waste
gases discharged by pre-heaters and coolers during
the cement rotary kiln process and use the heat for
power generation. This will achieve the purpose of
energy saving and emission reduction, recover the
maximum heat volume and generate optimal benefits.
For the year ended 31 December 2016, residual heat
power generation units of TCC Cement Companies
generated a net power volume of approximately
1,546,964,900 kilowatts (2015: 1,296,032,147
kilowatts) in total, converting into carbon dioxide
reduction of approximately 986,809 tonnes (2015:
826,739 tonnes).

AR BIBRTE B R B KR
SENERESWERBEMER H
BERVREREBRIN BREHE
ELUIR{R - 8RR R AIM AR EE R
BRI FEERWAERREE
R LABIOK TR IE 28 4 B e TR 20 8%
;Aéw)%ﬁmémz!?%ﬁqﬂ Ry E A B
WA ST BER R e B B R FE 10 B IR
ZHERE BEGANNEG HEZ
—RNF+_A=+—HILFE &
AR R EERBELAELL
#1,546,964,900F B (ZZE— R F -
1,296,032,147 T ) K FEBE= 12
Z& bR E 4 £986,809MF ( —Z
— A4 :826,739M8) -

«l}:ﬂ{ JH||11
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Mine Management

TCC Cement Companies care deeply about water and
soil conservation and ecology conservation as ways
to reduce barren lands in mining regions, increase
water and soil conservation functionality, create a local
wildlife ecology and promote the overall aesthetics in
the mining area of plants. TCC Cement Companies
always conduct garden greening works, which have
contributed significantly to the enhancement of

environmental performance.

Waste Management

For many years, TCC Cement Companies have been
integrating and recycling renewable resources, including
desulphurization gypsum, flyash, coal cinder, slag and
blaster furnace slag. The cement kiln is not only the
method currently used to utilise resources for handle
operation wastage, but also the best and eventual
handling facility. TCC Cement Companies bring into
play their own “core competence in environmental
protection” for waste materials and garbage handling
and continue to contribute to environmental protection.
The handling volume of renewable resources by TCC
Cement Companies for the year ended 31 December

2016 is set out as follows:

Environmental and Social Responsibility Report
RERHEEERE

&L B2

AR RIE K TR FF R A REIR
EmAfEY) MBRERRREESE
BIVKERFFEE - EEARLHLH)
EMERLEEREERBER -R
HKRAR —BEESMERETHELES
EIfE HRBERZEFAAHEERXR
M B &

EE Y
ARKERRZFREAFANBEE
ERBENRGAT HHER KBS
BERBERZEZ -KEEZERE THEF
RAEEREEEREY ST OERE
RN ARNKERAINEEARY
HEBMHENREREARZ [BR
BZOREN ] BHERRRE—MHDOLN-
BE-_Z— A F+-A=+—HBLLHF
T ABRKERARZBEERNER
RE#7ImT:

2016 2015

—E—REF —E—RF

Tonnes Tonnes

7] Mg

Desulphurization gypsum RinaE 1,609,231 1,283,000
Flyash 9 B I 686,977 651,000
Coal cinder s 1,060,985 1,042,000
Slag iy 333,313 346,000
Blaster furnace slag 1B K & 41,700 285,000
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Actively Coordinating with Carbon Emissions Trading

The qguota management in carbon emissions is an

important government measure to promote low-

carbon development. In order to coordinate with the

local governments to reduce carbon emissions and

control atmospheric pollution, TCC Cement Companies

vigorously coordinate with and actively participate in

carbon emissions trading. The emission volume and the

amount of carbon emissions trading for the year ended

31 December 2016 are set out as follows:

RERHMEEERE

E1E AL A TR IER 5

HIIRBENETREBEEERRFHERE
MBERNBEZRE - RBEE T BT
PRI BERE EHIARISR 8k
IR B N BL A AR 2 B HE B
BRXGIE-BE_T—RF+_A
Zt-BLEFE ERRENERS
RELREBEINMT

Unit 2016 2015
By —E-REF —E—RF
Emission volume of RBERER 5
carbon emissions HEHER= tonnes
rights sold g 180,000 58,000
Amount of carbon T EEIER 5 HK$'000
emissions rights sold HES FET 2,624.4 1,071
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I=

ERAEEERE

Urban Waste Treatment Project

In 2014, one of the Anshun plants of TCC Cement
Companies in Guizhou Province signed a project
with the local government to invest in and construct
a household garbage incineration handling line that
is synergistic with the cement kiln, with a household
garbage handling capacity of 200 tonnes per day,
which commenced operation in 2015. From 1 January
2016 to 31 December 2016, the plant assisted the
local government to handle household garbage of
approximately over 34,400 tonnes in total, with an
average monthly handling capacity of approximately
over 2,869 tonnes. The plant in Shaoguan, Guangdong
Province is constructing a household garbage
incineration handling line that is synergistic with the
cement kiln, with a garbage handling capacity of 200
tonnes per day, which is expected to commence
formal operation in 2018. Compared with traditional
incineration methods, co-disposal in cement kilns
leverages on high temperature of cement rotary kiln to
absorb and handle toxic gases such as dioxin gas and
penetrant fluid that are generated from the gasification
of garbage incineration, and uses combustible matter
in household garbage as alternative materials for
cement production, which has accordingly improved
the “reductive, bio-safe and recyclable” treatment
of household garbage. Through this, the operation
philosophy of “Environmental protection being
responsibility but not a cost” is manifested and the
impact on environment reduced by virtue of adopting
the “recycling economy” structure, which will not
bring secondary pollution to the environment. TCC
Cement Companies will continue to cooperate with
local governments and seek to provide urban waste

treatment services in the plants of other subsidiaries.
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TCC Anshun Plant is the first project of co-
disposal of household garbage established by TCC
Cement Companies in Mainland China, followed by
TCC Shaoguan Plant which is about to complete
construction and commence operation. The aforesaid
projects show that TCC Cement Companies actively
employ a green environmental value chain strategy,
and are devoted to fulfilling social responsibilities and
protecting the environment wholeheartedly in achieving

the objective of sustainable operation.

Environmental Certification

From 2013, three of the Yingde, Guigang and Jurong
plants of TCC Cement Companies commenced
product certification operation one after another and
were awarded the “China Environmental Labelled
Product” and the product certification in relation to
compliance with the low-carbon requirements under
China Environmental Label in 2014. From 2014
onwards, the plants of TCC Cement Companies in
Liaoning, Guangan, Anshun, Kong On and Chongging
also obtained the relevant product certifications
successively. The obtaining of relevant certificates
shows that not only the quality of the related products
from the plants are in line with national requirements,
they are also in line with the environmental protection
requirements in terms of the relevant procedures in
production, utilisation and disposal, and possess
the merits energy saving and emission reduction.
Leveraging on clean production processes, they
achieved the dual target of environmental protection

and economic development.
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RERHEER

fEsk &

China Environmental Labeling Product Certification
(complying with environmental and low-carbon requirements)
TEREEZERAE (FERARERER)

Plant Certificate No. Complying Models Date of Issue Expiry Date Remarks
1 Bl HERT BB REAH BRBR it
Yingde CEC08775368815-3 PIl42.5R PO42.5 - PO42.5R 2014.01.20 2017.01.19  Under certification
®E renewal
BEEES
Guigang CEC08777174969-3 PII52.5R * PO42.5  PO42.5R 2014.01.20 2017.01.19 Passed the
B certification renewal
review
ERBEEENR
Jurong CEC 08791320000608930716F PII52.5R * PII52.5 2017.02.09 2020.02.08
A%
Liaoning CEC08766729432-6 PI152.5 + PO42.5 2014.11.02 2017.11.01
EE
Guangan CEC08769228896-4 PO42.5R 2014.11.20 2017.11.19
EZ
Anshun CEC08767540336-9 PO42.5 2014.11.30 2017.11.29
g
Kong On CEC08768841788-2 P042.5 2014.11.24 2017.11.23
BR
Chongaing CEC 08 67610563-8 P042.5R 2014.09.26 2017.09.25
-
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As at 31 December 2016, 13 cement plants (2015:11)
of TCC Cement Companies had obtained the
Environmental Management System Certification
and the certificate for occupational health and safety
management, showing that the production operating
management of these plants have fulfilled the
requirements of the environmental management system
and occupational health and safety management

system respectively.

As at 31 December 2016, TCC Cement Companies
gradually carried out the establishment of Cement
Base National Safety Production Standardisation Class
Il Standard Enterprise, of which 8 (2015: 7) cement
plants have passed the National Safety Production
Standardisation Class Il Enterprise evaluation. The
total number of cement plants that have passed the
Class Il Safety Standard evaluation was 50% (2015:
44%) of the total number of cement plants under
the TCC Cement Companies. The remaining cement
plants are also actively facilitating the rectification
and establishment of Class Il Safety Production

Standardisation.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, 16 (2015: 13)
companies among the TCC Cement Companies would
conduct regular customer satisfaction research every
year, the results of which will be used as the bases for
enhancement and supervision, in order to understand
current market trends and customer needs in depth,
and to adjust various transaction conditions depending
market conditions to shorten the discrepancy between
the targeted level of customer attention and the current
level customer satisfaction, and achieve mutual and
complementary support between customers and the
company to enhance the overall profitability of the

company.
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IRIE R+

B. Social
A

EEE®RE

Employment and Labour Practices

1.

Employment

TCC Cement Companies provide market
competitive salaries and favorable performance
bonuses, which are distributed according to the
equitable and incentive based performance bonus
measures by linking up the overall operational
profitability of the Company with individual staff
performance, thereby rewarding staff who have

excellent performances.

TCC Cement Companies prepared and
implemented staff management measures, which
set out the human resources policies covering
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, diversity,
other benefits and welfares. Basically, every rule
set out in the management measures is prepared
according to the relevant laws and regulations,
including but not limited to “Labour Law” and
“Labour Contract Law” in the PRC. During the
year, TCC Cement Companies have stringently
complied with the aforesaid standards, rules and

regulations.
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RIERHEEERE

The total employees breakdown of TCC Cement

Companies by employment category, age group,

RZE—RF+—_A=+—H"
BRARARIZERBER - T

region and gender as at 31 December 2016 are Anl- e MRS S EEE A
set out as follows: HHINWT :
By age group
RERAR
16-20 21-30 31-40 41-50 51-59 Over 60
yearsold  yearsold  yearsold yearsold  yearsold  yearsold Total
Employment category ~ {EEXE5I 16-20% 21-30% 31-40% 41-507 51-59%  60EMN L CH
2016 —E-RE
Long-term =4 102 2,490 3,180 2,867 337 3 8,979
Short-term Sk 6 51 33 31 9 - 130
108 2,541 3,213 2,898 346 3 9,109
2015 2%
Long-term =4 210 2,963 3,211 2,549 276 1 9,210
Short-term aH 10 56 20 1 - - 87
220 3,019 3,231 2,550 276 1 9,297
By staff hometown region
REIZAHE
Guangdong Guangxi Sichuan Guizhou Jiangsu Liaoning Fujian
Province Province Province Province Province Province Province Others Total
Employment category ERER ERE EAE m)i4 LUk T&E REd FEd it &t
2016 ZB-XE
Long-term 8 1,641 1,280 1,273 1,540 22 465 547 2,211 8,979
Short-term it 1 1 13 1 64 2 - 48 130
1,642 1,281 1,286 1,641 86 467 547 2,259 9,109
2015 i
Long-term &4 2,169 1,110 1,459 1,036 565 401 109 2,361 9,210
Short-term it - - - - - 76 - i 87
2,169 1,110 1,459 1,036 565 47 109 2,312 9,297
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By gender
12 1
Male Female Total
Employment category 1& %38 5l L] z a5t
2016 —E-KEF
Long-term KE 6,925 2,054 8,979
Short-term 52 B 100 30 130
7,025 2,084 9,109
2015 —T-0F
Long-term & 7,120 2,090 9,210
Short-term 52 B 61 26 87
7,181 2,116 9,297
The staff turnover rate of TCC Cement Companies HE_Z—XRF+ZH=1T—
by age group, region and gender for the year BIEFE &8RKERQGIEF R
ended 31 December 2016 are as follows: AR lE MR B DR B IRK
K
By age group
RERAR
16-20 21-30 31-40 41-50 51-59 Over 60
years old yearsold  yearsold yearsold  yearsold  years old Total
Category EHl 16-205% 21-30%; 31-40% 41-508% 51-50%  60mMLE &t
2016 ZE-RE
Staff turnover EBAZ 70 875 564 282 35 9 1,835
Staff turnover percentage BB & 0.9% 10.9% 7.0% 3.5% 0.4% 0.1% 22.8%
2015 ZZ-nf
Staff turnover EBAH 114 1,208 643 350 37 il 2,358
Staff turnover percentage  BE & 1.2% 12.9% 6.9% 3.8% 0.4% 0.1% 25.3%
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RIERHEEERE

By staff hometown region

REIZAHEHS
Guangdong Guangxi Sichuan Guizhou Jiangsu Liaoning Fujian

Province Province Province Province Province Province Province Others Total
Category E5l ERE EAE m)ig ENg &Y REd REd £t &t
216 E-RE
Staff turnover BBAY 408 2 349 34 48 51 73 542 1,83
Staff tumover percentage Bz 5.1% 0.3% 4.3% 4.2% 0.6% 0.6% 0.9% 6.7% 22.8%
2015 “5-RfF
Staff turnover BRAH 4an 230 450 332 66 67 3 Il 2,358
Staff tunover percentage BhE 5.1% 2.5% 4.8% 36% 0.7% 0.7% 0.3% 7.6% 25.3%

By gender
&1 5
Male Female Total

Category L] L z &t
2016 —B-RF
Staff turnover B A 1,450 385 1,835
Staff turnover percentage BBk X 18.0% 4.8% 22.8%
2015 —E-0F
Staff turnover BB A 20 1,893 465 2,358
Staff turnover percentage  BEEE & 20.3% 5.0% 25.3%
Health and Safety BEEETS

TCC Cement Companies put great emphasis
on staff health and safety. Therefore, each
company has established its own rules on
safety production operation. In order to enhance
staff’'s daily safety awareness and prevent the
occurrence of serious occupational hazards, TCC
Cement Companies have implemented hazard
identification and risk assessment measures,
encouraged self-management to eliminate
potential risks and prevent occupational hazards,
implemented stringent standards emphasizing on
the importance of industry safety in plants and
advocated management measures in handling
industrial safety issues. Such measures are aimed
to eradicate the occurrence of industrial safety
incidents. If such incident occurs, the reporting
system should be switched on immediately
and such incident be reported to the relevant
department and the general manager. All new
members are required to participate in new staff

safety training.
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Environmental safety and hygiene policies of TCC

Cement Companies:

(1)

To continue green gardening and conservation
of water and soil in mining areas for natural
landscape preservation in the mining area of

plants.

To comply with the relevant requirements of
environmental protection laws and regulations
and continue to prevent, control and improve
the pollution situation for the enhancement of

environmental performance.

To practise waste reduction and resource

recycling diligently.

To promote fraternity with neighbors and
promote communication with neighboring

residents.

To comply with laws, regulations and other
requirements on safety and hygiene to prevent

staff injury and sickness.

To implement hazard identification and risk
assessment measures, and practice self-
management to eliminate potential risks and

prevent occupational hazards.

To establish and maintain a safe and healthy
work environment and continuously improve
it in order to enhance the safety and hygiene

performance.

TCC International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2016

A

ARKRAR ZRLEBE

FEETTHEA R R K
TR A EEERB R
B8

BEREEEZEERE
WiFETER 6 EHkE)5

FER ARARRER

NATIRRE K B R B A A

ETREFEERNEME
KEIH -BHABBEAR

o

3 K

B iefe E R KR kAT
WHITEEEIEAHE ﬁ‘}%E
e BHBRELFH

BYRgRLZERERENT
EIRIR WIHEWE IR

AREEEEM



Environmental and Social Responsibility Report

As at 31 December 2016, TCC Cement
Companies gradually carried out the establishment
of Cement Base National Safety Production
Standardisation Class Il Standard Enterprise, of
which 7 (2015: 6) cement plants have passed
the National Safety Production Standardisation
Class Il Enterprise evaluation. The total number of
cement plants that have passed the Class Il Safety
Standard evaluation is over 43% (2015: 46%)
of the total number of cement plants under the
TCC Cement Companies. The remaining cement
plants are also actively facilitating the rectification
and establishment of Class Il Safety Production

Standardisation.

The information in relation to staff injury or fatality
(including numbers and percentages) due to work,
as well as safety training in terms of person-time,
of TCC Cement Companies for the year ended 31

December 2016 are set out as follows:

RERHMEEERE

BYRKERA B EERRKEEM
BRZ2EEREL ZRERD
HRARETIE R-_T—AE+=
A=+—B B2B7TM(=ZZE—1"
FeM)KEMBBRTEHREZE
FEREC_ROETE- BB
ARTEAERKEREESS
RERKERRBKEREE
ZAELLEBB4A3% (T —HF:
46%) - H#AF KRt (ETE1E
BE#E R EEZERBR
p=f=

BE-_ZT—AFE+=-A=+—8
LFEE - AaRKERARIEIAT
EREMZ BRI THAS
ERS2ERREIANREERE
BT

Unit 2016 2015
4, —E-RE —E—AF
Number of employees’ BT THBERRE No. of
occupational injury incidents
incidents KE 56 65
Number of occupationally ETTEAY No. of
injured employees persons
A& 57 65
Percentage of occupationally 8T T A# = %
injured employees 0.63% 0.70%
Number of working days BETIRTIBEAIEAE Days
lost due to employees’ A%
occupational injury 4,188 5,139
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Unit 2016 2015
B/ —E-RE —T-RF
Compensation amount BETHRTIGHESSE HK$ 000
in relation to employees’ FHET
occupational injury 538 686
Number of employees’ fatal 8 TH T {ER{ELT- S X No. of
incidents due to work IRE incidents
RE 0 1
Number of deceased ETRIERARIT AR No. of
employees due to work persons
A 0 1
Percentage of deceased ETHEITERMERT AR %
employees due to work bt & 0.00% 0.01%
Compensation amount ETHATIRTHEESE HK$'000
in relation to employees’ FET
occupational fatality 0 1,012
Number of times of safety T2 BRI No. of
emergency drilling incidents
KE 118 66
Participation in safety LELPRERZERANR Person-
emergency drilling in terms time
of person-time AX 2,750 3,073
Participation in safety training £ 8% 253 AKX Person-
in terms of person-time time
AKX 6,198 10,741
Development and Training EERIE

TCC Cement Companies always attach great
importance to staff training and talent development.
Through a series of results-oriented professional
trainings and tailor-made cement specialist career
development plans for individual employees,
our enterprise is able to maintain its continuous
competitive professionalism in the cement industry.
TCC Cement Companies actively cultivate cement
specialists to meet future development needs,
and regularly organize various managerial and
professional training courses for staff, or cooperate
with other training institutions and schools for

commissioned training.
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The trainings offered to TCC Cement Companies BRARA R M E TiREr I
staff include: BIE:
— introductory and safety training for new — FEITABRZZIHFI

employees;

technical training for on-the-job employees

and transferees;

professional job skills improvement training;

external professional training in relation to

laws and regulations, professional knowledge,

managerial knowledge as well as professional

— FBERBUKEREI:

— RESNRSIVERERRE
BEXANZ BEAMES
Z w7 #) B FEIF A R BT

MBI EE R

training and academic research classes for

key positions; and

— regular safety training. — TEHMEZRIEI-

Average training hours completed per employee HE_Z—XR"FTH=1T—
and percentage of employees trained (by employee IEFE  aRKERABIZEESE
category and gender) in TCC Cement Companies BIRERB ST RREETKR
for the year ended 31 December 2016 are set out I EERELEZIEEB DL
as follows: #HomT
By employee category
RESER
Electrical Machinery Ancillary Other
Management technician technician Marketing administration ~ departments Total
EREH BRI

Category g5l EEE AE AB ES N -| ®BTH Hit 3P &3t
2016 ZE-RE
Number of employees at end of period H&[EE AH 357 850 1070 695 899 5,238 9,109
Average training hours completed TRE AT RS 8.44 15 13 5 25 25 21
Percentage of employees trained RHEEEA L 70% 78% 78% 95% 74% 83% 81%
Charges for education HEIIRER (TAT)

training (HK$'000) 32
2015 “Z-3%
Number of employees at end of period HK[EE A% 449 1,862 2,843 243 1,290 2,610 9,297
Average training hours completed TRE AT RS 2 4 48 18 20 42 40
Percentage of employees trained RHEEEA L 76% 78% 79% 93% 54% 83% 7%
Charges for education HEIIRER (TAT)

training (HK$'000) 607
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By gender
&Rl
Male Female Total

Category Bl 5 z &%
2016 —E-RF
Number of employees HREEAH

at end of period 7,025 2,084 9,109
Average training hours SERK S FI T B 2

completed 21.36 19.70 20.96
Percentage of ZIEEED

employees trained 79% 83% 80%
2015 —ET-0F
Number of employees HAEEAH

at end of period 7,181 2,116 9,297
Average training TER R BT R 8

hours completed 39 42 40
Percentage of XIEREEA

employees trained 78% 72% 7%
Labour Standards 2T ER

Through recruitment channels and proper
selection process, TCC Cement Companies assign
appropriate work to employees based on their
knowledge, experience, personal characteristics
and work experience. Remuneration does not
commensurate with gender, religion, race or
political party background. Other than providing
excellent remuneration package, TCC Cement
Companies also strictly comply with the relevant
national and local labour regulations and
requirements, and no employee under 16 are
recruited. Each of the TCC Cement Companies
will review the overall recruitment practices from
time to time to prevent child labour, forced labour
and other potential illegal incidents. Employees
must truthfully fill in the “Basic Information Sheet
for Staff” when an employment is commenced. If
someone is found to be holding forged certificate
or filling in untrue personal resume, he/she
will be immediately dismissed by TCC Cement
Companies and it will be handled as a serious
violation of the rules and regulations of the
company.
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Il. Operating Practices

1.

Supply Chain Management

In order to meet target costs, TCC Cement
Companies adhere to the principle of “Develop
locally and source nearby” to actively cultivate
local suppliers to create local employment

opportunities and economic prosperity.

The key raw materials for cement manufacturing
include limestone, clay, silica, scum and gypsum
with coal as auxiliary fuel. The Group utilises
limestone manufactured internally, supplemented

by domestic quality mineral manufacturers.

TCC Cement Companies cultivate new suppliers
through investigation, review, verification and
completion of the supplier list for operation
purpose. We conduct regular evaluation regarding
the quality, delivery schedule, pricing and service
of qualified suppliers and delist unqualified
suppliers. The performance management on
suppliers includes market research, formulation
and implementation of raw material procurement
strategy, utilisation of cheap materials and risk
management, etc. Risk management includes
the risk control of procurement channels, parity
purchase, bidding management, business
management and contract management, payment
settlement, factory acceptance, inventory safety
inspection and sale of waste and obsolete
goods. The procurement department conducts
reassessment on every supplier each year to

ensure compliance with all the requirements.
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The number of suppliers of TCC Cement
Companies by region for the year ended 31

December 2016 is set out as follows:

Guangdong Guangxi

Sichuan

Guizhou

BE-F-AF+=A=+-8
IR AVRRR A A iR 8
BB B E HAT

Jiangsu Liaoning Fujian

Province Province Province Province Province Province Province Others Total
% REE m)lE LUk T&E BEd REY it &t
2016 “E-RE
Number of suppliers HEREHE 2 15 70 42 8 18 14 48 238
2015 “3-1%
Number of suppliers HERRE 12 28 88 100 75 % 579 399 1,405
Product Responsibility EmEF

Customer satisfaction is always the highest goal of
TCC Cement Companies. TCC Cement Companies
have excellent management teams and when it
comes to quality and services, they adhere to
the operation philosophy to “ensure brand quality
with unrelenting effort” and make certain that our
quality will beat competitors and that the cement
manufactured will meet 100% qualification rate.
By this, TCC Cement Companies adopt advanced
instruments and equipments, manage and control
raw materials, optimise raw materials, ingredients
and processes to provide customers with stable
quality and professional services. Meanwhile, it also
helps enhance product quality and product image
to customers and suppliers, which in turn improves
profits. It is only when you create maximum value
for customers and win their trust and support,
can you continuously expand the customer base.
With integrity and professional euthusiasm, TCC
Cement Companies attain customer satisfaction
through delivery exquisite services which surpass
customer expectations. Our paramount objective is
to establish good relationships with suppliers and
customers, and pursue sustainable operation and

growth for the enterprise.
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TCC Cement Companies actively construct the
sales and services platform, integrate group
resources and strive to provide comprehensive
pre-sales, sales and after-sales services. We focus
on improving professional techniques and service
efficiency, implementing customer relationship
management, recruiting and accumulating human
resources and experience, enhancing our core
strengths and continuing to expand our service
limits to surpass client expectations, thereby

creating higher customer satisfaction.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, 16 (2015:
13) companies of the TCC Cement Companies
would conduct regular customer satisfaction
research every year, the results of which will
be used as the bases for enhancement and
supervision, in order to understand current market
trends and customer needs, and to adjust various
transaction conditions depending on market
conditions to shorten the discrepancy between
the targeted level of customer attention and the
current level of customer satisfaction, and achieve
mutual and complementary support between
customers and the company to enhance the

overall profitability of the company.

According to the analysis of the research results of
customer satisfaction conducted annually, in terms
of company goodwill, cement brand name, and
cement quality stability, TCC Cement Companies
generally obtained high scores in terms of level of
attention and satisfaction. In the overall satisfaction
level, customers are satisfied with our products
and services, showing that our performances are

being recognised.
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The technical teams of TCC Cement Companies
do not only deliver services such as providing
customers with trial samples, plant visits, sample
testing meetings, trial blending and technical
consultation, they also provide matching support
services at construction sites to allow customers
to feel in person our superior and stable quality
over our competitors. TCC Cement Companies
formulate customer service and customer
complaint measures to provide customers
with product quality service, set up exclusive
laboratories to complement the various production
and business units and provide “cocktail-style
customized services” together with customer

complaint solutions.

Customer service statistics of TCC Cement
Companies for the year ended 31 December 2016

are set out as follow:

BRKRRBORMEBKEE T &
EPREERAR FH2E -
2 R A R - S RIS A
FERB 2z 2SR MEIIERISR
HELSIE REFELERE
ZMERATHREEE -8k
IKRRBRIAERNEFIEY
EFREEMMERY REF
BRAEEASEENREBE
- W TH B ER R
RERBRTTER

HE-_Z—XR"F+-_A=+—H
HEE - 8RR A ERR
BHrEMNmT

2016 2015

—E—REF —E—RF

Concluded cases Concluded cases

ERERERY [EEES

Samples provided oo TR i 343 353
Plant visits 2 E 103 94
Sample testing meetings € & 4 & 60 42
Others =i} 88 289
Total At 470 778
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Most of the TCC Cement Companies have their
own laboratories, which are equipped with various
new inspection and testing instruments and are
able to carry out inspection and testing works in
accordance with different standards, thus ensuring
the superiority and stability of each company’s

cement quality.

For the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2016,
none of the sold or shipped products were recalled

due to safety and health reasons.

Product complaints received and the quantities
recalled by TCC Cement Companies for the year

ended 31 December 2016 are set out as follows:

RERHMEEERE

R aRKEARRBEERE
o T S mAERSR R
BARZREESETRA T
BRERRNEmE BB

BHE-ZT-—HER-ZT—RF
+ZA=+—BLFEE FTEE
ERREERALE RERER
ZEE

HE-_Z—-—R"FT-H=1T—H
IEFE  AaRKERRZEEBR
EmmRFEEWEE S5
T

Unit 2016 2015
B —E—XEF —E—RF
Number of product ZEBRERN cases
complaints received %R EE ES 119 104
Number of related ERABBRFZ cases
complaints settled #H B ES 119 104
Number of cases received  EERR EKER cases
requesting product recall o] 4R & S 0 1
Number of settled cases ERRBREAR Y2 cases
regarding recall = S 0 1
Quantity of recalled BEEHKERZEE: tonne
products: Cement K g 0 20
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TCC Cement Companies formulate non-
compliance control measures and customer
complaints administration manuals to establish
control and preventive procedures in connection
with non-compliances discovered during the
administration of quality, environment and safety
hygiene. This ensures that defected products will
not flow into the next production stage, such that
non-compliances can be handled immediately
and effectively. To ensure the shipped cement
and clinker will meet the quality, environment and
occupational health and safety administration
requirements, TCC Cement Companies fully
manage the production from source to end. From
the intake of raw materials to plants production, to
the delivery of cement and clinker, every stage of
production is placed under stringent and specific
identification standards to be monitored against
quality control indicators. Should non-compliance
be discovered at any production stage, there are
corresponding isolating measures and handling

methods.
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In 2016, National Quality Supervision And Testing
Centre for Cement of China organised “The
15th CTC National Cement Chemical Analysis
Comparison Conference (CTC& B % + XK
L2541 KE ) . Several factories under TCC
Cement Companies were enlisted. Among which
TCC Huaihua Cement Company Limited and TCC
Liaoning Cement Company Limited were honored
with the grand prize; TCC Yingde Cement Co.,
Ltd and TCC (Guigang) Cement Ltd. were honored
with the title of Qualified Entity; TCC Chongaging
Cement Company Limited, TCC Fuzhou Cement
Co., Ltd, TCC Jingzhou Cement Company Limited
and TCC Guangan Cement Company Limited
were honored with the Outstanding Award. TCC
Huaying Cement Company Limited, Jurong TCC
Cement Co., Ltd. and TCC Anshun Cement
Company Limited won the honor. In addition,
we emphasized the foremost importance of
quality and the cultivation of elite inspectors.
TCC Huaihua Cement Company Limited and
TCC Liaoning Cement Company Limited were
honored with Best Operators Award in The 15th
National Cement Chemical Analysis Comparison

Conference.

The awards presented to many of the Company’s
subsidiaries demonstrate the recognition given
towards the Group’s unrelenting persistence
and belief in the implementation of “bedrock-
strong” quality in its production of high-quality
products and its professionalism in the training
of its personnel who stringently control and audit
the high-quality products manufactured by TCC

Cement Companies.

RERHMEEERE

RZTE-—RF BERKEZE
w5 PO TR A [CTCH 2B
F+RIRKRCR DT AL
=WV \EVNCIEQNT (= 35
EEEHEP B (EE)KX
RERRAR B8R CGEE)KE
BERARKERFEZREE 6k
(HRB)KEBRARAEARE (&
BIKEBRARKEREEM
RERS AR (BEE)NKEER
~nE-EMaRIRER AR
FEMERKEERAT AR
(BER)KEBRAFESERE
L2 RS ELRRNEARA
ACARARKEERAR LG
e (ZE)ACRA R A B R R
BRI RAEEE LEME
EREFEZEERRAER HEUR
Rt - malke (B KR
RAKkGRE(EE)KEBERA
AIREREETHRKREED
RS LR BE T 8808 -

HRZETARNERERANSE
B-ELXERLEEMNIERRE
mE—HANEZIMBRFEEE
(BEOAAMEEINEITNUE
E-YBEEABBINEERNE
HERKERARNEESEENE
mEBRIEEE R

SREMEERRAT 2016 £

A

91



92

Environmental and Social Responsibility Report

I=

B RS

SERE

For the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2016,
there was neither any intellectual property rights
litigation nor proceedings regarding the divulgence

of customer privacy.

Anti-corruption

According to TCC Cement Companies Staff
Management Measures, no one is allowed to
presume upon his position to demand and receive
bribery or use improper measures to obtain
benefits, nor is anyone allowed to blackmail, cheat
and conduct money laundering activities. Once
identified, the staff will be dismissed permanently.
Serious cases will be reported to the police or

judicial authority.

TCC Cement Companies also encourage the
reporting of any act that is illegal or in violation
of any ethical standards and advocate moral
behaviours. They also encourage staff to report
to managers, internal audit director and other
appropriate personnel when they suspect or
discover any act that is either illegal or in violation
of ethical standards, and provide sufficient
information to enable the company to manage any
subsequent matters properly. The company shall
handle the reported incident in strict confidence
and let the staff be aware that the company will
strive to safeguard the security of the staff who has

reported the incident in good faith.

For the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2016,
neither the TCC Cement Companies nor any of
their employees were involved in any legal cases

involving corruption.
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Ill. Community

1.

Community investment

The “Virtue” Education Hall is the TCC
Group’s children education social welfare
project. It demonstrates the spirit and practical
implementation of our philosophy - “What is taken
from society should be used in the interests of
society”. The project began in 2012 in Taiwan
and was replicated successfully in 2014 in
Mainland China. The project is aimed at providing
disadvantaged students studying in the primary
schools within the vicinity of our plants with
learning resources and nutritious meals. As at
2016, the project has benefitted eleven schools
on both shores, covering areas including Taiwan,
Guangdong, Sichuan, Chongging, Guizhou,
Liaoning, Guangxi, Fujian and Anhui.

2016 marked the 70th anniversary of the TCC
Group. At this important historical juncture, our
headquarters have decided to integrate resources
from both shores, and re-organized the “Virtue”
Education Hall project to be put under the social
welfare brand of the Group, “Wisdom”. The TCC
Group has adopted the handwriting of “Wisdom
Hall Education” from its previous managing
Director, the late Mr. Leslie Koo, as its logo, and
hopes that this brand will continue to pass on
love from generation to generation. The three core
philosophies of “Wisdom” Education Hall are:
Virtues, Industry, and Quality. The project provides
poor, single-family, orphaned and unattended
children between grades four to six with nutritious
meals and extra-curricular activities, thereby
improving their health conditions, expanding
diversified learning resources and promoting
the overall physical and mental development of

students who are frail and poor.
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The “Wisdom” Education Hall project is the TCC
Group’s first children education social welfare
project in the PRC in a decade. The launch of
this project is not only a reflection of the practical
implementation of our development philosophy

“What is taken from society should be used
in the interests of society”, it demonstrates the
determination of the TCC Group to strive to
assimilate into the community and to develop
hand-in-hand with it. Today, the rural areas are
in poverty with many vulnerable and unattended
children. Many of them have received poor
education, and malnutrition is an serious problem.
Through donating nutritious meals and providing
English and computer classes, as well as other
extra-curricular activities, to these children, the
TCC Group helps alleviate their malnutrition
problems and perfect the learning resources to

facilitate local human resources development.

The beginning of 2016 has seen the “Wisdom” Hall
Education project organizing numerous visits and
communications, and receiving high recognition
and assistance from school management and
local education bureau. This year the “Wisdom”
Hall Education project has included six new
cooperative schools, covering areas such as
Fujian Fuzhou, Sichuan Xuyong, Liaoning Dengta,
Guangxi Guigang, Anhui Maanshan and Taiwan
Kaohsiung. TCC Group’s children education social
welfare projects has not flourished in Mainland
China, Taiwan and Hong Kong, and has gradually
expanded to other places of demand in which
the TCC Group has operations. It is expected
that the project will involve more schools in
the count of dozens, which will benefit even
more disadvantaged children, increase their
competitiveness and living quality and enable them

to grow healthily and happily.
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Every year, the TCC Group would invite students
from “Wisdom” Hall Education to visit their
plants, so that the teachers and students would
not only better understand the TCC Group’s
rationale behind this project, but also further their
understanding of the TCC Group. In the future, the
TCC Group will continue to promote this project to

benefit more disadvantaged children.

Social Welfare

To support social welfare, the Group actively
participates in community development and
the related activities of charitable social welfare
organizations, helps the nearby community
repair and build bridges and roads, perfects
infrastructure facilities, donates cash and goods
to poverty regions and those in need and solves
their practical problems. For the year ended 31
December 2016, the Group donated externally a
total of 4,600 metric tons of cements (2015: 5,400
metric tons), with a total amount of approximately
HK$914,000 (2015: HK$1,209,000). Furthermore,
the Group also supports and sponsors disaster
relief and local social welfare organizations,
and approximately HK$1,328,000 (2015:
HK$1,764,000) in aggregate donations were

made.
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CONCLUSION:
In the future, the TCC Group will be focusing on our
environmental works:

(1) Enhancing equipment operation management, staff training,
inspecting repair works and improving dust collection
system to ensure all environmental equipments are operating
normally.

(2) Improving environmental cleaning and the control and
management of sewage treatment and emission, stringently
controlling wastage treatment procedures and enhancing the
management of sub-contractors, mechanical cleaning motor
vehicle tyres and greening factory environment.

(3) Adding more air pollution prevention and control equipments
to reduce pollution to the environment.

(4) Continuously promoting the energy and resource integration
and utilisation, reducing natural minerals utilization, striving
to perform to its best enterprise social responsibility to
reduce wastage and emissions.

Environmental protection and economic development should
be mutually complementary. This can form a virtuous cycle
of improving the quality of life of our communities. Therefore,
adhering to the vision of “What is taken from society should
be used in the interests of society”, while we promote
our operations, we are also committed to environmental
improvement. TCC Cement Companies give top priority to energy
saving and environmental protection during its production,
including protection of the environment we live in, following
the circular economic strategy, lowering the unit energy
consumption, and reducing wastage. TCC Cement Companies
will target the six objectives of “high productivity, high customer
satisfaction, high innovation, high co-operation, high culture and
high internationalization”, coupled with the goals of environmental
protection and economic development, propelled by social
environmental momentum. Our improvement will mainly focus
on “escalating competitiveness, maximising resource recycling,
lowering unit energy consumption, reducing wastage and utilizing
cement kiln to assist other enterprises in wastage treatment”,
which is expected to establish a virtuous environmentally-
friendly economics cycle to achieve the objective of enterprise
sustainable operation.
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The Directors are pleased to present their annual report together
with the audited financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2016.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group consist of the import and
distribution of cement in Hong Kong and the manufacture and
distribution of cement, clinker, concrete and other cement related
products in other areas of the PRC. Through its associates,
the Group is also engaged in the production and distribution of
ready-mixed concrete in Hong Kong. There were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during

the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2016 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income on pages 129 to 130 of this
annual report. The Directors now recommend the payment of a
final dividend of HK1.0 cent per ordinary share and preference
share to the shareholders whose names appear on the register
of members of ordinary shares or the register of members of
preference shares of the Company on 9 June 2017, estimated to
be HK$54,378,000.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2016 is set out in the sections headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and “Prospects and Future Plans” on

pages 15 to 35 of this annual report.

Further discussion on the environmental policies and
performance together with the compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations of the Group, together with the discussion on
the relationship with the employees, customers and suppliers,
are set out in the section headed “Environmental and Social

Responsibility Report” on pages 64 to 96 of this annual report.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated

financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the ordinary share capital
and non-redeemable convertible preference share capital of the
Company are set out in Notes 37 and 38 to the consolidated

financial statements respectively.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations in cash
and in the form of cement finished goods in the total amount of
approximately HK$2,242,000.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata

basis to existing Shareholders.

RESERVES
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in

equity on page 134 of this annual report.

As at 31 December 2016, the Company’s reserve, including
the share premium and contributed surplus accounts, available
for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie, computed
in accordance with the Companies Law (2004 Revision) of the
Cayman Islands, amounted to HK$16,668,998,000. Under the
laws of the Cayman Islands, a company may make distributions
to its members from the share premium and contributed surplus

accounts under certain circumstances.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31

December 2016 and up to the date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors:
KOO, Cheng-Yun, Leslie
(Chairman, passed away on 23 January 2017)
CHANG, An-Ping, Nelson (Chairman since 23 January 2017;
re-designated from a non-executive Director
as an executive Director on 27 March 2017)
KOO, Jason Kung Yi
(Managing Director; appointed on 27 March 2017)

WU Yih Chin (resigned on 25 May 2016)
HUNG, Jin-Yang
(appointed on 25 May 2016; resigned on 27 March 2017)

Non-executive Directors:
SHAN Weijian
CHANG, Kang-Lung, Jason
WANG, Lishin, Elizabeth
WANG, Chi-May

(appointed on 27 March 2017)

Independent non-executive Directors:
LIAO Poon Huai, Donald

CHIH Ching Kang, Kenneth

SHIEH, Jen-Chung, Roger

The Company has received annual confirmation from each
of the independent non-executive Directors as regards their
independence to the Company pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent

non-executive Directors as independent.
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In accordance with Article 97 of the Articles of Association, Mr.
Koo, Jason Kung Yi and Ms. Wang, Chi-May will hold office
until the forthcoming annual general meeting and will then be
eligible for re-election as an executive Director and the Managing
Director, and a non-executive Director, respectively. Besides,
in accordance with Article 114 of the Articles of Association,
Ms. Wang, Lishin, Elizabeth, Dr. Liao Poon Huai, Donald and
Mr. Shieh, Jen-Chung, Roger shall retire by rotation and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual

general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management

of the Group are set out on pages 36 to 45 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the employing company within one year without payment of

compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year and the time when the Report of the Directors
are approved, a permitted indemnity provision that meets the
requirements specified in section 469(2) of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) for the benefit

of all the Directors were in force.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

There were no transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance to which the Company, its holding companies, any
of its fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries was a party and in which
a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the

year or at any time during the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to a share option scheme adopted by the Company on
23 May 2006 (the “Scheme”), the Company had on 27 May 2011
granted to certain Directors the rights to subscribe for shares
at an exercise price of HK$4.42 per share, exercisable during
the period from 27 February 2012 to 26 May 2014 (both days

inclusive).

As at 26 May 2014, the number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted on 27 May 2011 and remained
outstanding were lapsed. No other option under the Scheme
was granted during the year ended 31 December 2016. As at
31 December 2016, the Scheme had expired and there was no

outstanding option under the Scheme.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2016, the interests and short positions of

the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,

underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any

associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)

which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock

Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO

(including interests and short positions which they were taken or

deemed to have under the provisions of the SFO) or which were

required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein or which had otherwise been

notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed

Issuers (the “Model Code”), were as follows:

(i) Long positions in the Ordinary Shares as at 31
December 2016
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Number of Approximate

Capacity and Ordinary percentage of

Name of Directors nature of interest Shares held shareholding

EEpgR BHORERME g BEREE REBNBE DL

KOO, Cheng-Yun, Lesliet" Directly beneficially owned 99,091,528 2.00%
ERHAO HEERNES

CHANG, Kang-Lung, Jason Interest of spouse 3,000,000@ 0.06%

o Ml 46 B (B =
102,091,528 2.06%
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(ii)

Notes:

M

Mr. Koo, Cheng-Yun, Leslie passed away on 23 January 2017.

60,322,500 Ordinary Shares were directly beneficially owned
by Mr. Koo, Cheng-Yun, Leslie. An additional 26,742,028
and 12,027,000 Ordinary Shares were also held by two
corporations which are 49.85% and 49.45% beneficially
owned by him respectively.

The shares are held by a corporation controlled by the spouse
of Mr. Chang, Kang-Lung, Jason and accordingly, he is
deemed to be interested in the 3,000,000 Ordinary Shares
pursuant to Section 316 of the SFO.

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of

associated corporations as at 31 December 2016

T’Cement

Number of shares held,

Report of the Directors
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capacity and nature of interest

FEZROBE SHRERME

Directly Through Through Approximately
beneficially spouse or controlled percentage of

Name of Directors owned  minor children corporation Total shareholding

EBRAR EB REB LD

Expsg ERBREER AREFZ ZERHEE @t Aok

KOO, Cheng-Yun, Leslie® 22,427,543 91@ 203,538,052¢ 225,965,686 6.12%

ZR AN

CHANG, An-Ping, Nelson 156,573 3,059,817 7,155,821% 10,372,211 0.28%

wZY¥

LIAO Eoon Huai, Donald 12,616 789,2932 - 801,909 0.02%

CHANG, Kang-Lung, Jason 190,000 - - 190,000 0.01%

KAl

Notes: Bat -

(1) Mr. Koo, Cheng-Yun, Leslie passed away on 23 January 2017. (1) |EAAEERZZT—EF—AZ+=A#

o

(2) The shares are held by the respective Directors’ spouses as 2 BOHBSEFIREBEAZCERERRRE
the registered and beneficial shareholder. HH-

(38) Mr. Koo, Cheng-Yun, Leslie was interested in companies B =EERALERBAES 2B FESR
controlled by him, which held an aggregate of 203,538,052 Bz MBEABEXFAET Cementz
shares of T'Cement. 208,538,052% f& {7 ©

(4)  Mr. Chang, An-Ping, Nelson is interested in companies 4 REFEEREMESN 2RISR HEAR

controlled by him, which held an aggregate of 7,155,821
shares of T'Cement.

- mMABARAXF AT CementZ
7,155,821 B & {7 ©
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Report of the Directors
EEEREE

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, no person
(not being a Director or chief executive of the Company) had
any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein or which had otherwise been notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year, there were rights to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company granted to any Director or their respective spouse
or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by the
Directors; or was the Company, or any of its holding companies,
fellow subsidiaries and subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body

corporate.

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS

Details of directors’ emoluments are set out in Note 11 to
the consolidated financial statements. For the year ended 31
December 2016, the emoluments of the senior management,
whose biographical details are set out in the “Biographical Details
of Directors and Senior Management” section of this annual
report and include three of the five highest paid individuals
analysis presented in Note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements, fell within the following bands:

B EXFEEEN R_T—RF+_A=1+—
B #EAL (UIFEFHARATHAE) R
ARRABHEMBEEE (EERLES MPE K
E%ﬂ#@Zhﬁ HERkOHESFDEERE
B MHERDIEXVERET R E8D & /,\%DQK
NAI R B RAR (BREEREES
&%fh%ﬁ@ﬂiﬁ%ﬁiﬁﬁ%ﬁzﬁ
KR BARIEE S KB GRPIE3621%BH
Aﬁﬁ%kZﬁﬁ%ZE SRR B WIREBIR
ETRIAMEARARBI R A2 ERIOKR

EENBROSES 2EF

AEER ITEREMEFIAREIZTAZIEBHK
AKEFREREEBEARNRR RO RES
MmGam MEEETEXZFEN AR AHHE
EAERAT RRMERRLHB L TWE
SEIAZHE WEEFARBETAEMCR
ZAFHER

EERETMHE

EBAESME 2B NRE B HREM T
N BEZE-—RF+_A=1T—RHLEFE"
SREEBCHM (HREFBRNAFR =
EREREEERE] —HNBERGE MG
HEWFN 2R AEZESFTATITAN=
BAANT)INTUATEE:

Number of individuals

A
Emoluments of senior management by bands 2016 2015
BAREERE 2 HAE R —E-XF —E-RF
Up to HK$1,000,000 % 1,000,000/ 7T 16 17
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T - 1,500,000 7T - 1
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T — 2,000,000/ 7T = -
HK$2,000,001 - HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7t - 2,500,000/ 7T 1 -
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SHAREHOLDERS WITH NOTIFIABLE
INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2016, according to the register kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO and, so far as was
known to the Directors or chief executive of the Company, the
persons or entities, other than a Director or chief executive of the
Company, who had an interest or a short position in the shares
or the underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were directly or indirectly,
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of
share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at
general meetings of the Company or any other company which is
a subsidiary of the Company, or in any options in respect of such

share capital were as follows:

(i) Long positions in the Ordinary Shares as at 31
December 2016

Capacity and

Name of Shareholders nature of interest

Report of the Directors
EFEEREE

BREARBRER ZRR

RZT—RNE+-A=+—B REAQFRK
RS kBB GG FEIB6IEMFE 2Tt &
BEFAARAQATHRAHMA THIALTHE
2 (EFHADBTHRAERIN READQE 2R
MRMERERGO PG BRBESF RBERDE
XVEBEE2 R 39 B 2 R XA EMA R G HER 2
Rl R S E B S E HA MR AR
FABERATERRARABARTNBE AT 2F
MEM AR ZRRAE LREZEMERIRA
EES5% A A W kB BRA 2 E R
Rt

) R=FB—R"E+ZHA=+—H REEBER
ZHR
Number of Approximate

Ordinary Shares percentage of

held™ shareholding

REREHE SORERME FisEERHAO BRESANT DL
TCCI Directly beneficially owned 3,117,016,329(L) 63.05%
EEERER
T'Cement® Through a controlled corporation 3,117,016,329(L) 63.05%
FHREEHEE
CHPL Directly beneficially owned 479,849,250(L) 9.71%
EEERER
Chia Hsin Cement Through a controlled corporation® 479,849,250(L) 9.71%
FRRR FHREZEHEEC
Directly beneficially owned 8,829,262(L) 0.18%
EEEREER
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Report of the Directors
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Notes: Bt -
(1)  The letter “L” denotes a long position in such shares. (1) EXFEHIL]XRTZERMDAGTE -
(2) T'Cement is interested in the shares of the Company by virtue (2) T'CementEE#z=#ATCCIEEE FHITRA
of its beneficial ownership of the entire issued share capital of M#ERARNR ARG 2w o
TCCI.
(38) Chia Hsin Cement is interested in the shares of the Company (B) EHKEREWBARRCHPLEA Z AR
held by its subsidiary, CHPL. AIRMOAPHEERER-
(i) Long positions in the underlying shares of the (i) R=ZB—AF+ZA=+—HB RAER
Convertible Preference Shares as at 31 December 2016 BERZEBROZER
Percentage of
the Company’s
Number of total issued
the underlying Ordinary
Name of Shareholders Ordinary Shares held Share capital
HAEAQRT BT
ZEBRRAEE
BRAER FEEREEREE ZHEDL
TCCI 539,383,608 10.91%
T'Cement® 539,383,608 10.91%
Note: Bt iz
(1)  T'Cement is deemed to be interested in the underlying shares (1) TCementAE=E#MBTCCIMHERAEHEA
of the Convertible Preference Shares held by TCCl as TCCl is TCCIFr#E A 2 A EBE AR Z ARG 2
wholly-owned by T'Cement. S o
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, no person
(not being a Director or chief executive of the Company) had an
interest or a short position in the shares or the underlying shares
of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or
which were, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the
nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote
in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company or any
other company which is a subsidiary of the Company, or in any

options in respect of such share capital.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total
sales revenue. Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers

accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any
Shareholders which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital, had any interest
in any of the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers during

the year.

Report of the Directors
EFERESE

B EXFEEEN R_T—RF+_A=1+—
B #BEAL (UFEFHAARATHRAE) R
ARBZENHAEROTHERAREZ SR
HE I SEXVER 2 R 37 88 2 R 3R E R A
REABBEZEGIRE  RERLHEEEEN
HHEMAMERBR T EARRH SRR R M
BRAAZEMEMARZBRRAE EREZF
] $A R AR A E5% 3 A Esk B 5 & A B A
ZAEfAIRE R He s

ITEEFRHER

REBFER AAERBRAES 2 #E
S AR B S S B RRB0% A T A B R
B F 1 2 R A A BB IR B HB0%
BT

AEERN EFHREZEMHEALHIRE
EFTRAMGER AR BIBAE% A £ Z ERIBER -
MERAKREETMNAATP MMHERTHEAT
fal ok o
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Report of the Directors
EEEREE

RELATED PARTIES AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions, which fall within the definition
stipulated in the Hong Kong Accounting Standard 24 “Related
Party Disclosures”, undertaken by the Group during the year
are set out in Note 48 to the consolidated financial statements.
The transactions included in Note 48 items (i) to (vi) to the
consolidated financial statements also constitute continuing
connected transactions as defined under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. Details of such transactions conducted by certain
subsidiaries of the Company with connected parties during the
year are summarised below. The Company also confirms that
during the year ended 31 December 2016 it has complied with
the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of

the Listing Rules.

FAEATIREFEBRERS

AEERAFERNETZBNELSERNS
AR TBALTHREIFIHACERCHEAL

RBGEINNEREMIBERRI A8 - 526 M5
KM TEABE()E (V)BT E 2 R 5 IR AL £

MRAUFVAEFTAEZHBERERS - FN -
AARETHEAREBEATETHNABER

RGBT - KRR MR REE_T
—ARNEFEFTZA=Z+—BLEFEERELTRA
BUATEBETREHTE -

Annual cap
under the waiver
granted by the

Amount Stock Exchange
RIEH R AT
¢ FRHRZEELR
'000 ’000
TR TR
1. Leasing of a site on Tsing Yi Island, Hong Kong, A2 & — i [E £ KB A &) HKD4,96878 7T HKD4,9687% 7t
from a fellow subsidiary of the Company MERBEXRE —SRIK
2. Purchase of cement in Hong Kong from the RARAR 2 &R HKD26,5777 7t HKD100,000/% 7T
Company’s ultimate holding company and its HJ‘ﬁ Eﬁ;ﬂ%)\%)@
subsidiaries
3. Purchase of cement and/or clinker in the MARR 2 HEEERARR - HKD10,00078 7T
PRC from the Company’s ultimate holding HtBAREHREEA
company and its subsidiaries KR,/ S H#
4. Receive of transportation and management WERADEZRZBARRE 2 HKD224,3767 7T HKD305,0007% 7t

REBRRS

services from fellow subsidiaries of the )

Company
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Annual cap
under the waiver
granted by the

Amount Stock Exchange
RIEH R A
¢E FRBRZEELR
'000 ’000
i Tt
5. Receive of maintenance service and one- WEBRADEZRZBARRR 2 HKD19,5967% T HKD69,0007% 7T
off implementation service of a computer EMTH RS HERE R
software system from fellow subsidiaries of the —REB AR
Company
6. Sales of limestone in the PRC to the Company's AR Bl Z &EEK A R R EME L - RMB50,000
ultimate holding company and its subsidiaries ERBEHEERRA AR #50,0007T
7. Payment of service fee to the Company’s RADBZZEERRASIT 2 RBE RMB102,566 RMB160,000
ultimate holding company AR #102,5667C AR #160,0007T
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Leasing of a site on Tsing Yi Island, Hong Kong

On 11 September 1997, the Company entered into a
lease agreement with TCC Development Limited, a fellow
subsidiary of the Company, under which the Company
agreed to lease that part of the property known as Tsing Vi
Town Lot No. 119 on which the cement operation facilities
of the Group in Hong Kong are located for a term of 30
years with effect from 11 September 1997. The rent payable
was negotiated on arm’s length basis between the parties
with reference to the agreements signed. Details of the
continuing connected transaction are set out in greater detalil
in the prospectus of the Company dated 23 September
1997.

Purchase of cement in Hong Kong

On 18 December 2015, the Company, on behalf of itself
and its subsidiaries, entered into a purchase agreement
with T’"Cement, on behalf of itself and its subsidiaries, for
the purchase of cement in Hong Kong. The agreement has
a term commencing from 1 January 2016 to 31 December
2018. The price of the transaction was determined with
reference to a price per tonne fixed semi-annually by
mutual agreement following negotiations between the
parties by reference to prevailing market price, on arm’s
length basis and on normal commercial terms or on terms
no less favourable to the Group than those available
from Independent Third Parties. Details of the continuing
connected transaction are set out in greater detail in the
announcement to the Shareholders of the Company dated
18 December 2015.

International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2016
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Purchase of cement and/or clinker in the PRC

On 18 December 2015, the Company, on behalf of itself
and its subsidiaries, entered into a purchase agreement
with T’"Cement, on behalf of itself and its subsidiaries, for
the purchase of cement and/or clinker in the PRC. The
agreement has a term commencing from 1 January 2016
to 31 December 2018. The price of the transaction was
determined by reference to the prevailing market price, on
arm’s length basis and on normal commercial terms or on
terms no less favourable to the Group than those available
from Independent Third Parties. Details of the continuing
connected transaction are set out in greater detail in the
announcement to the Shareholders of the Company dated
18 December 2015.

Receive of transportation and management services

On 18 December 2015, the Company, on behalf of itself
and its subsidiaries, entered into a transportation and
management service agreement with Ta-Ho Maritime
Corporation, on behalf of itself and its subsidiaries, for
the transportation of cement, clinker, coal and/or gypsum
and for the transportation-related services provided. The
agreement has a term commencing from 1 January 2016
to 31 December 2018. The price of the transaction was
determined through good faith negotiation by reference to
prevailing open market prices of road transportation and
shipping services and on normal commercial terms, or on
terms no less favourable to the Group than those available
to the Group from Independent Third Parties. Details of the
continuing connected transaction are set out in greater detalil
in the announcement to the Shareholders of the Company
dated 18 December 2015.

Report of the Directors
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RPBEBAKER,SHER
RZZE—RF+-_A+NB X227 (KR
REXRG RHKEB QR ET Cement (£
REAGREMB LR —HREW
Z - AR BB AR RS -
HRA-ZT-R"F-A—HEE-ZF—-N
FH+_A=t—HIE-RZFZ2BR2E
BITHEZE QPR RIZ R E R
BABRAEE R BB E =TS Z1&
REE HEMERXZFEARLABER
ARRBBERZAMR-_FT—RF+=A
TABZ A -

W B E b & T IR A%
RZZE—RF+=ZA+NB KA2F (REK
HAGRAWBAR) BEMMEAF (R
REAGREMBAR) L —HERRE
B RGHE  LIREEBER KR - 2k
Bk KSR B RAR 48 % E AR - 1
FBZHRE-T-—A"F-A—BRBRE=-Z
—NE+ZA=+—HLE-RZF2E®R
SERNREHRMEREHORITARME
B—RAXGERKIETERANEE TS
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Receive of maintenance service and one-off
implementation service of a computer software system
On 14 November 2014, the Company, on behalf of itself and
its subsidiaries, entered into a master agreement with TCC
Information Systems Corporation (“TCC Info Systems”), on
behalf of itself and its subsidiaries, a fellow subsidiaries of
the Company, (i) for the provision of maintenance services,
which include but are not limited to general management
information system support, network and software
consultation and hardware maintenance services, payment
agency services, system virtualization and data disaster
recovery services and other related services as may be
agreed upon by the Company and TCC Info Systems from
time to time for the operations of the Group’s business; and
(i) for the one-off implementation service, which include
but are not limited to one-off installation and/or integration
of the information systems for the new production facilities
and the newly acquired subsidiaries of the Group. The
agreement has a term commencing from 1 January 2015
to 31 December 2017. The price of the transaction was
determined between the parties with reference to the
agreements signed. Details of the continuing connected
transaction are set out in greater detail in the announcement
to the Shareholders of the Company dated 14 November
2014.

Sales of limestone in the PRC

On 5 August 2014, the Company, on behalf of itself and
its subsidiaries, entered into a supply agreement with
T'Cement, on behalf of itself and its subsidiaries, for
the supply of limestone from the PRC to Taiwan. The
agreement has a term commencing from 5 August 2014
to 31 December 2016. The price of the transaction was
determined by reference to the prevailing market price,
and no less favourable than those available to the Group
from Independent Third Parties. Details of the continuing
connected transaction are set out in greater detail in the
announcement to the Shareholders of the Company dated 5
August 2014.

International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2016

WERERRG AR 2 EERBER —AHE
AR

R-ZE-—OF+—A+HEB ARA (R
REAGLEMBLRR)BAREZR R
MEARGREARNERAR ([ARE
Al RREARS RENBRF) ()FHIRHE
MERY HEREITRRARNEEZX
BLEERH-REBEARG T BB
Ko 8R4 5 G B A M R AR TS - S IR AR
B RGEREREIERESERRE kA
AR B E AT BT 17 E 2 H A R RE
R R (it —RIEEARY - HBEER
RN —RERER, REEAEEZHE
R MR 2 M B AR 2 B FR S
RN —MEHZE-HRIBRA-FT
F-A-BBRE-_FT—tF+-_A=1—
Bilb- RS Z2BRIIBFINTE2ED R
RIZHEMEE HEWEXHRAELZ
FHRERARBABRR AR/ TN
Fr—AtmBZRAMfA-

EHESEARA
R-ZE—mMENARB  AAF (RREK
FREWERAR)ET Cement (fLFREAK
S REWBAR) RIS —HHERR - A
REHEARARAE HE 2 BRE =
T—MNENAREBRE_ZT—XRE+-H
=+ —BLE-RGZERIELERTH
EMET BETBERAEETEBELE=
TG B - FEEERSEFE L
BERARRABRRZBBHA T —NF
NARBZAHRA-



7.

Payment of service fee

On 12 March 2015, the Company, on behalf of itself and
its subsidiaries, entered into a service agreement with
T’'Cement, for the provision of services to the Group on
an on-going basis. The services provided included but
are not limited to the consultation and advisory services
relating to () human resources (including formulating staff
policies, recruiting and training, performance evaluation
and formulating remuneration packages); (ii) production
design and engineering (including reviewing and revising
production plans, providing maintenance, enhancement
and improvement, procuring of production facilities and
providing technical advice on the production facilities of
the targets in merger and acquisition projects); (iii) product
sales, distribution and marketing; (iv) financial management
(including budgeting, monitoring financial performance and
formulating treasury policies); (v) internal audit; and (vi) legal
(including providing advice, preparing legal documents and
assessing legal risks in projects). The agreement has a term
commencing from 12 March 2015 to 31 December 2017.
The service fee payable by the Company to T'Cement is
determined based on the total clinker production capacity,
the total cement production capacity and the total residual
heat generated by the Group in the immediately preceding
period. Details of the continuing connected transaction
is set out in greater details in the announcement to the
Shareholders of the Company dated 12 March 2015.

Report of the Directors

EFTHRES

R E

RZZ—HF=A+=ZH A28 (KX
HAGREWEBRQR) BT Cementph iR+
BRERANEEBRERB L — IR
FoMMRE I RBEFEETRAELTE
BEBZEARBERERE : )ANER (2
EHIE B TR B REI KRBT
REIEFHMAES)  (IEMBFFTRIRE (B
B RETEmat 8l IR EEREAE
EIRFAICGE  HEAERE WHEW
HEIEE B Rz AERERERMER) ;
(NEMIFE DELTESHERE: (VIKE
B(BEEE ERVBRARGEES
BR) + (VAEREZ  R(VipERE (B IERHE
BER REVEEXHRFEIER 2 EER
) o E s HBRAE —_E-RAE=A+=
BRE-_ZT—+F+-_A=+—HL K
NAERT Cement,Z IR 15 & i iR A £ B R
R RABEBER KEBER
RERBREEEET - FHERERHEF
BZHABERARABRRZABA-T
—RE=A+-BZAMRA-

SREMEERRAT 2016 £

A

113



Report of the Directors
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent
non-executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing
connected transactions and confirmed that the transactions have

been entered into:
() in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or, if there are not sufficient
comparable transactions to judge whether they are on
normal commercial terms, on terms no less favourable than

those available to or from Independent Third Parties; and

(i) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of

the Shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s
auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information”
and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified letter
containing the following findings and conclusions in respect of
the continuing connected transactions in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules:

(i)  the transactions have received the approval of the Board;
(i)  the transactions were in accordance with the pricing policies

of the Group if the transactions involve provision of goods or

services by the Group;
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(i) the transactions have been entered into in accordance with

the relevant agreements governing the transactions; and

(iv) the transactions have not exceeded the cap disclosed in

previous announcements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the

year.

DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO RULE 13.21
OF THE LISTING RULES

In accordance with the disclosure requirements of Rule 13.21
of the Listing Rules, the following disclosures are included in
respect of the Company’s loan agreements, which contain
covenants requiring performance obligations of the controlling

Shareholder of the Company.

Pursuant to a loan agreement dated 4 September 2014 between
the Company and certain banks relating to a five-year term
loan facility of US$350,000,000, and a loan agreement dated
14 December 2011 between the Company and certain banks
relating to a five-year term loan facility of US$550,000,000, a
termination event would arise if () T'Cement ceases to own
legally and beneficially, at least 40% and 30% of the shares in the
Company’s capital respectively or (i) the Group fails to meet the

financial covenants stipulated in the loan facility.

Pursuant to a loan agreement dated 30 March 2015 between the
Company and a bank relating to a three-year term loan facility
of HK$100,000,000, and a loan agreement dated 22 June 2011
between the Company and a bank relating to a three-year loan
facility of US$40,000,000 and further extended for another two
years, a termination event would arise if () T'"Cement ceases to
own legally and beneficially, at least 30% of the shares in the
Company’s capital or (i) the Group fails to meet the financial

covenants stipulated in the loan facility.
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Report of the Directors
EEEREE

Pursuant to a loan agreement dated 23 December 2015 between
the Company and a bank relating to a two-year loan facility of
HK$128,000,000, a termination event would arise if (i) T'"Cement
ceases to own legally and beneficially, at least 40% of the shares
in the Company’s capital or (i) the Group fails to meet the

financial covenants stipulated in the loan facility.

Pursuant to a loan agreement dated 5 May 2015 between
the Company and a bank relating to a one-year loan facility of
HK$40,000,000, a loan agreement dated 17 June 2013 and
further extended each year between the Company and a bank
relating to a one-year loan facility of US$15,000,000, and a loan
agreement dated 23 July 2012 and further extended each year
between the Company and a bank relating to a one-year loan
facility of HK$40,000,000, a termination event would arise if
T’Cement ceases to own legally and beneficially, at least 30% of

the shares in the Company’s capital.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Principal corporate governance practices as adopted by
the Company are set out in the section headed “Corporate

Governance Report” on pages 46 to 63 of this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY
The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set
up by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,

qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market

statistics.

TCC International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2016
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AUDIT COMMITTEE, REMUNERATION

COMMITTEE AND NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Details of the Company’s Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee are set out in the section
headed “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 46 to 63 of

this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, there is
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s
issued shares as required under the Listing Rules throughout the

year ended 31 December 2016.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s results and its assets and liabilities for

the past five years is set out on page 272 of this annual report.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual general
meeting to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as

auditor of the Company.

By order of the Board

CHANG, An-Ping, Nelson
CHAIRMAN

Hong Kong
27 March 2017
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BIZBERES

Deloitte

TO THE MEMBERS OF

TCC INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
BREEREERBERA

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
TCC International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 129 to 271, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2016, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of

significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2016, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of Hong

Kong Companies Ordinance.

TCC International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2016
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BIZHENRES

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matters

BEEREHR

AREEBEXEE (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BEMNERNNEERREREE

Impairment of goodwill

A& B E

We identified the estimated impairment of goodwill
allocated to manufacture and distribution of cement,
clinker, concrete and other cement related products
segment as a key audit matter due to the complexity
and significant judgement exercised by the Group’s
management on determining the impairment amount.
BMEBR DR EEE R D HAR 2 RREL RE
fACOBEBEER D BB EBMAREESERERE

B REARNRETHESERSRERIER EXEE

BRETEE R -

TCC International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2016
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Our procedures in relation to estimated impairment of

goodwill included:

BPEREEMATIREZEFBRE:

Understanding how the management of the Group
estimated the impairment of goodwill, including the
valuation model adopted, assumptions applied and
relevant estimations;

TH BESEEERENAMGMAPRERE BERAZ
HERN  ERERRKR&EEEE:

Assessing the reasonableness of management’s

key assumptions in the cash flow forecasts with
reference to historical trading performance, market
expectations and industry knowledge and evaluating
the appropriateness of discount rates, expected
growth rates, sales volume and selling prices of the
products adopted in the value in use calculation;
2RBERGRR MBEHRTENZ TEEERE
RREREBFFA T HARRRZAEMN WA ERE
REETERMAZITER FAIERE EntHEENR
EBEzREM:



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matters

BEEREHR

Independent Auditor’s Report
BIZBERES

AREEBEXEE (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BEMNERNNEERREREE

Estimated impairment of goodwill (Continued)

BEZ 1G5 BE (&)

As detailed in the Notes 4, 17 and 18 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group has
goodwill amounting to HK$3,332 million as at 31
December 2016 which is allocated to manufacture

and distribution of cement, clinker, concrete and other
cement related products segment as at 31 December
2016. Determining the amount of impairment for
goodwill requires an estimation of the recoverable
amount, which is the value in use of the cash-
generating units (“CGUs”) or groups of CGUs to which
goodwill is allocated. The value in use calculation

uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the management and requires key
assumptions including the discount rates, expected
growth rates, sales volume and selling prices of the
products.

WU AT HHREM 4 17T RI8ATF Y BHEER
“E-RFE+TZA=+—HZ %% R3,332,000,000%
T WESEER-_T—RFT_A=+—HZHER
DA PR ORBE L R EAM AR E MY #0 - &
EREBMECRERMGAATRECHE EREESKER
BrHeELEN ((REELEL I REELEN
HRlzEREBEE-EREEAECAREEEEHEL
MBEEFELEH 2R eREFAT AL ARRRE 81
FRKR FEHERKR ERHEEREE-

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the
management of the Group determines that there was
no impairment of any of its CGUs or groups of CGUs
containing goodwill.
BHE_Z-—RFT_A=1T—RHILFE AEEHEERE
ETHETANARBcReELEUNRCELSE
i 48 Rl BB

e Reconciling input data to supporting evidence,
such as approved budgets and considering the
reasonableness of these budgets by comparing the
actual results with the forecasts made in previous
years; and

s HKBAREEIFHER (WMERERE) YK XWEB
BERERERN HEFEAMELTRAETLERMmZ
BREREZAEEM K

e Performing sensitivity analysis on key assumptions
provided by the management and assessing the
impact on the value in use calculation.

o HERBERHZFZBIJETHBRED T R HEE
REEEZZE-
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BIZHENRES

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matters

BEEREHR

AREEBEXEE (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BEMNERNNEERREREE

Valuation of trade receivables, loan receivables and other receivables

EWREZ R ERENREMERNEZGE

We identified valuation of trade receivables, loan
receivables and other receivables as a key audit matter
due to the use of judgment and estimates by the
management on the recoverability of trade receivables,
loan receivables and other receivables.
HAEBRIEKE SR B E R H A KRR Z
HEERERERER REAREREMRERESR
TR FE W B R R H At R MR TE 2 BT Ui B st R e R A
At

As detailed in the Notes 22, 27 and 28 to the
consolidated financial statements, included in the
balances of other financial assets, prepayments,
deposits and other receivables and trade receivables,
the Group has recorded (i) loan receivables due from
various government sectors of HK$38 million, (ii)
advances to independent third parties of HK$140
million and (iii) trade receivables of HK$66 million which
are past due but not impaired as at 31 December
2016.

B4R A BRI 22 27 Mg ST A H b
MEE FANRE R RHEMBRFIEAREKE S
BRA AEER-_Z-—RF+A=1+—H&EEFE
W % {E Bx i B P9 & $038,000,0005 7T ¢ (i)48 T B L F =
77 #.3£140,000,0005% 7T K (iii) 2 181 B3 8 18 AR5 (E 2 FE W
g 5 8k 566,000,000/ 7T ©
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Our procedures in relation to valuation of these balances
included:

BPBEERSERZAEERFEE:

° Understanding the allowance policy of trade
receivables, loan receivables and other receivables
and evaluating management’s process of reviewing
the recoverability of these balances;

o  THREWESKRN  BUWE RN H AR WA 2 Bk
B WAHEE R E R &S AR AT g T

e Testing the aging analysis of the trade receivables, on
a sample basis, to the source documents;
o HIRXMHIEMEEEANAEKESER BRI

e FEvaluating the reasonableness of the allowance policy
and estimated allowance by comparing the aged
analysis and the historical settlement patterns of
trade receivables;

o RBHBEWESRNNER SN ABEAFTRAFT
EEERRMEABENRE T



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matters

BEEREHR

Independent Auditor’s Report

BIZMEIRES

AREEBEXEE (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BEMNERNNEERREREE

Valuation of trade receivables, loan receivables and other receivables (Continued)

EREZHRN BEREFRAMBERSEZIEE (&)

In determining the recoverability and allowance amount
of trade receivables, the management considers the
credit quality of individual trade receivables, including
default or delay in payments, settlement records,
subsequent settlements and ageing analysis of the
trade receivables.
RETRKE SRR AT O L EER EEEEE
BERNEKESERZEEER (BREWEZRRZ
HRSGEBMNR  EHERH HEREERKRRD ) -

In determining the recoverability and allowance
amount of other receivables and loan receivables,

the management considers any significant financial
difficulty of the counterparty, breach of contract

such as default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments or possibility that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

P88 TE L A 8 SRR IR % B W R BT U M K B A R
K -EREZRRXZUFRAOHREMERNMBREE-
ERAH (PImERSEOINFEHAE) HEHA
PBAREXTBEAZ AT

Assessing the reasonableness of allowance for
doubtful debts for loan and other receivables

without settlement by reference to financial ability
and any breach of contract by the counterparty

such as default or delinquency in interest or

principal payments or it is becoming probable that
the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-
organisation;

REXGHF UKD RREEREMMEL (HIA
BREEBHZMMERAR) HERAZE A AT
AWERF B EH - 57 (4 RIS 5 H B IR R
REBzaBEmMI Tt REE

Assessing available information for the rationale
behind the non-payment of overdue trade receivables
with reference to the credit quality and settlement
records; and
2REEEEREECH T HBMHEYRE S RIRN
BEKBZATAER K

SREMEERRAT 2016 £

A

123



Independent Auditor’s Report
BIZBERES

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) BERELSE (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BEMNERNNEERREREE

Key audit matters

BEEREHR

124

Valuation of trade receivables, loan receivables and other receivables (Continued)

BEREZHRN BREFRAMBERSEZIEE ()

At 31 December 2016, the carrying amount of trade
receivables being overdue are HK$66 million, advances
to independent third parties are HK$140 million (net of
accumulated impairment loss of HK$106 million) and
loan receivables due from various government sectors
are HK$38 million (net of accumulated impairment loss
of HK$86 million).

RZE-—RF+A=+—H aHERKREZERER

Z BRI /366,000,000 7T s THLE =1 BH R
140,000,000/ 7T ( #1kr R 518 {8 &5 #8106,000,000/
7T ) Ko FE W Z B BT B8P 2 & 51 438,000,000/ 7T (40
B R 515 (B &51886,000,0008 7T) °

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other

information. The other information comprises the information

Evaluating the historical accuracy of the allowance
estimation by the management by comparing
historical allowance made to these balances against
the actual settlement and actual loss incurred.
BERHZSERMEEZBERBRELACERAER
RERBRETHE  FTAEREEBEIELBE MG
Z AN o

ENREFAHRAMANAREL KA
BEFRTFAEENEL BTRERAMS

included in the annual report, but does not include the WMERESHUHBHOZHBMBRES -

consolidated financial statements and our auditor’'s report

thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not

cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing

to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE

FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing

the Group’s financial reporting process.

BIZMEIRES

WEZGAMBHREAME  BEFNAELEMELR
EM KMEBEMENRTBYHHRERL
EEEEZBRETEENENFEEATT
HUFFEEABERRL - HEEFERE T
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EEABRERFE-BEERU Y EBIMERE
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BIZBERES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken

on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,

or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s

internal control.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BIZHERES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE R MBXGS M HRRERE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL NEE (&)
STATEMENTS (continued)

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used o HEFASHBEERRE URESA
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related EE g ENMBHAEESES SR -

disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the o MBMEBFBEHAUFEL M%ﬁWE’\]%“EﬂE
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit EARE  WREDEERNEZRE  #48
¥

T BERERELENRENEBKE
B E 1B u‘%%ij{’ﬁﬁﬁi%°
FHREARBERITHERE

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists

>t A
20

iy
Hlilﬂmﬁ

related to events or conditions that may cast significant

=
IR
+
T

doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are £E5E EV%IEW#E:‘:QJ%E&T??QWH%
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the MERNMWEEERFEE NN REHEFEE
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements TR AT EENER - EENEmE
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. ARBEZEMBEBHMESNEZE
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained oA RAREHRFERFIEES &
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future ETrHAGRELENEE
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content o AL AEUMBIRERAEEIR EEMA
of the consolidated financial statements, including the A BEREER URGEEWBEREESR
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial BRI R BT HRAEERR S R EE -

statements represent the underlying transactions and events

in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the o SENSERIEREINVBE
financial information of the entities or business activities ﬂ?% FEMBEZRE UBGZEES T BER
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated KERER -BEAAERES BEEMH
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 17 BEEEMNEZIE- BEEARATER
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain BERBERAERIEE

solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BIZBERES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,

among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the

audit and significant audit findings,

deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

including any significant

BB MEBRGS W KRRARE
NET &)

BEERBEXRTIENTESGENSRE 228
BhMEZHIE BIERIIEH M ERER LR
HihEIHE AR BHEITER

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement EENRAEEBELEBER BRESCETE
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements BEUMMBEEER UM BREEGERAT
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all BEEEREAMB I ENEERNE ST AR E
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought AEHERELERE BEZEZESHTER
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related

safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with ETERBEAEERR HMEPLEABRE

MEBRREZIENRERZEE  NAREX
FE-BIFERIERTRHALHARBENE S
BZEBEFAENELAT BERRABEBELES
AR EAHNTRERKEBELARATIE

governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.

We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or

128

regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, EEMNFEMAEERER FUHEE TRE
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter e REMmERHEMEEIR-

should not be communicated in our report because the adverse

consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to

outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent BENEZEEEERB U ZEMMRSENIEE
auditor’s report is Mak Chun Bon. BRABEIRA-

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu BEeBAEMR S SEHATIT

Certified Public Accountants B EBE A

Hong Kong A

27 March 2017 —t+F=A=Z++H
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

FEEBRAMEZEARER

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

2016 2015
—E-RE —E—hF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
B &t FET FHT
Revenue g 6 11,412,814 10,911,069
Cost of sales 58 AR (9,022,356) (9,236,140)
Gross profit EF 2,390,458 1,674,929
Investment income BEUWA 7 55,861 88,092
Other income, gains and losses ~ E AL A ~ Wz R E 1B 8 (873,176) (281,067)
Selling and distribution expenses $H& &9 #FH X (654,485) (665,693)
General and administrative — M RITHA X
expenses (876,163) (926,084)
Finance costs B & AR AR 9 (262,169) (277,871)
280,326 (387,694)
Share of profits of associates FEEEEE AR 2 mF 172,795 122,050
Share of loss of a joint venture  fE{E— &% R a2 EE (10,470) (1,324)
Profit (loss) before tax R AR R (EHE) 10 442,651 (266,968)
Income tax (expense) credit Frfsf (ZH) K& 12 (225,219) 20,806
Profit (loss) for the year RELRH (FHE) 217,432 (246,162)
Other comprehensive expense,  EM 2 MM - MR ATEH
net of income tax
ltems that will not be reclassified TE@EZE#HHEEERZ
to profit or loss: BH:
Exchange differences MERENEEEE
arising on translation to ZENERE
presentation currency (1,494,485) (1,261,455)
Gain on revaluation of a EH—EDERE
property 2,119 4,975
Income tax relating to EHEHm—EMES
revaluation of a property FriS i (810) (610)
Share of other comprehensive il /N P
income (expense) of HEh 2wl
associates (F%) 937 (377)
Other comprehensive expense ~ ANFEEHME2ER X
for the year, net of income tax HRFTISHL (1,491,739) (1,257,467)
Total comprehensive expense AFEEEMAS AR
for the year (1,274,307) (1,503,629)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
FEEZRHEMEEWRER

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

2016 2015
—E—XE —E—hF
NOTE HK$’000 HK$’000
HiaF FET FHET
Profit (loss) for the year A FERE RA (FHE) :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company RABHEE A 193,840 (249,391)
Non-controlling interests JEIT R R = 23,592 3,229
217,432 (246,162)
Total comprehensive (expense)  FEMGZE (B ) Wi sm -
income attributable to:
Owners of the Company ViN/NETEF SN (1,278,718) (1,491,596)
Non-controlling interests R 4,411 (12,033)
(1,274,307) (1,503,629)
2016 2015
ZE-RF —E-hF

Earnings (loss) per share AR (EBE) 14
- Basic —H K HK3.1 cents #&fll  HK(6.5) cents # 1l
- Diluted —#E HK3.1 cents #&fll  HK(6.5) cents # 1l

TCC International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2016

A



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
GEUBHRAR

At 31 December 2016 R-E—NE+_-_H=+—H

2016 2015
ZE-RF —T-hF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
i3 FER FHET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M BB kEE 15 15,009,306 17,102,276
Prepaid lease payments B E A 16 1,794,820 1,957,979
Intangible assets mEE 17 3,424,323 3,667,443
Mining rights PR 19 420,741 465,128
Interests in associates XN 20 1,416,528 1,516,419
Interest in a joint venture —EAEENRIER 21 = 10,627
Other financial assets HEhemEE 22 20,041 44,575
Deposits paid for acquisition of ~ FLURE W - BE &

property, plant and B HEMEE
equipment and other assets SR E & 421,704 204,169
Available-for-sale investments AHEERE 23 34,453 37,377
Pledged bank deposits EEFIRITER 24 15,834 17,746
Deferred tax assets BRIET IR B B 25 114,455 143,294
22,672,205 25,167,033

Current assets RBEE

Inventories FE 26 1,175,793 1,082,570
Prepaid lease payments TENMEEKIEA 16 55,587 59,967

Prepayments, deposits and ERRIE -Ee Rk
other receivables H 4th jE We 3R 27 713,475 820,056
Trade receivables FEUE 5 iR 28 2,874,063 2,836,770
Tax recoverables A] Uz B 75 18 20,851 38,427
Held-for-trading investments BIERXRZGRB2HRE 29 38,193 37,820
Derivative financial instruments ~ #$T4£ €@ T A 30 396 -
Restricted bank deposits ZREBITER 24 68,826 70,635
Pledged bank deposits EHEIFRITIER 24 1,457 1,543
Time deposits 7 BifF 3k 24 83,159 381,990
Cash and bank balances He RIRTTHE 24 4,172,477 5,330,638
9,204,277 10,660,416
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
GFEUBRAFE

At 31 December 2016 R-ZE—~NF+_-H=+—H

2016 2015
—E—REF —E—hF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
B &t FET FAET
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables JERTE 5 R 31 1,136,922 1,024,255
Other payables and Efb S HIER
accrued liabilities EEtEaE 32 1,437,130 1,498,886
Tax payables JET IR 112,263 23,336
Bank loans RITER 33 2,295,456 6,028,147
4,981,771 8,574,624
Net current assets REBEEFE 4,222,506 2,085,792
Total assets less WEERRBERE
current liabilities 26,894,711 27,252,825
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Deferred income I E UG A — IR ST 4 B
— government grants 34 14,783 -
Bank loans RITER 33 7,122,800 5,704,736
Amount due to immediate FETEBIER A R A
holding company 35 620,800 930,000
Deferred tax liabilities BEEHIEAE 25 343,029 405,289
8,101,412 7,040,025
18,793,299 20,212,800
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
GEUBHRAR

At 31 December 2016 R-E—NE+_-_H=+—H

2016 2015
—E—XE —E—hF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
B &t FET FHT
Capital and reserves [ SRR
Share capital — ordinary shares A& 7&K — & 3@ i 37 494,347 494,347
Share capital — non-redeemable  J{AN — 4 0] B& @
convertible preference shares A] BB ST A% 38 49,433 49,433
Reserves {1 18,005,076 19,416,772
Equity attributable to owners of &K B #EH AEEER
the Company 18,548,856 19,960,552
Non-controlling interests R ER 244,443 252,248
18,793,299 20,212,800

The consolidated financial statements on pages 129 to 271 were BN FB120BE2TMBEZRAETHHRERE RS
approved and authorised for issue by the board of Directors on Z—+F-A-_ttHEESSH AR RER

27 March 2017 and are signed on its behalf by: K UHEATALTRAEEZEE:
CHANG, AN-PING, NELSON KOO, JASON KUNG YI
CHAIRMAN MANAGING DIRECTOR
*E EE bS]
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FAHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

2016 2015
ZE-REF —E-IfF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FHT
Operating activities )
Profit (loss) before tax BB AR (E5IE) 442,651 (266,968)
Adjustments for: KATFE:
Interest expenses B 262,169 277,871
Interest income FLEMA (55,174) (86,985)
Dividend income from listed EHRAIEERBWA
equity investments (687) (1,107)
Depreciation of property, W BELRZETE
plant and equipment 1,179,238 1,223,662
Amortisation of prepaid lease TE 1 70 & kI8
payments 59,956 62,719
Amortisation of intangible assets B 19,623 13,877
Amortisation of mining rights TR 5 36,850 41,249
Allowance for doubtful debts of FEWE G ER 2
trade receivables KRB 88,478 297
Gain from changes in fair value of RATEEBER
financial assets designated IRz B E
as at FVTPL N EEH 2 W (88,354) -
Release of deferred income — 1 B RE W 2
government grants — BUR 5 B (455) -
Impairment loss of A HERE
available-for-sale investments ZRAEEE 2,928 2,588
Impairment loss of inventories GFEZREBE 6,325 7,040
Impairment loss of property, Y BEREHEZ
plant and equipment BB EE 120,079 -
Impairment loss of prepaid lease ENEEREZ
payments BB EE 801 -
Impairment loss of other H b e GRIE 2
receivables A EE 95,756 -
Net impairment loss (reversal of BHEERKERZ
impairment loss) recognised in BRI EEE
respect of loan receivables OREEERE)FE 5,862 (15,415)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BWE K
plant and equipment B E] 8,290 8,765
Share of profits of associates FEAG B & AR 2 A (172,795) (122,050)
Share of loss of a joint venture BiE—R&e&R "2
& 18 10,470 1,324
Exchange adjustments PE 5 F8 5 77,304 218,972
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
SERERE

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

2016 2015
ZE-REF —E-IfF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THER FHT
Operating cash flows before LEESEFHA 2
movements in working capital KEBERE 2,099,315 1,365,839
(Increase) decrease in inventories & (g R (99,548) 358,981
Decrease in prepayments, TERIA Ee R EAM
deposits and other receivables JE W SR IE R 15,459 211,424
(Increase) decrease in trade receivables EULE 5 BRZx (& 40) /2 (123,188) 1,312,188
(Increase) decrease in held-for-trading 5 {EX S B@g 2 &
investments ($2h0) w2 (373) 11,550
Increase (decrease) in trade payables  JEfTE SZBRF1E 1 (R4) 112,667 (582,156)
Increase (decrease) in other payables — H ff & {f 718 &
and accrued liabilities FEEt B EEm O ) 100,370 (501,756)
Cash generated from operations KEFRIR® 2,104,702 2,176,070
Income taxes paid EIFEH (123,344) (379,4083)
Withholding tax paid on dividends/ U EE & N R M B AR
interest received from associates/ BB FB AT Z BB
subsidiaries (12,576) (24,779)
Net cash from operating activities CEEBS IS F58 1,968,782 1,771,888
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A



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GEBHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

2016 2015
—E—XRE —E—RF
NOTE HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt it THEx FHET
Investing activities BEEY
Net cash outflows from WENBARIZRE
acquisition of subsidiaries i F R 36 - (1,684,635)
Interest received 2 U F & 60,250 80,377
Dividends received from EUEE AR R E
associates 177,335 325,344
Dividends received from listed B ETRARERE
equity investments 687 1,107
Proceeds from realisation SRTEeMIAZ
of derivative financial Fr 1§ 3018
instruments 87,958 -
Government grants received B U5 B #6 B 15,798 -
Purchase of property, BEME BELRE
plant and equipment (364,923) (407,234)
Payment for prepaid lease S AHEMNEENRIE
payments (25,923) (20,524)
Purchase of intangible assets BEREEE (6,660) (8,199)
Purchase of mining rights BB R (185,795) (106,261)
Proceeds from disposal of HEME - BE R&E
property, plant and equipment ZF1S3RIA 934 17,307
Advance to a joint venture BY—EEERQA (53) (78)
Repayment of loan and EERWERREAMm
other receivables JE W F A 16,257 152,204
Placement of restricted FEXRGIRITER
bank deposits (1,319) (147,604)
Withdrawal of restricted R RGIRITFER
bank deposits - 74,180
Placement of pledged FEEEMRITER
bank deposits (1,205) (85)
Withdrawal of pledged RMEERRITER
bank deposits 973 137,837
Withdrawal (placement) of time 2 (178 ) THITF X
deposits 298,831 (217,567)
Net cash from (used in) investing & FEFTE (FTA) Z
activities REFH 73,145 (1,803,831)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
SERERE

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

2016 2015
A —ET—hfF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Financing activities BEES
Repayment of bank loans BERITER (11,221,260) (7,988,648)
Repayment to immediate M E BT A EER
holding company (931,200) (1,937,500)
Interest paid EATFE (262,084) (287,293)
Dividends paid to owners of BERNAQEHE ARE
the Company (108,756) (492,697)
Preferred distribution paid B A] 82 {8 S AR
to convertible preference % 3B 5t 5k
shareholders (24,222) (24,223)
Dividends paid to non- SENERZY T W)
controlling shareholders (12,216) (16,422)
Repayment of long term and B8 R HA I H th B <) ;0B
other payables (7,034) (43,478)
New bank loans raised HILIRITER 8,932,856 6,178,867
Advance from immediate BEEERARER
holding company 620,800 1,937,500
Proceeds from issue of BATHIR D 2 FT 1S 308
new shares - 3,625,208
Transaction costs attributable BATH R D 15 X SRR
to issue of new shares - (17,089)
Net cash (used in) from financing BEEE) (FTA) TS 2
activities REF5 (3,013,116) 934,225
Net (decrease) increase in cash & RIREEHE
and cash equivalents OB ) 12 hnF 58 (971,189) 902,282
Cash and cash equivalents R—A—RAZBEE2X
at 1 January Re%EE 5,330,638 4,624,719
Effect of foreign exchange rate  SME[E R EE) 2 &
changes (186,972) (196,363)
Cash and cash equivalents R+—A=+—H82Z
at 31 December, represented by IR& RIE4Z(E
Cash and bank balances BIIR & M ERTT 48R 4,172,477 5,330,638
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) consist of the import and distribution of
cement in Hong Kong and the manufacture and distribution
of cement, clinker, concrete and other cement related
products in other areas of the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”). Through its associates, the Group is also
engaged in the production and distribution of ready-mixed
concrete in Hong Kong. There were no significant changes
in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the

year.

The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate

Information and Key Dates” section to the Annual Report.

The parent company of the Company is TCC International
Limited (incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Taiwan Cement Corporation). In
the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”),
Taiwan Cement Corporation (“T’Cement”), a company
incorporated and whose shares are listed in Taiwan, is the

Company’s ultimate holding company.

The functional currency of the Company and its major
subsidiaries and associates is Renminbi (“RMB”). However,
the consolidated financial statements of the Group are
presented in Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$”) as the Directors
consider this presentation is more useful for its current and

potential investors.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # %=

2.

—NEFFZA=F—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) for the first time in the

current year.

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for acquisitions of
interest in joint operations
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure initiative
Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 38

Clarification of acceptable
methods of depreciation and
amortisation

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 41

Agriculture: Bearer plants

Amendments to
HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12
and HKAS 28

Investment entities: Applying

the consolidation exception

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to

HKFRSs 2012-2014 cycle

The application of the above amendments to HKFRSs
in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial performance and position for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these

consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (continuea)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments’

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with
customers and the related
amendments’

HKFRS 16 Leases?

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and
measurement of share-
based payment
transactions’

Amendments to HKFRS 4  Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
instruments, with HKFRS 4
Insurance contracts’

Amendments to HKFRS 10  Sale or contribution of assets
and HKAS 28 between an investor and its
associate or joint venture®
Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure initiative*

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of deferred tax
assets for unrealised losses*
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to
HKFRSs 2014-2016
cycle®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2019.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2017.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2017 or 1 January 2018, as appropriate.
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BAGHERF125E RAERERERE
CHES THBEE
BARBREER BRAMBHREENZ
CHEY: T-mE-T-RX
IR H Y F R BUES

TR ZEFE-NF-A-ARAZEARZFE
Hj[E] R

2 ROIF-NF-A-HHAZEFBZFE
Hjfa] £ R

S RETEEZAREZERFGZ FREAR

Yt O RCIFEF-AHEZEBBEZFR
HjEj LR

S RIF—+F-H-HX-F-NF—H
— B (208 /) 2 2 1% Fi 45 49 5F & A R 4

SREMEERRAT 2016 £

A

141



142

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEVBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # %=

—NEFFZA=F—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSSs”) (continuea)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial assets, financial liabilities,
general hedge accounting and impairment requirements for

financial assets.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 which are relevant to the

Group are:

all recognised financial assets that are within the
scope of HKFRS 9 are required to be subsequently
measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically,
debt investments that are held within a business
model whose objective is to collect the contractual
cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal outstanding are generally measured at
amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting
periods. Debt instruments that are held within a
business model whose objective is achieved both by
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial
assets, and that have contractual terms that give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding, are generally measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”).
All other debt investments and equity investments are
measured at their fair value at the end of subsequent
accounting periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9,
entities may make an irrevocable election to present
subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity
investment (that is not held for trading) in other
comprehensive income, with only dividend income

generally recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (continuea)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (Continued)

in relation to the impairment of financial assets, HKFRS
9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed
to an incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39.
The expected credit loss model requires an entity to
account for expected credit losses and changes in
those expected credit losses at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In
other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event

to have occurred before credit losses are recognised.

the new general hedge accounting requirements retain
the three types of hedge accounting mechanisms
currently available in HKAS 39. Under HKFRS 9,
greater flexibility has been introduced to the types
of transactions eligible for hedge accounting,
specifically broadening the types of instruments that
qualify for hedging instruments and the types of risk
components of non-financial items that are eligible
for hedge accounting. In addition, the retrospective
quantitative effectiveness test has been removed.
Enhanced disclosure requirements about an entity’s risk

management activities have also been introduced.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # %=

2.

—NEFFZA=F—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (continuea)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (Continued)

Based on the Group’s financial instruments and risk
management policies as at 31 December 2016, the
Directors of the Company considered that the application
of HKFRS 9 in the future may have a material impact
on the classification and measurement of the Group’s
financial assets. The Group’s available-for-sale investments,
including those currently stated at cost less impairment,
will either be measured as fair value through profit or loss
or be designated as FVTOCI (subject to fulfliment of the
designation criteria). In addition, the expected credit loss
model may result in early provision of credit losses which are
not yet incurred in relation to the Group’s financial assets

measured at amortised cost.
HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15
will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance
including HKAS 18 “Revenue”, HKAS 11

Contracts” and the related Interpretations when it becomes

“Construction

effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically,
the Standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue

recognition:

e  Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (continuea)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

° Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the

contract
e  Step 3: Determine the transaction price

e Step 4. Allocate the transaction price to the

performance obligations in the contract

e Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity

satisfies a performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more
prescriptive guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal

with specific scenarios.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS
15.

In 2016, the HKICPA issued Clarifications to HKFRS 15
in relation to the identification of performance obligations,
principal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing

application guidance.

The Directors anticipate that the application of HKFRS
15 in the future may result in more disclosures, however,
the Directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of HKFRS 15 will have a material impact on the
timing and amounts of revenue recognised in the respective

reporting periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # %=

2.

—NEFFZA=F—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (continuea)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will
supersede HKAS 17 “Leases” and the related interpretations

when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on
the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by
a customer. Distinctions of operating leases and finance
leases are removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced
by a model where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability have to be recognised for all leases by lessees,

except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain
exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease
liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the
present value of the lease payments that are not paid at
that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for
interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease
modifications, amongst others. For the classification of cash
flows, the Group currently presents upfront prepaid lease
payments as investing cash flows in relation to leasehold
lands for owned use while other operating lease payments
are presented as operating cash flows. Under the HKFRS
16, lease payments in relation to lease liability will be
allocated into a principal and an interest portion which will

be presented as financing cash flows.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2016 &£ =%

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (continuea)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continueq)

Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognised prepaid
lease payments for leasehold lands where the Group is a
lessee. The application of HKFRS 16 may result in potential
changes in classification of these assets depending on
whether the Group presents right-of-use assets separately
or within the same line item at which the corresponding

underlying assets would be presented if they were owned.

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially
carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS
17, and continues to require a lessor to classify a lease

either as an operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS
16.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of HK$53,009,000 as
disclosed in note 46. A preliminary assessment indicates
that these arrangements will meet the definition of a lease
under HKFRS 16, and hence the Group will recognise a
right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability in respect of
all these leases unless they qualify for low value or short-
term leases upon the application of HKFRS 16. In addition,
the application of new requirements may result changes
in measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated
above. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable
estimate of the financial effect until the Directors complete a

detailed review.

The Directors do not anticipate that the application of the
other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have material
impact on the consolidated financial statements of the

Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (“CQO”").

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis, except for certain properties
and financial instruments, that are measured at revalued
amounts or fair values at the end of each reporting period,

as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the

consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based
payment”, leasing transactions that are within the scope
of HKAS 17 “Leases”, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in

HKAS 36 “Impairment of assets”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueqd)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the

asset in its highest and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are

described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity

can access at the measurement date;
o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or

liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # %=

3.

—NEFFZA=F—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueqd)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved

when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to

one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group
loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and
expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the
Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to

control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueqd)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies

into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on

consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity including reserves and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted after re-attribution of relevant equity
component, and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to

owners of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueqd)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the
owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded
as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKAS 39, when applicable, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint

venture.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by
the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally

recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueqd)

Business combinations (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value,

except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS
12 “Income taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee benefits”,

respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or the share-
based payment arrangements of the Group entered into
to replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2

“Share-based payment” at the acquisition date; and

e assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current
assets held for sale and discontinued operations” are

measured in accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over
the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-
assessment, the net amount of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain

purchase gain.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of
the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation
may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-

transaction basis.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at acquisition date (i.e. the date
when the Group obtains control), and the resulting gain
or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition
date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss
where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest

were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement
period, and additional assets or liabilities are recognised,
to reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that

date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Acquisition of a subsidiary not constituting a business
When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities
that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies and
recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price first to
the financial assets and financial liabilities at the respective
fair values, the remaining balance of the purchase price
is then allocated to the other individual identifiable assets
and liabilities on the basis of their relevant fair values at the
date of purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to

goodwill or bargain purchase gain.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business

less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(“CGUs") (or groups of CGUs) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, which represent the
lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an operating

segment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # %=

3.

—NEFFZA=F—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may be
impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting
period, the cash-generating unit (or group of CGUs) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount
is less than the carrying amount, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group of
CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU, the attributable amount of
goodwill is included in the determination of the amount of

profit or loss on disposal.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of

an associate is described below.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over those

policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing

control.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2016 &£ =%

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)
The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of associates and joint ventures
used for equity accounting purposes are prepared using
uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint
venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture.
When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or joint
venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate or
joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in
the associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on

behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # %=

3.

—NEFFZA=F—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)
An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the

investment is acquired.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss
with respect to the Group’s investment in an associate or a
joint venture. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of
the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal
of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the

investment subsequently increases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2016 &£ =%

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)
When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
When the Group retains an interest in the former associate
or joint venture and the retained interest is a financial
asset within the scope of HKAS 39, the Group measures
the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair
value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture and the fair value of any retained interest and
any proceeds from disposing the relevant interest in the
associate or joint venture is included in the determination of
the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture.
In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to
that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would
be required if that associate or joint venture had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a
gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive
income by that associate or joint venture would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss
from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment)

when the equity method is discontinued.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from
the transactions with the associate or joint venture are
recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint

venture that are not related to the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for for discounts,

returns and sales related taxes.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue
can be reliably measured; when it is probably that future
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when specific
criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities, as

described below.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the

goods are delivered and titles have passed.

Service income is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on

initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when
the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been

established.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold land and office buildings held for use in the
production or for administrative purposes, are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at their revalued
amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation
less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses. Revaluations
are performed with sufficient regularity such that the
carrying amount does not differ materially form that would
be determined using fair values at the end of the reporting

period.

Any revaluation increase arising on revaluation of such land
and buildings is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in land and building revaluation reserve,
except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease
of the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss,
in which case the increase is credited to profit or loss to
the extent of the decrease previously charged. A decrease
in carrying amount arising on revaluation of such land and
buildings is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it
exceeds the balance, if any, held in the land and building
revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that
asset. On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued
asset, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in the
land and building reserve is transferred directly to retained

earnings.

Property, plant and equipment (other than leasehold land
and office building and construction in progress) are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent

accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional
fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Such
properties are classified to the appropriate categories of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready
for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other assets, commences when the assets are

ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
or valuation of assets (other than properties under
construction) less their residual values over their useful
lives, using straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes

in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying

amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as

operating leases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2016 &£ =%

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as lessee
Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring
land held under operating leases, are recognised as an

expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter
into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a
liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as

a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements,
the Group assesses the classification of each element as
a finance or an operating lease separately based on the
assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of each element have
been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both
elements are operating leases in which case the entire lease
is classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the minimum
lease payments (including any lump-sum upfront payments)
are allocated between the land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold interests
in the land element and building element of the lease at the

inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease
payments” in the consolidated statement of financial position
and is amortised over the lease term on a straight-line
basis. When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably
between the land and building elements, the entire lease is

generally classified as a finance lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z —Z&

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the
end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms

of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items are

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Hong Kong Dollars) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and
expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates
for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity (exchange fluctuation
reserve). Exchange differences resulting from translation of
non-foreign operations to the Group’s presentation currency
accumulated in equity is reclassified to retained earnings

upon disposal of relevant group entity.

TCC International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2016

A

3.

FESFBEK (@)

gh g

REREEREEER Y BB REE 1
LM LAINE B (SME ) T 2 2 B TR
%5 B ERAERED  RREER B
SNEFIE Y S ERRZA 2 ERAERSE

BB -RAFEARIAINEIIEZ I
EXEBERATEEETER ZERAEX
ENBRE - AINE R BEKRANTEZIE
EWIEA TETEHNRE

EXHBRHENERBERENREEL Y
ERERNZEERELHE 2 BaNE

27
o ©

A MBREREIME AEREXERHKZ
BERABNRNEREHRZEHAEX
BERAEEZ2EE (AET) - WA
EAXEERZPHEz FHOEXRBE K
eI L A PN P U i
ERAT ARRFAZERGRE -ELZE
RER (WA) IR A2 RS AR R
R (HMNEFBR) AR - REIEE
SINEBRARE 2 2P EEAELY 25
ARG ZERZENLEAHESEEER
ENOBEREAN-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are

substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for

capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in

the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be

received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government
grants whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets
are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or
loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives

of the related assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Government grants (Continued)

Government grants that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they become receivable.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefits scheme
including Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and the
employee’s pension schemes of the respective municipal
government in various places in the PRC where the Group
operates are recognised as an expense when employees

have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently

payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary differences arises from the initial

recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in

the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will

be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # %=

3.

—NEFFZA=F—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continueq)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively

enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of

its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is

included in the accounting for the business combination.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect at any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective

basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is

regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are
reported at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as
intangible assets that are acquired separately. Amortisation
for intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a

straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in the profit or loss when the asset is

derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # %=

3.

—NEFFZA=F—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets other than
goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the
asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual CGUs, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and

consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future

cash flows have not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets other than
goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced
below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero.
The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount under another standard, in
which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation

decrease under that standard.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a CGU) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount under another standard, in
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as

a revaluation increase under that standard.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # %=

3.

—NEFFZA=F—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost of inventories comprises direct materials and,
where applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads
that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition. Cost of inventories are
determined on a weighted average method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and the costs

necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions

of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Financial assets are classified into the following specified
categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL”), available-for-sale financial assets (“AFS”) and
loans and receivables. The classification depends on the
nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined
at the time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or

convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on

initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis
for debt instruments other than those financial assets
classified as at FVTPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of

selling it in the near term; or

e on initial recognition, it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term

profit-taking; or

e itis a derivative that is not designated and effective as a

hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any
gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any dividend earned on the financial assets. Fair

value is determined in the manner described in Note 43.

AFS financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated as available-for-sale or are not classified as (a)
loans and receivables (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c)

financial assets at FVTPL.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market
price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and must
be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity investments
are measured at cost less any identified impairment losses

at the end of each reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition,
loans and receivables (including trade receivables, other
receivables, loan receivables, time deposits, cash and bank
balances and pledged bank deposits) are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any

impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate, except for short-term receivables where the

recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed
for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting
period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired
when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one
or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the

financial assets have been affected.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of

impairment could include:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or

counterparty; or

e breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in

interest or principal payments; or

e it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # %=

3.

—NEFFZA=F—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continueq)

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of
receivables could include the Group’s past experience of
collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed
payments in the portfolio past the average credit period,
observable changes in national or local economic conditions

that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount
of the impairment loss recognised is the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial

asset’s original effective interest rate.

For financial assets that carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such

impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with
the exception of trade receivables and other receivables,
where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When
trade receivables and other receivables are considered
uncollectible, they are written off against the allowance
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously

written off are credited to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continueq)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in
a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the

impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an

equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a Group are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue

costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or

cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # %=

3.

—NEFFZA=F—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition. Interest expense is recognised on an

effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities at amortisation costs

Financial liabilities including trade payables, other payables,
bank loans and amount due to immediate holding company
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the

effective interest method.

Non-redeemable convertible preference shares

Non-redeemable convertible preference shares in which the
Group has no contractual obligation to redeem and will be
only settled by the exchange of fixed number of the Group’s

own equity instruments is classified as equity instruments.

The balance will be transferred to share capital and share
premium once preference shares are converted. Any excess
of par value of issued ordinary shares will be transferred to

share premium.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payments when due in accordance with the terms of a debt

instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
initially measured at their fair values and, if not designated
as at FVTPL are subsequently measured at the higher of: (i)
the amount of obligation under the contract, as determined
in accordance with HKAS 37 “Provisions, contingent
liabilities and contingent assets”; and (i) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation

recognised over the guarantee period.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative are initially recognised at fair value at the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to the fair values at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or

loss immediately.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the

contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit

or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid

and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

For grants of share options that are conditional upon
satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value of
services received is determined by reference to the fair value
of share options granted at the grant date and is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a

corresponding increase in equity (share option reserve).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates
during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share option

reserve.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2016 &£ =%

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share-based payment transactions (Continued)
Share options granted to employees (Continued)
When the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share

option reserve will be transferred to retained earnings.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTIES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the Directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual

results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current

and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing
material adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets

within the next financial year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTIES (continued)

Impairment of goodwill

Determining the amount of impairment for goodwill requires
an estimation of the recoverable amount, which is the value
in use of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) or groups
of CGUs to which goodwill is allocated. The value in use
calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by the management and requires key
assumptions, including the discount rates, expected growth
rates, sales volume and selling prices of the products. As
at 31 December 2016, the carrying amount of goodwill is
HK$3,331,809,000 (2015: HK$3,555,995,000). Details of

the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in Note 18.

Valuation of trade receivables, loan receivables and
other receivables

In determining the recoverability and allowance amount of
trade receivables, the management considers the credit
quality of individual trade receivables, including default
or delay in payments, settlement records, subsequent

settlements and ageing analysis of the trade receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTIES (continued)

Valuation of trade receivables, loan receivables and
other receivables (Continued)

Where there is objective evidence of impairment of
other receivables and loan receivables, the management
determines the recoverability and allowance amount of
other receivables and loan receivables by considering any
significant financial difficulty of the counterparty, breach
of contract such as default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments or possibility that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

As at 31 December 2016, the carrying amount of (i)
trade receivables being overdue are HK$66,478,000; (i)
advances to independent third parties included in other
receivables are HK$139,982,000 (2015: HK$237,452,000)
(net of accumulated impairment loss of HK$106,315,000
(2015:HK$15,767,000)); (iii) loan receivables due from
various government sectors are HK$38,373,000 (2015:
HK$62,433,000) (net of accumulated impairment of
HK$85,655,000 (2015: HK$85,058,000)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # %=

4.

—NEFFZA=F—HIFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTIES (continued)

Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and
equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives. Management
estimates the useful lives of property, plant and equipment
to be within 5 to 50 years. The carrying amount of the
Group’s property, plant and equipment at 31 December
2016 was HK$15,009,306,000 (2015: HK$17,102,276,000).
Changes in the expected level of usage and technological
developments could impact the economic useful lives
and the residual values of these assets, and therefore
future depreciation charges could be revised. The carrying
amounts of property, plant and equipment are assessed
for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that
the carrying amounts of the property, plant and equipment
may exceed their recoverable amounts. The Directors of
the Company exercise their judgement in estimating the
recoverable amount. Where the recoverable amount is less
than its carrying amount, an impairment loss may arise. The
Directors conducted a review of the Group’s production
assets and determined that the assets of certain subsidiaries
were fully impaired because it is expected that these
assets will not generate future benefit to the Group. During
the year ended 31 December 2016, impairment loss of
HK$120,079,000 (2015: Nil) has been recognised in respect

of those property, plant and equipment (see Note 15).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTIES (continued)

Estimated impairment of inventories

The Group makes impairment loss of inventories based on
an assessment of the net realisable value of inventories.
Impairment losses are applied to inventories where events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the net realisable
value is lower than the cost of inventories. The identification
of obsolete inventories requires the use of judgement
and estimates on the conditions and usefulness of the
inventories. In cases where the net realisable value of
inventories assessed are less than expected, a recognition
of impairment loss of inventories may arise, which would
be recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
such recognition takes place. At 31 December 2016, the
carrying amount of inventories is HK$1,175,793,000 (2015:
HK$1,082,570,000) (net of accumulated impairment of
HK$60,575,000 (2015: HK$57,941,000)).

Deferred tax assets

The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends
on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future. In cases where the
actual future profits generated are less than or more than
expected, a reversal or a recognition of deferred tax assets
would be recognised on profit or loss in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income for the year in which
such a reversal or recognition takes place. As at 31
December 2016, the carrying amount of deferred tax assets
is HK$114,455,000 (2015: HK$143,294,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # %=

5.

—NEFFZA=F—HIFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s operating businesses are structured and

managed separately according to the nature of their

operations and the products and services they provide. Each

of the Group’s operating segments represents a strategic

business unit that offers products and services which are

subject to risks and returns that are different from those

of the other operating segments. Summary details of the

reportable segments are as follows:

(i

(i)

the import, distribution and handling of cement
segment which is the import, distribution and handling

of cement in Hong Kong;

the manufacture and distribution of cement, clinker,
concrete and other cement related products segment
which is the manufacture and distribution of cement,
clinker, concrete and other cement related products in
the PRC; and

the investment holding segment which is the
investments in listed and unlisted equity securities
and management of exchange rate exposure through

currency derivatives.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue and results

5.

The following table presents revenue and results by

reportable segments.

Import,
distribution and

Manufacture and
distribution of cement,
clinker, concrete and
other cement related

DEER (&)
DU &
TEREHRTERSBED 2 KWAERE

handling of cement products Investment holding Elimination Consolidated
B0 28R HERAEKE BB
REXE BRIREMKREBESR REER £# E)
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
ZB-RE -Z-1f ZB-3F _-T-1f ZB-XF C-T-1F ZB-AF _-T-1f CZB-Rf C_T-1f
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FEL TER TE TER TR TER TR FAT FAT
Segment revenue Bl
Sales to external customers BETHERP 364,382 442,171 11,048,432 10,468,898 - - - - 11,412,814 10,911,069
Inter-segment sales PHEEE - - 48,306 17,622 - - (48,306) (17,622) - -
364,382 442,171~ 11,096,738 10,486,520 - - (48,306) (17,622) 11,412,814 10,911,069
Segment profit loss) AHEH (E8) 66,965 78,341 640,121 129,661 63,122 21,092 - - 770,208 186,910
Unallocated central administration costs & 2 BFRITHMA (133,153) (98,969)
Unallocated other income, FOREMIA Wz REE
gains and losses (94,560) (197,764)
542,495 (109,823)
Finance costs BERK (262,169)  (277,871)
Share of profits of assoclates EEBERE 2 ERN 172,795 122,050
Share of loss of a joint venture ElE-BaEREBE (10,470) (1,324)
Proft oss) beforetex BRIEH (58) 442651 (266969
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # %=

5.

—NEFFZA=F—HIFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in
Note 3. Segment profit (loss) represents the profit earned
by (loss from) each segment without allocation of central
administration costs (including Directors’ salaries), certain
other income, gains and losses, finance costs, share of
profits of associates and share of loss of a joint venture. This
is the measure reported to the executive Directors, being the
chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of resource

allocation and performance assessment.

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market prices.

The Group has no customers that contributed over 10% of

the total revenue of the Group for both years.

No analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by operating
segments is disclosed as it is not regularly provided to the

executive Directors for review.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographical information

The Group operates in three principal geographical areas

— Taiwan, Hong Kong and the PRC. The following table

provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue by location

of customers, irrespective of the origin of the goods and

5.

PEHER (&)

ih & & R
AEER=EEEMWE-48 FBRT
g TRARES IELDIT 2 A E
M > ez (R RRE 2 RER) -

services:
Taiwan Hong Kong The PRC Elimination Consolidated
= i h g FE]
2016 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
ZE-XE 21 ZB-XE -E-nf ZB-XE -1 ZB-RE C-EZ-1E ZB-RE C-E-n%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TAn Thx TERx TEL TEn ThL TERL TEL
Segment revenue AHlE
Sales to external customers HETINGRR - 364,382 42171 11,048,432 10,461,567 - - 11412814 10,911,069
Inter-segment sales PHEHE - 48,306 17,622 - - (48,306) (17,622) - -
- 412,688 459,793 11,048,432 10,461,567 (48,306) (17,622) 11,412,814 10,911,069

Analysis of the Group’s non-current assets by geographical

location of the assets are detailed below:

AEBREEMGEMRED ZIFRDEE
DT

Hong Kong The PRC Consolidated
BE H &®e
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
“E-xE ZT-1F ZB-"E —T-h§ ZE-RE —T-IF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TER TR TEL TR TER
Non-current assets FRBDEE 63,849 64,796 21,007,045 23,332,199 21,070,894 23,396,995

note: Non-current assets excluded interests in associates, interest

in a joint venture, other financial assets, available-for-sale

investments, pledged bank deposits and deferred tax assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. 2EER (&)
Other segment information Hfth 5 & #
Manufacture and
distribution of cement,
Import, clinker, concrete and
distribution and other cement related
handling of cement products Investment holding Consolidated
B0AER RERAHAR BR-
REAR ERIREMAREBESR RELRK &
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
ZB-xf C-T-nf ZB-RE _T-1n% ZB-X§f _T-1Ff ZB-AF _T-1F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TiEn TER TR TER FiEn TER TiEn
Amounts included in the measure of st ED BEEH
segment results: st Az &8:
Allowance for doubtful debts of ERE R
trade receivables AERE - - 88,478 297 - - 88,478 297
(Gain) loss from changes in fair value ~ KEHER FHEZ
of held-for-trading investments BEZATEES
(W) BE - - - - (373) 11,550 (373) 11,550
Gain from changes In fair value of REETARATETA
financial assets designated BR/eREAEL
as at FVTPL ATESH 2R 5 - = - (88,354) - (88,354) -
Depreciation and amortisation EREHE 1,995 1,970 1,292,189 1,338,301 1,483 1,236 1,295,667 1,341,507
Dividend income from listed equity TRARERSMA
investments - - - - (687) (1,107) (687) (1,107)
Impairment loss of AHHEREL
available-for-sale investments HEEE - - - - 2,928 2,588 2,928 2,588
Impairment loss of inventories FEZREFR - - 6,325 7,040 - - 6,325 7,040
Impairment loss of property, nE BERREL
plant and equipment AEEE - - 120,079 - - - 120,079 -
Impairment loss of prepaid lease BREERERERE
payments - - 801 - - - 801 -
Net impairment loss (reversal of ARERET R EKHIE
impairment loss) recognised in ZBRIREER
respect of loan and (REBERE)FE
other receivables - - 101,618 (15,415) - - 101,618 (15,415)
Loss on disposal of property, LENE-
plant and equipment BEREE ER 223 2 8,067 8,763 - - 8,290 8,765
Amounts regularly provided to the THREFEIELERESE
chief operating decision maker BRRGENHEER
but not included in the measure of FAZEE:
segment results:
Bank interest income FAFEUA (170) (3674 (46663  (76,189) (8,341) 7129 (55,174) (86,985
Finance costs RENE 1 1 126,594 146,989 135,574 130,881 262,169 277,871
Share of profits of associates FEGBEE 1N E) 25 - - - - (172,795) (122,050) (172,795) (122,050)
Share of loss of a joint venture BlE-HAERRZER - - - - 10,470 1,324 10,470 1,324
Income tax expense (credit) ek (B2) 11,056 12,561 204,806 (45,628) 9,357 12,261 225,219 (20,806)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
GFEMBImRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

REVENUE 6. W=
Revenue represents invoiced amount of sales of cement, W s IBRITIN R ERE@AESEHE 2
clinker, concrete and other cement related products, net of KE ~ Bk R L R HMKEAREE M
discounts, returns and sales related taxes. EBREo
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows: REEB WS 2 /T :
2016 2015
ZE-XEF —E-hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FETT
Sales of cement and clinker 85 B KR R AR 11,179,040 10,629,842
Sales of concrete and HERRLT N
other cement related products H Ak AR E M 233,774 281,227
11,412,814 10,911,069
INVESTMENT INCOME 7. REWA
2016 2015
—E-RE —ZET-RHEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Dividend income from listed ERRAIEE R EBA
equity investments 687 1,107
Bank interest income 1T A B WA 55,174 86,985
55,861 88,092
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEVBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

7. INVESTMENT INCOME (Continued) 7.

Investment income earned from financial assets, analysed by

category of assets, is as follows:

BEWA (&)
SRAEMBBZBERAREERRNY
ST -

2016 2015

ZE-XEF —E-hF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FHET

Held-for-trading investments BERSREZIEE 687 1,107
Loans and receivables B WG IE

(including cash and bank deposits) (BiERe RIBTHER) 55,174 86,985

55,861 88,092
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

8. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

8. Httlk A WEREE

2016 2015
—E-RE —T—hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Gain from changes in fair value of KREEEAREATHESAEBE S
financial assets designated CREECAFEES W=
as at FVTPL 88,354 -
Gain (loss) from changes in fair value of K E#FH{EX 5 HER 2
held-for-trading investments WEZ RN FEEE 2 W
(E18) 373 (11,550)
Government grants (note) RS EL (H72) 52,403 57,046
Net exchange loss b 5 FE S (225,392) (381,322)
Rental income Ha WA 725 271
Allowance for doubtful debts of trade  FEUE FIRH Z RIREE
receivables (Note 28) (H17#28) (88,478) (297)
Impairment loss of available-for-sale AN ERE 2 REEE
investments (Note 23) (H1#23) (2,928) (2,588)
Impairment loss of property, plant and  #1% - BiE L& E 2
equipment (Note 15) EAEEE (fiE15) (120,079) -
Impairment loss of prepaid lease ENHEEREZ
payments BB EE (801) -
Net (impairment loss) reversal of B 28 e WU R I b e R ER IR
impairment loss recognised in respect 2 2R CREEE)
of loan and other receivables (Note 27) R {E & 18 B B %58 (f1:727) (101,618) 15,415
Others H Al 24,265 41,958
(373,176) (281,067)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEVBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

8. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES

(Continued)

note:Included in the amounts are HK$455,000 (2015: Nil)
representing deferred income on government subsidies
recognised during the year in relation to capital expenditure
on technological research and development projects over the
projects lives. The remaining amount represents the incentive
subsidies provided by the PRC local authorities to the Group
to encourage investments in certain specific locations. There
is no specific condition attached to the latter grants, which are

recognised upon receipts.

8.

Hag A - MBEBEREE (&)

i BEt A©%E455,0008 0 (ZE—RHF:
) B E N E MR 2 BUT AL 2 R E IR
A B RIBEFRARMAZEIER &
ANBAE - hEEIE P B T BA A AR @
R EEMAL EUSE S TRt
22 % & o 18 F 2 % Bb HE AR B 75 5 B
- REBERUEHRER T IARER -

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. ®ME KA
2016 2015
—EB-XEF —E-hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THExT FHET
Interest on: T ZFE
Bank loans RITER 243,607 254,213
Loan from immediate holding company RE BEEBIZR A A2 EX 18,562 25,740
Total borrowing costs BIEE AR 262,169 279,953
Less: Amounts capitalised in B RERIREF
construction in progress BRI EE - (2,082)
262,169 277,871

Borrowing costs capitalised arose on specific borrowings to

finance the construction in progress for 2015.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SGEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

10. PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAX

10. BRBL AR A (BE)

2016 2015
—E-RE —T—hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Profit (loss) before tax has been arrived & Al A (E518) 2 1k
at after charging the following: T3 &8 :
Directors’ remuneration (Note 11) BEEME (HiFT11) 7,185 3,610
Other staff cost HE# 8 TR
Salaries and other benefits FekEMER 715,740 674,266
Other pension costs and mandatory H AR IR AR &
provident fund contributions BB MR 85,322 82,144
Total staff costs #wE TR 808,247 760,020
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERXETE
equipment (note) (B1et) 1,179,238 1,228,662
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments T8 1 & 3k 78 # $4 59,956 62,719
Amortisation of intangible assets mREE#E
(included in cost of sales and general (2 &t AHER A K
and administrative expenses) —MITBHAX) 19,623 13,877
Amortisation of mining rights PR B
(included in cost of sales) (BRFAHERA) 36,850 41,249
Auditor’s remuneration 2% 856 BN & 7,623 7,292
Impairment loss of inventories FEZRERE
(included in cost of sales) (BETABERA) 6,325 7,040
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BWE K
plant and equipment R 28 8,290 8,765
Operating lease payments in respect of FAEWEZ&LHAEMA S
rented premises 15,151 13,417
&REMEEHRRAS] 2016 Fif
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

10. PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAX (Continued)

The Group has no forfeited contributions from the retirement

benefit scheme for both years.

note: During the year, no depreciation charge (2015: HK$1,203,000)

10. RBiARF () (&

EOR YA K -

relating to plant and machinery used in buildings under

construction was capitalised under construction in progress.

11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to

the applicable Listing Rules and CO, is as follows:

Executive Directors (nofe 4/
HiTES(Miita)

7R R B 10 54 o flE 4R 2 3 SRR ARAR AR 81 2

WiF: AEELEBEZEFHRERBRRE R

WEEBZITEER(ZE—RF:
1,208,000/ 70 ) MR TIRTE T T IAE

AL o

M.EEREEMNE

EExME

Non-executive Directors (1ot b)

FUTES (M)

EZBMEwT:

Independent non-executive Directors (10t ¢/
BUFHTES(Miie)

RIEA LR R R FHERPIEEEE
FEE

K00, wu Hung CHANG,  CHANG, WANG, LIAO, CHIH SHIEH
Cheng-Yun, Yih Jin- SHAN An-Ping, Kang-Lung, Lishin, Poon Huai, Ching Kang, Jen-Chung,
Leslie Chin Yang  Sub-total Weijian Nelson Jason  Elizabeth  Sub-total Donald  Kenneth Roger  Sub-total Total
Eif REH HESR gt EER XY Rl EREY it 23] HEE EEES At &t
HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
Fin TEn Fin Fin TEn Fin Fin Fikn FEn Fin Fin TEn Fin Fin
216
Fees 220 - - 220 220 220 220 220 880 220 220 220 660 1,760
Other emoluments
Salaries and allowances - 841 248 1,089 - - - - - - - - - 1,089
Performance related bonuses gz 310 - 100 40 - - - - - - - - - 40
Retirement bengfits RIER - 3,926 - 3,926 - - - - - - - - - 3,926
Total emoluments e 530 4,767 348 5,645 220 220 220 220 880 220 220 220 660 7,185
Executive Directors (nofe / Non-executive Directors (nofe 6) Independent non-executive Directors (nofe ¢/
4783 (Wita) FATES (Wiin) BUFAGE )
Koo, WU CHANG, CHANG, WANG, LIAO, CHIH SHIEH
Cheng-Yun, Yih SHAN An-Ping,  Kang-Lung, Lishin, Poon Huai, ~ Ching Kang, ~ Jen-Chung,
Leslie Chin Sub-total Weijian Nelson Jason Elizabeth Sub-total Donald Kenneth Roger Sub-total Total
BAR REH it Efg Y (- F ENOY U5 BAE tER #Es it Eh
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TEn Fén Fn FEn FEn FEn TEn TiEn Tén FéEn Fin Fén FEn
2015 “2-1f
Fees [ 220 - 20 20 20 220 220 880 220 220 220 660 1,760
Other emoluments e
Salaries and allowances FoREH - 1360 1360 - - - - - - - - - 1,360
Performance related bonuses BB RS2 A 310 180 490 - - - - - - - - - 490
Total emoluments e 530 1,540 2,070 20 20 220 220 880 220 220 220 660 3610
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
GFEMBImRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ MNEEREEME &)

EMOLUMENTS (continuead)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued) BEEME (&)

notes: Hit -

(a) The executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were for () LA TESTHE IRFEZELAEEARAQT
their services in connection with the management of the affairs REAEBEHEREZRBMIEL -BKRE
of the Company and the Group. Except for the salaries and REEZEHS KOFRIN ARAIEZHE
allowances of Mr. Wu Yih Chin, emoluments of other Directors HEECMENREREE 2 ERIBEEN
and performance related incentive bonuses and retirement 2 BB IEAL FORIKTEF

benefits of Mr. Wu Yih Chin were paid by the Company.

(b) The non-executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were (b) EHMFERITEEWEIRBEEETEAQA
for their services as Directors of the Company. ERREZREMEL -

(c) The independent non-executive Directors’ emoluments shown (c) LEMBUFNITESE IR ESELR
above were for their services as Directors of the Company. NRIEFRBE 2R MEL -

The performance related bonuses is determined with MERBEB LA DIRBEASEEERE

reference to the performance of the Group’s operation. M E ©

The emoluments of Directors are determined by the EEe NEFHNEZES2EEARAK

remuneration committee having regard to the performance MIZBEEMETE

of individuals and market trends.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

EMOLUMENTS (continuead)

Employees’ emoluments

During the year, the five highest paid individuals included
one Director (2015: two Directors), details of whose
emoluments are set out above. The emoluments of the

remaining four (2015: three) highest paid individuals are as

MNEEREEME »)

BEEME

RAFEERN AEEaFMALTEE %
(ZZE—1F MB)EF EHFMFBE
BIMEX-EBpMNE (ZFE—RF: =
R)RBFHMA L ZEHBERII T

follows:
2016 2015
—E—RE —E-hF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT FAET
Salaries and other benefits e M HEMER 2,001 1,541
Retirement benefits scheme R ARAE FIET B R
contributions 46 69
Performance related bonuses B3 3% 3R B R 2 FEAT 2,954 1,108
5,001 2,718
Their emoluments were within the following bands: EHENTTHEE:

Number of employee

BEAH
2016 2015
—E-RE —T—RF
Up to HK$1,000,000 K% 141,000,000 7T 3 2
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T — 1,500,000 7T - 1
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T —2,000,000% 7T - -
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T — 2,500,000 7T 1 -

During the year, no remuneration was paid by the Group
to the Directors or the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office (2015: nil). None of the
Directors has waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
during the year (2015: nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

12.INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT)

12. BBt (E%)

2016 2015
—E—XF —ZT—REF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THER FHT
Current tax: B EITIIE -

Hong Kong B 11,195 13,704
PRC Enterprise Income Tax REIEST 229,464 101,672
Withholding tax TEHH 69 736
240,728 116,112

Overprovision in prior years: BEFEEEBR:
Hong Kong A - (1,060)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax PRI EMSH (6,761) (37,272)
(6,761) (38,332)
Deferred tax (Note 25) EIERIE (H75225) (8,748) (98,586)
225,219 (20,806)

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the

estimated assessable profits for both years.

Under the Law of PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008

onwards.

Certain PRC subsidiaries of the Company are entitled to the
preferential tax treatment for Western Development Policy
(the “WDP Policy”). The applicable reduced preferential
Enterprise Income Tax rate under the WDP Policy is 15% for

an effective period up to 2020.

B TS B T 18 0 PR 4F [ 2 i 3 ARt
5 $5216.5% 2 Bt 5 <

REBEPBEECEMBIOLR ([REMREHE])
REEMEREERRY PEME R
ZHMEA_FZEN\F—-B—BHER25% -

ARRZETHEMBARGERAIIKA
FZBR ([APBARFAEBER]) ZARKE
BoRBE_ZT-TFI-ARAME  REA
BRAREBRER Z CHIRBEREME
RER15% °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEVBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # %=

—NEFFZA=F—HIFE

12.INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT) (continuea)

Taxation arising in the PRC is calculated at the rates

prevailing in the relevant regions in the PRC.

The tax charge (credit) for the year can be reconciled to the

profit (loss) before tax per the consolidated statement of

12. 8B (ER) ()
8 B P EE A 2 B IR T AR R A A B AR R
WEZ RITR R E

FRZHRAEMX (FR) BirE B0 kM
EHRSERARTATG N (BE) 2 HRR

profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows: ™
2016 2015
—E-AF —E-nF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT FHET
Profit (loss) before tax A A A (E18) 442,651 (266,968)
Tax at PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate  JA A B (> ¥ P15 7 K25%
of 25% (2015: 25%) (note) (ZZ—HF 25%)
AHEZMIE (KT 110,663 (66,742)
Tax effect of share of profits of JEAEEEE R Al A A 2
associates HEwE (43,199) (30,513)
Tax effect of share of loss of EliE—MEaERABEL
a joint venture B 2,618 331
Tax effect of expenses not LI A3 -2
deductible for tax purpose 135,531 66,008
Tax effect of income not taxable BRARBMBRAZ RBEZE
for tax purpose (37,833) (24,606)
Overprovision in prior years BEFEREESE (6,761) (38,332)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AR ZRIEEBZRETE 66,451 68,641
Utilisation of tax losses previously not &) %t Bl R #E w2 2 Fi 1B fE5 1B
recognised (1,262) (2,602)
Income tax on concessionary rate HEEMETHE Ffr i) (4,111) 1,896
Effect of different tax rates of REMRDEERESE 2
subsidiaries operating in other =M RN e Z%&”E
jurisdictions (5,695) (7,003)
Withholding tax on undistributed RO EF 2z BN
earnings 9,361 12,189
Others HAtb (544) (73)
Income tax expense (credit) for the year ANFEFER S H (HKE) 225,219 (20,806)

note: The Group’s major operating subsidiaries are located in the

PRC and accordingly, income tax rate of 25% is adopted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

13. DIVIDENDS 13. R &
2016 2015
—RE —E—hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Dividends for ordinary and preference RARFE R &KAAQ
shareholders of the Company BHERD) JL@T’J"J = A
recognised the following as IR R R B AR AR R AR B
distribution during the year:
2015 Final — HK2.0 cents (2015: 2014 —RFRE—ER2.041U
final — HK13.0 cents) per share ZE—RF:ZF—
RHI—13.0/48 1) 108,756 492,697

The 2016 preferred distribution to convertible
preference shareholders totalling HK$24,222,000 (2015:
HK$24,223,000) was also recognised as distribution during
the year ended 31 December 2016.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2016 of
HK1.0 cent (2015: HK2.0 cents) per ordinary and preference
share, totalling HK$54,378,000 (2015: HK$108,756,000)
has been proposed by the Directors to be payable to
ordinary and preference shareholders and is subject to
approval by the ordinary shareholders in the forthcoming

annual general meeting.

X

BHE-_ZT—X"F+ZA=t+—RHL#F

NANMEBR T —NFELDIK
A 85 3 {8 5t AR I% PR 48 58 24,222,000/ 7T
— T — F 424,223,000/ 7T) °

AfHXEt

RBEERE EFCER
REEBRBRFEREHE-_T—F+=A
T —HLEFENRBRESREARKRR
BERIOBIW(ZZE—RF:2.08M) -
4% /354,378,000 L (Z T — A F:
108,756,000/ 7T ) * WA T E @A R
EERFBEFAE LBER  HAER-

Rl
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

14. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings (loss) per
share attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company

is based on the following data:

Earnings (loss) for the purposes of basic and diluted

earnings (loss) per share

14.BREF (&#E)
ANFEBRBREEESREAREER
Rl (E1B) HIRIBIA T 8UBE & -

RUGTEESREARBERR (BR) 2R

2016 2015
=¥ WAy —T—H%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THER FHET
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to 72 &% B A FEAG
owners of the Company REE&EN (EE) 193,840 (249,391)
Less: Preferred distribution in respect of Ji& : B8 Al B4R 8 ik 2
convertible preference share BEDIK (24,222) (24,223)
Undistributed earnings Al BB S R R R
attributed to convertible JEAE 2 R 5 K & F
preference shareholders (16,689) -
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to 7N 72 &) & 38 I A% 5 1k
ordinary shareholders of the Company A% [E& 5 (&18) 152,929 (273,614)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2016 &£ =%

14. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE (continuead)

HEMBRRME

—NFFZA=F—HIFE

14.BRER (F8) (#)

Number of shares & E
2016 2015
—E-RF —hF
000 000
T8 F &
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ iFE &R EAR L #55
shares in issue for the purposes of AF (BB MBZ
basic and diluted earnings (loss) BT B INEFE
per share 4,943,465 4,192,814

The computation of diluted earnings (loss) per share does
not assume the conversion of the outstanding convertible
preference shares because their exercise would result in an
increase in earnings per share for 2016 or a decrease in loss

per share for 2015.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for
the year ended 31 December 2015 was adjusted to reflect
the effect of bonus element of the rights issue which was

completed in July 2015.

AEESREERN (FR) R ERRLHR
RARTTEZ T ERELR (BRETER
EY T FERAMNENL -_F -1
FERERRD) -

BEHEE_T-RAFT_A=+—HILF
B2 B 81T E BB T B S B IA
RMRER-Z—AFEATKZHREL

Z%HFUE%;;“

SREMEERRAT 2016 £

A

203



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. Y1 %

HMER®RE

Cement  Leasehold Furniture,
plant land and fixtures
and office Plant and and office Motor Construction
facilities building ~ machinery  equipment vehicles Lighters in progress Total
KER HELH BER &R -£ER
k& RBLERT BE  BOERB RE Eh ERIR 2y
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET T TET T TET T TET T
COST OR VALUATION
At 1 January 2015 7,829,771 49,800 13,274,776 112,156 277,432 7,731 540,095 22,091,761
Additions NE 445 - 41,993 4,692 1,204 - 325,483 378,717
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries WEHBARKES
(Note 36) (H36) 1,384,929 - 1138621 30,253 18,306 - 80597 2,652,706
Disposals heE (4.473) - (27,193) (5,691) (4,365) - (163) (41,885)
Transfers o 164,993 - 258,198 7,260 4,235 - (434,686) -
Surplus on valuation Erya - 4,000 - - - - - 4,000
Exchange adjustments ERBE (455,453) - (720,640) 8113) (14,077) - (27,313 (1,225,79)
At 31 December 2015 WZE-R%+=-A=1+-H 8,920,212 53,800 13,965,755 140,457 282,535 7,731 484,013 28,854,503
Additions RE 18,864 - 47,658 1,897 1,555 - 98,094 168,068
Disposals e - - (25,308) (3721) (4,326) - - (33,355)
Transfers ar 15,435 - 64,456 7,861 750 - (88,502) -
Surplus on revaluation AR - 900 - - - - - 900
Exchange adjustments EXHBE (534,868) - (848,006) 9817) (16,580) - (30,951)  (1,440,222)
At 31 December 2016 R-E-RE+ZA=t+-H 8,419,643 54,700 13,204,555 136,677 263,934 7,731 462,654 22,549,894
Comprising: BE:
At cost KAE 8,419,643 - 13,204,555 136,677 263,934 7,731 462,654 22,495,194
At valuation 2016 RZB-RERE - 54,700 - - - - - 54,700
8,419,643 54,700 13,204,555 136,677 263,934 7,731 462,654 22,549,894
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION RHERAE
AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2015 W-E-15%-A-H 1,249,154 - 4,415,052 64,557 162,753 7,653 - 5,899,169
Charge for the year REERH 281,254 975 873,777 24,845 44,014 - - 1,224,865
Elimination on revaluation BiERH - (975) - - - - - (975)
Elimination on disposals HERH (646) - (6,461) (5,034) (3,672) - - (15,813)
Exchange adjustments EHEE (77,612) - (263,313) (4,890) (9,204) - - (355,019)
At 31 December 2015 RZZ-RF+-A=1-H 1,452,150 - 5019,055 79,478 193,891 7,653 - 675,227
Charge for the year REEZH 278,961 1,219 855,897 15,228 27,933 - - 1,179,238
Elimination on revaluation B HE - (1,219) - - - - - (1,219)
Elimination on disposals HERH - - (17,192) (3,047) (3,892) - - (24,131)
Impairment loss recognised in RERPEER
profit or loss REEE 70,641 - 41,273 84 393 - 7,688 120,079
Exchange adjustments EH A (109,240) - (356,106) (6,653) (13,607) - - (485,606)
At 31 December 2016 R=B-AE+=A=1-R 1,692,512 - 5,542,927 85,090 204,718 7,653 7,688 7,540,588
CARRYING VALUES BEE
At 31 December 2016 RZB-"E¥+ZA=1+-AH 6,727,131 54,700 7,661,628 51,587 59,216 78 454,966 15,009,306
At 31 December 2015 RZZ-RE+-A=1-H 7,468,062 53,800 8,946,700 60,979 88,644 8 484,013 17,102,276
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
GFEMBImRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. % -BMERSEE 2)
(Continued)
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or fair value MERELEME BMEREHE (EEIRER
of items of property, plant and equipment (other than SN)IBEMTERTAIAER  EHR AR EE
construction in progress), less their estimated residual (B )E FAEGEETE UM EKR
values, if any, using the straight-line method over their HAFE-FIEANERAAFERET

estimated useful lives as follows:

Cement plant and facilities 30 years IR B 3% 30%F
Leasehold land and Over the unexpired term FE & BHELOREmF B
office building of lease NN e
Plant and machinery 15 years % 55 Bt 23 154F
Furniture, fixtures and 5 years B HER 5%
office equipment MAZRME
Motor vehicles 5-10 years B 5Z 104
Lighters 10 years 3 1046
Impairment loss recognised during the year FRERIAREESE
During the year, the Directors conducted a review of the RAFE EFHAEENEERBEST
Group’s production facilities and determined that certain B WEEAKEZETEERRE &
assets of the Group were idle, obsolete or damaged. It is RIAXB -BAHMAFEESTERAKE
expected that those assets will not generate future benefit EERRFG Bt ERZSDE - BE
to the Group. Accordingly, impairment loss on the carrying RBEFETRZSEEIREERRAERD

amount of those assets amounting to HK$120,079,000 18120,079,000 7T (= F —HF M) -

(2015: Nil) was recognised in respect of those property,

plant and equipment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # %=

—NEFFZA=F—HIFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s leasehold land and office
building

The leasehold land and office building is situated in
Hong Kong and was revalued on 31 December 2016
at HK$54,700,000 (2015: HK$53,800,000) by Grant
Sherman Appraisal Limited, an independent firm of qualified
professional valuers, at open market value on existing use
basis. The resulting surplus arising from the revaluation at
31 December 2016 of HK$2,119,000 (2015: HK$4,975,000)
was dealt with in the land and building revaluation reserve.
Had there not been any revaluation of this property, its
carrying amount at cost less accumulated depreciation
at 31 December 2016 would be HK$1,261,000 (2015:
HK$1,297,000).

The fair value of the leasehold land and office building was
determined on the direct comparison approach. There had
been no change from the valuation technique used in prior
year. The fair value is assessed by reference to the recent
transactions of similar properties in the neighbourhood with
no significant adjustments to the observable inputs (i.e.
recent transaction price) and the fair value measurement
is categorised in Level 3. In estimating the fair value of the
properties, their current use equates to the highest and best
use. There have been no transfers into or out of Level 3

during the year.

The significant unobservable input is price per square
feet. By using direct comparison approach and taking into
account of location and other individual factors such as size,
building facilities, level, age of building, etc., the prices per
square feet (gross floor area) of the adopted comparables
ranged from HK$20,000/sq.ft to HK$41,000/sqg.ft (2015:

HK$17,000/sq.ft to HK$35,000/sq.ft).
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15.

16.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s leasehold land and office
building (Continued)

The management reviews the valuations performed by the
independent valuers for financial reporting purposes and
reports to the audit committee the valuation process and
result of the valuation at least every six months, in line
with the Group’s interim and annual reporting dates. The
management will verify all major inputs to the independent
valuation report, assess the property valuation movements
when compared to the prior year valuation report and hold

discussions with the independent valuers.

PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

15. ¥ -BERRE#)

FEECHELHEBAERFZAVE
(%)

B 1% [ 2 B 98 3L fik (B APt B 7% BR ¥R T #E 1T
ZEE XELBAEAR (FEAKEZH
HEhEEREAH)AEZEZEEREM
BEEREGEER EEBHZRER LA
BEREZHMBEERBGAER FHEEF
ZIEERSHL 2R GEESH KRBT
E1ERIETT A &

+

16. AFHERE

2016 2015

ZE-XEF —E-hF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FH& T FET

Leasehold land in the PRC R E 2 HE L 1,850,407 2,017,946
Analysed for reporting purposes as: DITEEHRA R

Non-current portion EmE I 1,794,820 1,957,979

Current portion mENER D 55,587 59,967

1,850,407 2,017,946
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

17.INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. 8 EE

Customer Computer
Goodwill base software Total
Be BEFEW® EMEH By
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FET FET FET

COST B
At 1 January 2015 R-ZE—hF—A—H 6,840,139 83,886 64,183 6,988,208
Arising on acquisition of WM B ARESE

subsidiaries (Note 36) (H1#36) 681,432 84,758 628 766,818
Additions NE - - 8,199 8,199
Exchange adjustments b AR (407,425) (4,068) (3,417 (414,910)
At 31 December 2015 MN-Z—RAF+-_F=1+—H 7,114,146 164,576 69,593 7,348,315
Additions NE - - 6,660 6,660
Exchange adjustments ME 5 AR (475,329) (4,746) (4,374) (484,449
At 31 December 2016 R-ZZE—-A"E+=-H=+—H 6,638,817 159,830 71,879 6,870,526
ACCUMULATED R BERRE

AMORTISATION AND

IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2015 R-_ZE—h%—A—H 3,773,416 83,886 26,765 3,884,067
Charge for the year REEZH - 8,212 5,665 13,877
Exchange adjustments ME AR (215,265) (312) (1,495) (217,072)
At 31 December 2015 R-_Z—AF+-A=1+—H 3,558,151 91,786 30,935 3,680,872
Charge for the year AEEZH - 13,342 6,281 19,623
Exchange adjustments b i (251,143) (1,061) (2,088) (254,292)
At 31 December 2016 R-ZB-XE+=-A=+—-H8 3,307,008 104,067 35,128 3,446,203
CARRYING VALUES REME
At 31 December 2016 R-ZB-X"E+=-A=+—-H 3,331,809 55,763 36,751 3,424,323
At 31 December 2015 RZE—RF+-_A=+—H 3,555,995 72,790 38,658 3,667,443

208 TCC International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2016
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17.

18.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually. Particulars
regarding its impairment testing are disclosed in Note 18. All
other intangible assets are amortised over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method, as follows:

Customer base 2-6 years

Computer software 5 years

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON
GOODWILL

For the purpose of impairment assessment, goodwill arising
from business combinations has been allocated to the

following CGUs or groups of CGUs:

17.

18.

BLEE (&)

BEREEEITRERN S - BB ERER
SHBORMEISRE- AR ETE
B EGERE AN T REREH:

EEER 2-64F
B RS 54
&R E A

SRBERNEME EBaHMELEZEHE
ERESEETNRSELEURRESESE
B AR

2016 2015

—E-XREF —E—RF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FAT

Upper Value Investments Limited Upper Value Investments Limited 1,606,752 1,718,111

TCC (Guigang) Cement Ltd. Ak (BE8)KEERAA 709,722 758,914

Kong On Cement Holdings Limited BEKRIERBER AT 16,598 17,678

Mining Industrial Companies (note a) BETIRRA (Kita) 239,121 254,200

Scitus Luzhou Companies (note b) EMBEATR (M) 144,535 153,569
Anshun Xin Tai Construction Materials Z/IEZAEM ERER A 7

Company Limited* (“Anshun Xin Tai”) (IZEgEE]) 4,518 4,800

TCC Huaying (as defined in Note 36) £ &8 (F & WM :+36) 58,400 62,050

TCC Huaihua (as defined in Note 36) Ak (1E)
( 7F = 1Bt 5536) 552,163 586,673
3,331,809 3,555,995

*

For identification purpose only

Y ERAS)

SREMEERRAT 2016 £

A

209



210

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

18. IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON

GOODWILL (continued)

notes:

(@) “Mining Industrial Companies” is a group of CGUs making
up of TCC Jiangsu Mining Industrial Company Limited,
TCC Guigang Mining Industrial Company Limited, TCC
Yingde Mining Industrial Company Limited and three other
subsidiaries, namely Jurong TCC Cement Co., Ltd., TCC
(Guigang) Cement Ltd., and TCC Yingde Cement Co., Ltd.

(b)  “Scitus Luzhou Companies” is a group of CGUs making up of
Scitus Naxi Cement Co., Ltd., Scitus Luzhou Cement Co., Ltd,
Scitus Hejiang Cement Co., Ltd and Scitus Luzhou Concrete

Co., Ltd.

All of these CGUs or groups of CGUs are operating under
the segment “Manufacturing and distribution of cement,
clinker, concrete and other cement related products”. During
the year ended 31 December 2016, the management of the
Group determined that there was no impairment of any of its

CGUs or groups of CGUs containing goodwill.

TCC International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2016
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

18. IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON

GOODWILL (continued)
The basis of the recoverable amount of the above CGUs or
groups of CGUs and its major underlying assumptions are

summarised below:

The recoverable amounts of these CGUs or groups of
CGUs have been determined based on a value in use
calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a 5-year period with growth rate ranging from 0%
to 3% (2015: of 2%) per annum, and a discount rate of
8.79% (2015: 8.21%) per annum. The cash flows beyond
the 5-year period are extrapolated with zero growth rate.
The key assumption for the value in use calculations is the
expected selling price of the products, which is determined
based on the unit’s past performance in past few years and

management’s expectations for the market development.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change
in any of these assumptions would not cause the aggregate
carrying amount of the manufacture and distribution of
cement, clinker, concrete and other cement related products
segment to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of

that segment.

18. BB RETH (&)

tHRSELABNRKREEEEMMARNZ
AU Bl SRR 2 A N H X 2R R ARt
(I

ZEReEXBUNREEEEGAR 2
AREHEDRBEREETE S AE
E et E A AREE R E iR
EENF o MBEEEINRSRES
FNFO%EINLHE(ZE—RAF:2%)
ZHEREAREGF879% (ZT—RF:
8.21% ) 2B EFH - AFEBHEMNREN
ERAZEBREME -FETHEENE
ERJBNEAEREE ZEREBRE
ZEUMNBEMFOREREREEYH TS
BRHTEHMmMEE -

EEERE EAZFRIAEHR A
MEBEH T SEHRER D HIR A
FORR R EMARMEBEER DR Z 2
REEBLZY A O aSEE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

19. MINING RIGHTS 19. R IEAE
HK$’'000
FET
cosT RA
At 1 January 2015 R-ZE—RHF—HA—H 539,618
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 36) WS B A RIS EE A (H7£36) 9,823
Additions NE 91,811
Reclassification from prepaid lease payments HENHEERBEEN 41,978
Exchange adjustments P& 5 % (31,457)
At 31 December 2015 RZE—RAF+ZHA=+—H 651,773
Additions NE 19,241
Exchange adjustments PE X 7% (39,540)
At 31 December 2016 R-ZE-R"F+=A=+—H 631,474
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION At BERREE
AND IMPAIRMENT

At 1 January 2015 RZE—hF—H—H 141,625
Charge for the year ZANCIEE: £t 41,249
Reclassification from prepaid lease payments HENEERBESNHE 12,615
Exchange adjustments PE X 7 & (8,844)
At 31 December 2015 RZE—RAF+ZA=+—H 186,645
Charge for the year NEZHH 36,850
Exchange adjustments bE 5 38 & (12,762)
At 31 December 2016 R-ZEBE-RE+=A=+—H 210,733
CARRYING VALUES BREE
At 31 December 2016 R=ZFE—XE+=HA=+-—H 420,741
At 31 December 2015 RZE-—RAFTZHA=+—H 465,128
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19.

20.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
GFEMBImRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

MINING RIGHTS (continued)

The mining rights are amortised using the straight-line

method to allocate their cost over their estimated useful lives

ranging from 3 to 30 years.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

19. BRIERE (&)

RERDABRER A G AIERFERN
FI3EB0F N H A o

20. B¢ & N TR

2016 2015
ZE-XEF —E-hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THER FETT
Cost of investments in unlisted JEETMEEE AT 2
associates & AR 1,268,977 1,268,977
Share of post-acquisition profits, and ~ fE/E BB 2 5 F &
other comprehensive income, Hih 2 W=
net of dividend income (R A B A) 198,375 298,266
1,467,352 1,567,243
Less: Impairment loss recognised B BRI EEE (50,824) (50,824)
1,416,528 1,516,419

These associates are strategic partnership for the Group,

providing access to new customers and markets in Hong

Kong and specific regions in the PRC.

HZEBERNTRAEHE

i3

TER -

F %
EHEZHEP REAZFMRTISZR
PAN

BEELRTEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

20.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 20. & QTR (#)

Details of the Group’s principal associates at 31 December

2016 and 2015 are as follows:

Name of associate

Place of
incorporation
and operation

- 1m

Proportion of
ownership interest
and voting power held

RZB-—RER-_FT-AF+-A=1+—
CAEEZTEBERT ZFERIIM

Principal activities

SE AL R HEERER
BHENR AR EEmH KR EELA TEEK
2016 2015
—E-XF —E-RF
Baoshan Kungang & The PRC 30% 30% Manufacture and
K. Wah Cement =8 distribution of cement
Construction Materials and clinker
Co. Ltd & K KR R A E
RILEBHEZEKRE
EMABRRAF
Hong Kong Concrete Hong Kong 31.5% 31.5% Production and distribution
Company Limited HE of ready-mixed concrete
BRETERAR EERDHEBHRREL
Prosperity Conch Cement  The PRC 25% 25% Manufacture and
Company Limited H distribution of
(“Prosperity Gonch”) cement and clinker
REFBKEEREME BER D HKR KA
DA ([HEEE])
Quon Hing Concrete Hong Kong 50% 50% Production and distribution
Company Limited HE of ready-mixed concrete
BERETERAR EERDHEBEHRREL
Sichuan Taichang Building  The PRC 30% 30% Manufacture and
Material Group i distribution of
Company Limited* cement and clinker
mIZERMEE SE RS AR RAE
BRAA]
Yunnan Kungang & The PRC 30% 30% Manufacture and
K. Wah Cement H distribution of

Construction Materials
Co. Ltd

EmEHEENREN
BRAE

*

For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SGEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

20.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 20.fE N TR ()
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s AEBTZCHMERRCHBENBESH
material associate is set out below. It represents amounts INT - EMIRBASBE ST BREE
shown in the associate’s financial statements after taking ZEBERNBMBHREMREE LR
into account the fair value adjustments made on acquisition RIEREL A FERFHZE -
prepared in accordance with the accounting policies of the
Group.
All of these associates are accounted for using the equity FIEZEBHERNTIRZSEAMBRE
method in these consolidated financial statements. AR A ARR
Prosperity Conch HEEEE
2016 2015
ZE-XEF —E-hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THER FETT
Current assets mENEE 1,653,880 1,862,849
Non-current assets FERBEE 1,881,630 1,943,025
Current liabilities mENBE (381,626) (331,859)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (168,000) (178,500)
Revenue W g 1,830,798 1,493,116
Profit and total comprehensive income 74 & 3% | &
for the year 2 W 4258 320,774 231,730
Dividends received from the associate  ZN 4 JE Ug Ex
during the year Bt DRI E 116,190 250,000
LREEEARAS 2016 £ 215
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEVBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 &%= —NEFZA=F—HIFE

20.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
Prosperity Conch (Continued)
Exchange loss of HK$41,411,000 (2015: HK$35,273,000)
arising on translation of interests in Prosperity Conch
to presentation currency of the Group for the year is

recognised in other comprehensive income of the Group.

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information
to the carrying amount of the interest in the associate

recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

20.

BENTER (2

HERRE(F)
REAFEHRERETEZEZAAEE
2 EEEE 2 E K E1841,411,00008 7T
(ZZ— A% 35,273,000 T) N AN & &
Hfth 2 E Uz N HERR ©

77

0

N

M B BRI R R A M HRR AR
ZH%"A”‘TEE\ BREEHROT

2016 2015

—RE —E—hF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Net assets of Prosperity Conch HEFRBEEFRHE 2,985,884 3,295,515

Proportion of the Group’s ownership REBREEEGE

interest in Prosperity Conch HEEESZ O 25% 25%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest 7S£ B A S 15 )5 12

in Prosperity Conch w2 REAE 746,471 823,879
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SGEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

20.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Aggregate information of associates that are not

individually material

20. B¢ & N TR (&)
EEBEABEAT 2 BHER

2016 2015
—E-RE —hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
The Group’s share of profit REBE R 92,601 64,117
The Group’s share of other REBNY
comprehensive income/(expenses) HzmkA (AX) 937 (377)
The Group’s share of total REBY
comprehensive income PENFERE 93,538 63,740
Aggregate carrying amount of the REBRZEBERNTZ
Group’s interests in these associates  #EZFAFTEREE 670,057 692,540
The unrecognised share of loss of N E AR R IE —
an associate for the year iR/ )= 4,782 4,308
Cumulative unrecognised share of FEAE —EEE Qa2 25T
loss of an associate RIEREE 9,090 4,308

Exchange loss of HK$44,815,000 (2015: HK$28,147,000)
arising on translation of interests in associates, that are not
individually material, to presentation currency of the Group

for the year is recognised in other comprehensive income of

the Group.

RAEZEHE
A 2

% EHFERERZBE D
mAAEBRIEKELZE
HE51844,815,0008 T (Z T — A F:
28,147,000/ 70 ) R AN & & 2 H th 2 E i
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEVBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

21.INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

21. —EEE L TS

2016 2015
—e—xE e
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Cost of investment in an unlisted —BELETEERH
joint venture ZIEKAR 12,300 12,300
Share of loss and other EEEEREMZEARS
comprehensive expense (12,300) (1,673)
- 10,627
Details of the Group’s joint venture at 31 December 2016 RZE—RFERZTE—RHFTZH=1T—

and 2015 are as follows:

Name of joint venture

incorporation
and operation

B AEEZAERRIZFBHINNAT

Proportion of
ownership interest
and voting power held

Principal activities

EEERER
EEQNTERE SR R E B REERERLLH FEEK
2016 2015
—E—XRHF —E—RF
ELZECEMBRAT 50% 50% Manufacture and

TCC International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2016
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

21.INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued) 21. —RBEE A RER (&)

22.

The joint venture is accounted for using the equity method in ZEERFNZREHFREVBREANRARE
these consolidated financial statements. O EANER o
2016 2015
ZE-XEF —E-hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FAT
The Group’s share of loss and total REBREREAFEBER
comprehensive expenses for the year 2 TH X 4258 (10,469) (1,324)
OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 2. Hitt e mEE
2016 2015
—E-RE —T—hfF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
Loan receivables due from various FEU Z A ER AT 3PP 2
government sectors (note a) ER (Hiita) 19,213 43,747
Long term rental deposits (note b) REHESES (HiEb) 828 828
20,041 44,575
notes: B 5 -

(@) Loan receivables due from various government sectors of @ ERZEABREIIMZERARE
RMB17,155,000 (2015: RMB36,762,000) (equivalent to 17,155,000 (ZE—HF: AR
HK$19,213,000 (2015: HK$43,747,000)) which are unsecured, 36,762,0007T) (48 #19,213,0007% T
repayable in more than one year and carry variable interest (ZZ—HF 43,747,000 L) ) B EIK
rate with reference to the benchmark loan rates of financial AR —FNEEE I@%EF‘ B AR
institutions set by the People’s Bank of China. TAHIE, @ BEEEEERFRIZTE

FEFTE -
(b) Long term rental deposits paid to a fellow subsidiary are non- b) BENEEHMEBRARZEHESESAR

interest bearing.

B o

o

SREMEERRAT 2016 £

A

219



220

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEVBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

23.

24.

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 23. A ERE
2016 2015
—e—xE —T-n%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THER FHET
Unlisted equity securities, at cost JEETIRARARFE 5 A 54,021 54,021
Less: Impairment losses recognised W EHERZREEE (19,568) (16,644)
34,453 37,377

The above unlisted investments represent investments
in unlisted equity securities issued by private entities
incorporated in Hong Kong and Taiwan. They are measured
at cost less impairment at the end of the reporting period
because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so
significant that the Directors are of the opinion that their
fair values cannot be measured reliably. As at 31 December
2016, accumulated impairment losses of HK$19,568,000
(2015: HK$16,644,000), which is recognised to the extent
that the carrying amount exceeded the present value
of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the
current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.
Accordingly, the impairment losses of HK$2,928,000 (2015:
HK$2,588,000) had been recognised in the year ended 31
December 2016 and included in profit or loss in the “other

income, gains and losses” line item.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/RESTRICTED
BANK DEPOSITS/TIME DEPOSITS/CASH
AND BANK BALANCES

Pledged bank deposits represent deposits made as
performance guarantee in relation to certain mining
contracts. The pledged bank deposits will be released upon
the completion of relevant mining contracts. They carry
interest at fixed rates ranging from 0.30% to 0.38% (2015:
0.35% to 2.67%) per annum.
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IEFERN - B #RRFEE 52,928,000/
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

24. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/RESTRICTED

BANK DEPOSITS/TIME DEPOSITS/CASH
AND BANK BALANCES (continuea)

Restricted bank deposits of RMB61,452,000 (equivalent
to HK$68,826,000) (2015: RMB59,357,000 (equivalent to
HK$70,635,000)) carry interest at fixed rates ranging from
0.35% to 1.10% (2015: 0.35% to 2.65%) per annum.

Cash and bank balances comprise cash held by the Group
and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of
three months or less, which carry interest at market interest
rates. Bank balances carry interest at prevailing market rates
which range from 0.01% to 2.60% (2015: 0.01% to 2.73%)
per annum. Time deposits carry interest at fixed rates
ranging from 1.30% to 3.30% (2015: 1.30% to 3.00%) per

annum.

Majority of the cash and bank balances were denominated in
RMB, of which HK$2,730,401,000 (2015: HK$4,004,550,000),
which is not a freely convertible currency in the international
market. The RMB exchange rate is determined by the
Government of the PRC and the remittance of these funds
out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions imposed

by the Government of the PRC.

Cash and bank balances that were denominated in foreign
currency other than the functional currencies of the relevant

group entities are set out below:

24. EERBITER ZREBT

TR EHER S BERET
HeRoE)

PR #Il 48R 17 77 A R #61,452,0007T (48
% 7068,826,000%& L) (ZET—HF: A
[ #59,357,0007T (4855 7470,635,000/%
T0) ) REEMENFEHEF0.35%%E1.10%
(ZZE—HF:0.35%%22.65% )t 8-

ReRPITHEBREEREERAEZRER
JRAB=EA LR =1E A B H I = T 5 F
KB 2R BRITIF R - RITHERIZRAT
MHMENTFHFF0.01%ZE2.60% (=ZF
—AHF:0.01%=E2.73% )5t B o T H 7 &
ZEEFMENTEF1.30%E3.30% (=F
—AF 1.30%%E3.00% ) 7F B °

REbh 2B & RIRITESRIUARESE
(H#2,730,401,0008 L (Z T —HF:
4,004,550,000% 7T) ) - T A R R
B Mm% FEREiR ARBERHPE
AT EE - Mk T RIEE B R ERIINER
R B BT B e 2 B PR Il BT AR IR o

BERASEERAEEB S MINESHE
MRS RERITAERRE ST -

2016 2015

—E—XRE —E-hF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTET FET

United States Dollars ETT 659,982 537,842
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

25. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

The following are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities)

25 EEMIBEE AFE
ATAAEBFERY T EREREEE

recognised by the Group and the movements thereon during (BB)MRAFERNNED -
the year.
Fair value Withholding
adjustments  Accelerated  Revaluation  Revaluation tax on
on business tax  of land and of mining undistributed ~ Tax losses
combinations  depreciation buildings rights earnings  and others Total
BRERAH mE TR RABEN  HEBER
ZATERE RERE BRER  RBEER ZRH Hih @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TERL TR TR TR TR TER
At 1 January 2015 RZZ-8%5-A-H (258,147) 37,492 (14,941) (3,280) (71,037) (2,692) (312,605)
Arising on acquisition of KENBARKEL
subsidiaries (Note 36) (Hi3#36) (91,810) 7,278 - - - - (84,532)
Credit (charge) to profitor loss ~ RERBHA (1K)
for the year (Note 12) (fizt12) 13,886 (3,287) 365 361 (12,189) 99,450 98,586
Withholding tax paid BRENH - - - - 24,779 - 24,779
Credit to other REMZEREA
comprehensive income - - (610) - - - (610)
Exchange adjustments ERHE 17,603 (2,054) 455 143 - (3,760) 12,387
At 31 December 2015 RZE-RE+-A=+—-H  (318468) 39,429 (14,731) (2,776) (58,447) 92,998 (261,995)
Credit (charge) to profit or loss ~ RERERA (1)
for the year (Note 12) (Hrz12) 35,813 4,030 818 342 (9,361) (22,894) 8,748
Withholding tax paid EREMR - - - - 12,576 - 12,576
Credit to other REMZERETA
comprehensive income - - (310) - - - (310)
Exchange adjustments EHAE 18,764 2,510) 500 148 - (4,495) 12,407
At 31 December 2016 RZE-RE+ZA=+-H  (263,891) 40,949 (13,723) (2,286) (55,232) 65,609 (228,574)
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HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

25. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

(Continueqd)
The analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial

reporting purposes is as follows:

2B EEHEEE, BB (&)

BB EMA R 2 BELERIBL D T A0
T

2016 2015

—E—RE —E—RF

HK$’000 HK$’000

THER FHET

Deferred tax assets R IEE E 114,455 143,294
Deferred tax liabilities R IE B & (343,029) (405,289)
(228,574) (261,995)

As at 31 December 2016, the Group has unused tax losses
of HK$1,412,118,000 (2015: HK$1,305,714,000) available
to offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of HK$244,613,000 (2015:
HK$386,701,000) of such losses. No deferred tax assets
have been recognised in respect of the remaining tax
losses of HK$1,167,505,000 (2015: HK$919,013,000) due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in
unrecognised tax losses are losses of HK$1,053,007,000
(2015: HK$745,472,000) which will expire at various dates

up to 2021. Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
companies from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation
has not been provided for in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of temporary differences attributable
to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to
HK$6,137,330,000 (2015: HK$5,842,854,000) as the Group
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences

will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

RZZE—RF+ZA=+—8B Xx£EH
KE AR IEEE1,412,118,0008 7T (= F
—F4F :1,305,714,0008 7T ) + A A K 85
R A o B h A B 5 18244,613,0008 7T
(ZZ—F%F : 386,701,000/ 7T ) FERIEIE
MIAE E - #2 T IAE181,167,505,000
EIL(ZZ—FH4:919,013,000/ 7t ) M
AR PR S M SRR 4 V5 TEDRD + B bt I A SR
FREERIBEE - AERMIEBERIE
BREE-ZT-—FRZZEAHER
2 JE5181,053,007,000/8 7t (=T — A F:
745,472,000/ 7T ) o H fth &5 18 F] MR PR R A5
$§o

BEPBRCEMSHE SHPEQFE
T N\F-A—ABRAEFMEIRZ
Ik BB TENE - B AR5 B A B 1%
TREEELN MENEBRUETER
AR R P BN E AR BitiE
FIFEAL ~ B 55 = %86,137,330,000/8 70 ( =
T — A F :5,842,854,0007%8 70 ) W £ A 4R
EMBHRERAEHREERIERE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEVBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

26. INVENTORIES 26. 7 &
2016 2015
—E—XE —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHT
Raw materials and consumables R R K SRS 720,710 611,877
Work in progress R 229,357 236,502
Finished goods SLAK on 225,726 234,191
1,175,793 1,082,570

During the year, the Group recognised impairment loss
of inventories in respect of long-aged consumables of
HK$6,325,000 (2015: HK$7,040,000).

RAFER AEBREHIERERT
57 R{EE 86,325,000 L (ZE—H

£F 17,040,000/ 7T) °

27. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 27. AR RE REREMERRIE

RECEIVABLES
2016 2015
ZE-REF —T—h#F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Prepayments B IR 361,545 248,436
Deposits g 124,471 170,255
Loan receivables due from various & W 2% (B BB PT 2 &R
government sectors (note a) (Hita) 19,160 18,686
Dividend receivables from associates & UgHE & A 7% B 30,000 20,000
Value-added tax recoverables AU [B] SR (E B 30,514 116,990
Amount due from a joint venture (note b) FEU — & & A B K18
(Heto) 7,803 8,237
Consideration receivable for disposal of g iH & A it HE R E
available-for-sale investments ez KB - 778
Other receivables (note c) H b B W IB (M itc) 139,982 236,674
713,475 820,056
224 TCC International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2016
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2016 &£ =%

27. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

notes:

(@)

At the end of the reporting period, loan receivables due
from various government sectors with an aggregate carrying
amount of HK$38,373,000 (2015: HK$62,433,000) are
unsecured, of which HK$19,160,000 (2015: HK$18,686,000)
are non-interest bearing and repayable within one year. The
remaining balance of HK$19,213,000 (2015: HK$43,747,000)
is interest bearing and repayable in more than one year, and
shown under non-current asset in "other financial assets" line

item as disclosed in Note 22.

Included in the carrying amount of loan receivables as at
31 December 2016 is accumulated impairment loss of
HK$85,655,000 (2015: HK$85,058,000). The management
has monitored the repayment of these loan receivables and
assessed the recoverability of these balances regularly to
determine the impairment loss. The management determined
that for those balances overdue more than one year which
are generally not recoverable, full provision for these balances
will be made. During the year, the Group has recognised
impairment loss of HK$11,724,000 (2015: HK$13,836,000) in
respect of loan receivables that have been overdue for more
than one year and reversed impairment loss of HK$5,862,000
(2015: HK$25,977,000) upon receipt of settlement of same

amount.

Amount due from a joint venture is non-interest bearing,

unsecured and repayable on demand.

27. 1+ F
(%)

(@)

HEMBRRME

—NFFZA=F—HIFE

RIE - BEREMEWRIER

k45 HA 5K - 48 BF T {B /A38,373,0007%
T — #F 162,433,000 L) &
ZEBMIAPFI2ERRERRF
H#H19,160,0008 T (=& — A F:
18,686,000/ 7T) AR B MAR —FNE
i o #:%819,213,000 L (ZE— R F:
43,747,000 70 ) Bt B RARZR —F
BE WAREHF2MBEBEFERDEE
ZIEMERMEEIET

R-ZE—RFEF+_A=+—HB AR
WEREABEZRBEC R RESIE

85,655,000/ T ( == —# 4 : 85,058,000
BIT) cBEREDEEZSRRERZEN
I 7E B AT A 5% 55 45 4 2 BT U [E] M DA TR SE R
BER-BEERTE NZSaH—FUE
—RRESEIE 2 AR BIEE 2R AR R
BoRAFERN AEEB G —FU
2 W E R B R 1811,724,00078
JL(ZZ— A 18,836,000/ 7T ) Ktk
51,7 7 A & 51 8 [l Al (5 18.5,862,00078 7T
(ZZ—HR%F:25977,00087T) °

R —MaErrRERLE BEAR
N EREFEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

27. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

notes: (Continued)

(©

Included in the carrying amount of other receivables as at
31 December 2016 are advances to certain independent
third parties with an aggregate amount of HK$139,982,000
(2015: HK$237,452,000) with accumulated impairment loss of
HK$106,315,000 (2015: HK$15,767,000).

During the year, the Group made an impairment loss of
HK$95,756,000 (2015: Nil) in respect of an advance to
a cement manufacturer which is also a customer of the
Group. Due to the delay of scheduled repayment from the
cement manufacturer to the Group as a result of its financial
difficulties, the Directors considered the actual future cash
flows would be less than expected. Accordingly, an impairment
loss on the advance was recognised in profit or loss. The
allowance for doubtful debts of trade receivables due from this

cement manufacturer is included in note 28.

For the remaining balances, no impairment loss has been
made by the Group as at 31 December 2016 (2015: reversed
impairment loss of HK$3,274,000 upon receipt of settlement

of same amount).

In addition, the Group has not written off any other receivables

during the year (2015: HK$8,262,000).
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RZZE—RNF+_A=+—8B HiElk
NEREEREETE=F 28 REHE
139,982,000 7T ( = Z — A 4F : 237,452,000
B or) & R 5 E E18106,315,0007% T
(ZZ—F4% 15,767,000/ 7T) °

AARFER - AEERG—EKRERIERZ
BR(HMAREE—2FP ) (ELRER
95,756,000/ T (ZZE —H & i) |
PR RZ K e B4 38 7 R L B 7S R £ i 4O TE
ZER BEERAERARBERERT
WTEER - At - BB EBIBERBE
R ERZICRRERE 2 B 5 EKRIE
2 RERBBERI5E28 o

RZZE—RFE+-_A=Z+—8B % T
RS - AEEWEEREARERSE (=
E-RF - RRIASERE AEEREE
R B /183,274,000 7T ) °
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HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

28. TRADE RECEIVABLES 28. EIRE Z IR
2016 2015
=¥ WAV —T—H%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Trade receivables from outsiders ERINRALZE SR 2,954,194 2,840,861
Trade receivable from an associate il G L EA/NET = B 14,588 12,089
Trade receivable from a related party — JEW—ZEEA LT Z2E SRR 8,605 3,796
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts W SRR (103,324) (19,976)
2,874,063 2,836,770

The Group’s policy is to allow a credit period of 90 — 180
days to its trade customers (including the associate and
related party). The following is an aged analysis of trade
receivables, net of allowance for doubtful debts, based on

the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

AEERXERETEZESEP (BEHRE
AR REEALT)IOE180H 2 FRERHER - A
TARBREMREWRE SER (NBRRE
BB REZEABMZERRD N :

2016 2015

—E-RE —ZET-RHEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FET

0 - 90 days 0£90H 1,594,477 1,631,628
91 — 180 days 91F180H 1,209,804 1,160,944
181 — 365 days 181%365H 69,782 44,198
2,874,063 2,836,770

Before accepting any new customers with credit limit, the
Group assesses their historical background and credibility
which are available in the market. The credit limit will be
determined with reference to the result of research and will

be reviewed once a year.

REMEFMAEERERBZHFELA - &
SEHeFNGEELESEMSHAESZ
ERKF RERBEBSRBRMATERETE
AKEesFEM—K-
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SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

28. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continuea)

At the end of the reporting period, trade receivables of
HK$66,478,000 (2015: HK$43,044,000) which have been
aged over 180 days and past due as at the end of the
reporting period for which the Group has not provided for
impairment loss because management is of the opinion that
the credit quality of these customers has not deteriorated.
Hence, there is no expectation of significant recoverability
problem. The Group does not hold any collateral over these

balances.

Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but not

28.EWE ZBRFX (&)

RS EIR - W E 5 8R5%66,478,00078 7T
(=T — 74 : 43,044,000/ 7T ) &0 BR # 8
BIB0R MR MEHREBE - BEAREE W
ARZERBIEL REBBREE LTHH
RERERRZEEPZEEERIET
R o L - FEEA T2 MIRE KB VR RE
AEBVERZSESRBIECAERR -

BB R E 2 B E 5 R Z AR

impaired
2016 2015
—E-REF —E—hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT THET
0 - 90 days 0£90H 4,590 23,050
91 — 180 days 912180H 38,071 824
181 — 365 days 181£365H 23,817 19,170
66,478 43,044

The Group will provide fully for any receivables that are past
due beyond 365 days because historical experience is such

that those receivables are generally not recoverable.
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GFEMBEmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

28. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continuea)

28. EIRE ZBRF (&)

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts REREBEZ2
2016 2015
—E—RE —E-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
1 January —HA—H 19,976 20,684

Allowance for doubtful debts RIBREAERZ

recognised in profit and loss REEB R 88,478 297
Exchange adjustments bE X & (5,130) (1,005)
31 December +=-A=+—H 103,324 19,976
The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, : - H & g

with exposure spread over a large number of counterparties

and customers.

SEYESAET ZEERR
H,

DHRHAZRFETREP -
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FEVBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

29. HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENTS 9. FEXGFHEZRE

2016 2015

=¥ WAV —T—H%F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FAT
Listed equity securities in Hong Kong, R&B Fm2ZBRAZES -

at market value EmE 28,865 28,523
Quoted investment funds in Taiwan, ReEgcEEREES

at fair value BN E 9,328 9,297

38,193 37,820

The fair values of the held-for-trading investments are
determined based on the quoted market bid prices
available on the relevant exchanges or prices provided by
counterparty financial institutions. The quoted investment
funds can be disposed of at the prices provided by the

counterparty financial institutions on a regular basis.

30. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Currency derivatives
The Group utilises currency derivatives to hedge significant
future transactions and cash flows. The Group utilises a
variety of forward foreign exchange contracts to manage
its exchange rate exposure. The instruments adopted
are primarily to hedge the currencies used in the Group’s

principal markets.

During the year, a gain from changes in fair value of forward
foreign exchange contracts of HK$88,354,000 (2015:
nil) was recognised in profit or loss and included in other

income, gains and losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
GFEMBEmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

30. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 30.fTEE@MT A (&)
(Continueqd)
Currency derivatives (Continued) E¥GTETR (£Z)
At the end of the reporting period, notional amount of major RMERAR NEBMEREEXERTRIE
outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts that the HiSNE S A BRI

Group has committed are as below:

2016 2015
ZE-XEF —E-hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB TR ARBF T

Buy US$/Sell RMB at rates ranging BN TF7.02655E7.0275MERE A
from 7.0265 to 7.0275 X/ HEARY 808,098 -

As at 31 December 2016, the fair value of the Group’s RZE—RFF+ZA=Z+—H ERXEKELD
currency derivatives is estimated to be an asset of T &4 FF HR P S & HA R A T 35 4R HA O 3R B EL R 3R
HK$396,000 (2015: Nil), based on the difference between EHRNAENEHER  HEHEFTE 56
the market forward rate at the end of the reporting period for BEETAETENRFEGEAEES396,0004 7T
the remaining duration of the outstanding contracts and their (ZE—FF &) RZE—RF+-_A=1+—
contracted forward rates at the end of the reporting period. BRREKEYER _E—FF—FERH
The contracts outstanding as at 31 December 2016 will (ZZ—ARF 8-

mature in the first quarter of 2017 (2015: Nil).
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FEVBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 &%= —NEFZA=F—HIFE
31. TRADE PAYABLES 1.ENEZRN
2016 2015
—RE —E—hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Trade payables to outsiders ERINAALTZE FERER 1,083,880 995,445
Trade payable to ultimate holding JERNHRBIER AT ZE SRR
company 5,308 1,073
Trade payables to fellow subsidiaries BRNRRANBARZE KRR 47,734 25,970
Trade payable to an associate R —HBERARZESHER - 1,767
1,136,922 1,024,255

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables based on

the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

AT RRBERRZENESRFTIRER
HEIZ ARER DT

2016 2015

—E—-XE —E—RF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FH T FiE T

0 - 90 days 0Z90H 1,039,232 905,241
91 - 180 days 91E180H 5,314 18,265
181 — 365 days 181E365H 12,530 62,690
Over 365 days 3658 A 79,846 38,059
1,136,922 1,024,255

The trade balances due to ultimate holding company, fellow
subsidiaries and the associate are unsecured, interest-free

and repayable in accordance with normal trading terms.
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SFEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

32. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED 2. HMEMAREREFTAE
LIABILITIES
2016 2015
—B-AEF —ET-RHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FHET
Construction cost payables FERT R A 326,148 460,770
Deposits and receipts in REBF 2R RFBWR
advance from customers 483,631 488,878
Retention moneys BAFHE 39,935 33,546
Other taxes payables H th & R I8 135,360 74,085
Preferred distribution payables to FEAS AT EEIREB R AR AR R 2
convertible preference shareholders 8% 5K 14,130 14,130
Payables for land use rights and T AR R ERIEE 2
mining rights JE 5 3008 - 18,505
Consideration payable for the acquisition W & b B A B 58 4N 25 2
of additional interests in subsidiaries e HR1E 8,960 16,660
Expenses accrual Est S 242 546 233,784
Management fee payable to ultimate JERNHREERAT 2
holding company ERE 11,007 9,680
Other payables to fellow subsidiaries ENRZRNBARZ
H Al & 3R 738 5,848
Refundable deposit to former EWEEEEES 2
shareholder of a subsidiary arising RET—AWBARQA
from acquisition AR 2 &® 67,740 70,635
Deferred income — government grants  #E 3L U8 A — B JiF 48 B
(Note 34) (Kt7£34) 580 -
Other payables H th JE T 5KI8 106,355 72,365
1,437,130 1,498,886
S REMEEERAT 2016 £5 233
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SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

33. BANK LOANS 33.8B1ITER
2016 2015
—E—XE —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Secured HHEA - 69,615
Unsecured E ST 9,418,256 11,663,268
9,418,256 11,732,883
The loans are repayable as follows: BEFGERBOT

Within one year R—F KN 2,295,456 6,028,147

More than one year but not exceeding #i8— F{B T BB M F
two years 1,458,000 2,236,200

More than two years but not exceeding FRiBMFB T BB R F
five years 5,664,800 3,468,536
9,418,256 11,732,883

Less: Amounts due for settlement within i : BN —F RNEE 2

one year (shown under FIE (PR ABBEEIET)

current liabilities) (2,295,456) (6,028,147)

Amounts due for settlement after AR —F1REERE 2FIE
one year 7,122,800 5,704,736

TCC International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2016
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
GFEMBImRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

33. BANK LOANS (continued)

The Group’s bank loans that are denominated in currencies
other than the functional currencies of the relevant group

entities are set out below:

33.8B1TER (&)
AEBMUABEEEEY

BRERINZE

B RITERBIIMT

2016 2015

—E—REF —E—hF

HK$’000 HK$’000

THERT THET

Hong Kong Dollars BT - 159,513
United States Dollars eI 7,216,800 9,479,129

All bank loans of the Group are variable-rate loans which
carry interest with reference to Hong Kong Interbank Offered
Rate (“HIBOR”), London Interbank Offered Rate (“‘LIBOR”)
and benchmark loan rates of financial institutions set by The

People’s Bank of China.

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group has the

following undrawn borrowing facilities:

AEBZAMERTERRIBHEXTER
D2EFRBRITAERE ([BRRITRAE
KR WHERTRAERE ([RBRTH
EHRE]) RTPBARRITAHE 2 & 8%

BEEERMEE -

oE %
o
53d
Off

\
A

it
a am

R ANEBEHEE T HARRRZ

2016 2015
—E—XE —E—hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Floating rate T BB =
— expiring within one year —R—FANE® 4,107,105 3,580,536
— expiring beyond one year — R —FEER 426,800 155,000
4,533,905 3,735,536

The Group has no secured bank borrowings (2015:
HK$69,615,000) which are secured by fixed charges of
certain assets of the Group, including property, plant and

equipment and prepaid lease payments.

AEBEYEDERRTERE (ZF—0F:

69,615,000/87T) ' Z M IRITEBEE AR
EEETEEZETHCIERT  BE
EREDE BEMSERENHEEKE-
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FEVBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

34. DEFERRED INCOME - GOVERNMENT 34 EEW A — BT BL
GRANTS

2016 2015

—E—RE —E-hF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FiE T

Balance at 1 January R—A—RZ&#% - -

Received during the year RAF E B WRIE 15,798 -

Recognised in profit or loss EREPER (455) -

Exchange adjustments P H, & 20 -

Balance at 31 December R+—_A=+—8Bz&% 15,363 -
Analysed for reporting purpose as: ATEEmAE

Non-current liabilities ERBEE 14,783 -

Current liabilities mEBE 580 -

15,363 -

The deferred income represents government subsidies
granted to the Group in relation to the capital expenditure on
technological research and development projects. During the
year, the Group received these subsidies of HK$15,798,000
(2015: Nil). The relevant conditions of these subsidies were
fulfilled before recognition and such subsidies were non-
recurring in nature. The amounts had been treated as
deferred income and will be transferred to income over the

project lives.
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35.

36.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

AMOUNT DUE TO IMMEDIATE HOLDING
COMPANY

On 23 December 2016, the Company entered into a
loan agreement with the immediate holding company for
borrowings of US$80.0 million (equivalent to HK$620.8
million). Mr. Koo Cheng-Yun, Leslie, an executive Director, is
interested in the transaction to the extent that the immediate
holding company is controlled by him. The agreement has
a term for one year and is further extendable for another
one year. The amount due to immediate holding company
is carrying interest with reference to either HIBOR or
LIBOR plus a spread, unsecured and the amount as at 31
December 2016 will be repayable on 23 December 2018.
During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group has
early repaid the balance as at 31 December 2015 which
shall be repaid on 28 December 2017 and has recognised
related interest expenses of HK$18,562,000 (2015:
HK$25,740,000).

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

In order to enlarge the market share in the PRC, the Group
completed the following acquisitions during the year ended
31 December 2015.

In January 2015, the Group completed the acquisition of
the entire equity interest in MU JI| & £ BKEER S T
A 8] (Sichuan Railway Group Cement Company Limited*)
at a cash consideration of RMB640.5 million (equivalent
to HK$800.6 million) from an independent third party. The
company name was changed to TCC Huaying Cement
Company Limited (“TCC Huaying”) after acquisition. TCC
Huaying is principally engaged in the manufacture and
distribution of cement and clinker in Sichuan province of the
PRC.

*

For identification purpose only

35.

36.

BNEBEZERATRE

R-ZE—RNF+-_A-+=H KA nH
B B ¥ I8 A 7] $£80,000,000% 7 (HHE R
620,800,000/8 7T ) Z B 7] L B &k o
HITEEFERALTERZRIPHEAR
BiEH 2 EBIERARATESR 2%
HEAH—FUE—FEH—F-BNE
BERARRERL2EDTBRITRAER
BREHRTEAEFRESMEEF L &K
BARZZ—A"F+ZA=+—RHZHK
BER_ZE—)\F+-_A=-+=HEE-
REBE-ZT—~"F+=-A=1+—BLtF
B AEBEEREEENR-ZT—RF+=
A=+—HAz#®% MZESRER_-Z
—tF+Z A=+ /\BEELCERHEEA
#8251 18,562,000 7L (—Z T — A F -
25,740,000/ 7T.) °

e B B
ABARFAZTSHE AEERBE
—E-HFTZAST-RALFEARR
T e -

RZE-—RAF—A TEBETKUER
& KR8 AKX %640,500,0007T (EEER
800,600,000/ 7T ) {t — & B L8 =77 W fi#
MNEEEENKEEREERAT ZEHR
EoZARAHERKRBEREE RELS
FRARERAT ([EFELER]) - ELBR
FTEEFED)ERERERD HKER

Y OEHREE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continuea)

In May 2015, the Group completed the acquisition of the
entire equity interest in A& KM E AR EFE QR (Hunan
Jindadi Materials Company Limited*) at a cash consideration
of RMB1,177.5 million (equivalent to HK$1,465.7 million)
from six independent third parties. The company name was
changed to TCC Huaihua Cement Company Limited (“TCC
Huaihua”) after acquisition. TCC Huaihua and its subsidiaries
(the “TCC Huaihua Group”) are principally engaged in the
manufacture and distribution of cement, clinker, concrete
and other cement related products in Hunan province of the
PRC.

Both acquisitions have been accounted for using the
acquisition method. The Group has adjusted the amount of
goodwill being recognised based on the final valuation of
acquired identifiable assets. The amount of goodwill arising
as a result of the acquisitions of TCC Huaying and TCC
Huaihua Group were HK$65,179,000 and HK$616,253,000

respectively.

Acquisition related costs amounting to HK$2,516,000 in
aggregate have been excluded from the cost of acquisition
and have been recognised as an expense in the year ended
31 December 2015, and included in the “general and

administrative expenses” line item in profit or loss.

*

For identification purpose only
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36. WEH B QR (#)

RZE—RAFRA AEEZTKUBRS
REAR®1,177,500,0007T (HHER
1,465,700,0008 ) SN B B L E =K
BHESAMMHBEREELRAIZ2H
B ZRRBBERKEEEERAR
(BlE)KEBRRR ([EF (1E1)]) -
ak(Eb)REMBAR (&% (&)
SEDFEEFEAPMERERERDH
KJe ~ B OREE T R HMORERE @ E
f%o

MBRELSEHRARBEAK - AEEE
RIRFT B Al BRI B 2 R AT (E B
KERzEHE2R - FRBELAERS
(B EBMEEZEABSBD A
65,179,000/% 7t }2616,253,0007% 7T °

HE-_Z-—RAF+-_A=+—RHILFE"
BN =18 2 BAR 512,516,000 7T
R AWBEEIB AR MARBR2 [—
MEITBFAX] BB NERRRXE -

Y OEHREE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
GFEMBImRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

The net assets acquired in the transactions, and the goodwill

36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) ~ 36. Y B& Ff B X &) (#)
REXSTHRBB AR FERELEZE

arising, are as follows: BN
TCC Huaihua
TCC Huaying Group Total
#2ARE AR (B &R M
HK$' 000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FAT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME BEKERE 975,741 1,676,965 2,652,706
Prepaid lease payments B HERE 58,030 207,704 265,734
Intangible assets BREE 435 84,951 85,386
Mining rights RIERE 1,255 8,568 9,823
Deposits paid for acquisition of HRUEEMEES N 2F]E
other assets - 1,875 1,875
Deferred tax assets BIERIEEE - 7,278 7,278
1,035,461 1,987,341 3,022,802
Current assets RBEE
Inventories "8 42,055 135,534 177,589
Prepaid lease payments BMEERE 1,530 1,339 2,869
Prepayments, deposits and BRRE EER
other receivables (note) H b e ERIE (A15E) 56,344 84,545 140,889
Trade receivables (note) FEUE SRR (Hat) 16,714 24,112 40,826
Tax recoverables BEqEE 625 11,546 12,171
Pledged bank deposits BEARITER - 137,640 137,640
Cash and bank balances Be RIRTTHEH 16,983 44,977 61,960
134,251 439,693 573,944
Current liabilities nEBEE
Trade payables ERE SRR 32,300 566,280 598,580
Other payables and HiEAFIER
accrued liabilities [EETEE 34,815 635,803 670,618
Bank loans RITER 356,225 248,625 604,850
423,340 1,450,708 1,874,048
Non-current liabilities *RBEE
Bank loans RITEN - 25,000 25,000
Loan term payables REENHEA - 21,024 21,024
Deferred tax liabilities BIERIEEE 10,907 80,903 91,810
10,907 126,927 137,834
735,465 849,399 1,584,864
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continuea)

note: The trade and other receivables acquired with an aggregate

fair value of HK$87,310,000 have gross contractual amounts
of HK$96,400,000. The best estimate at acquisition date

of contractual cash flows not expected to be collected was

HK$9,090,000.

36. WEH B QR (#)

Ktz BES# AT {E R87,310,000/ JT 2 fE
WE SRR R EAMERRIBZ BRI
8 396,400,000/ JT » FE HA T AT Y 8] 2
BEIAReRRNKRERR s &EGREAR

9,090,000/ 7t °

TCC Huaihua
TCC Huaying Group Total
#Zak Ak (B EE HEE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT
Goodwill arising on acquisition WEEEELECHE
Consideration transferred EEERE 800,644 1,465,652 2,266,296
Less: Fair value of identifiable net 3 : & W B AT 3% 5
assets acquired BESFEZATE (735,465) (849,399) (1,584,864)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WHREEEE EHE 65,179 616,253 681,432
Net cash outflow arising WESEELE 2
on acquisition ReRHFE
Cash consideration RBeRE 800,644 1,465,652 2,266,296
Less: Cash and bank balances BBEREZEREER
acquired RITHEBR (16,983) (44,977) (61,960)
Deposit paid in prior year EFEENZES (344,793) (174,908) (519,701)
Net cash outflow arising WHEEEELY
on acquisition BEemibF5E 438,868 1,245,767 1,684,635

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of TCC Huaying and
TCC Huaihua Group because the cost of the combination
included a control premium. In addition, the consideration
paid for the combination effectively included amounts in
relation to expected synergies, revenue growth, future
market development and the assembled workforce for TCC
Huaying and TCC Huaihua Group. These benefits are not
recognised separately from goodwill because they do not

meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continuea)

Impact of acquisitions on the results of the Group

During the year ended 31 December 2015, TCC Huaying
contributed HK$299,644,000 to the Group’s revenue
and loss of HK$61,542,000 to the Group’s results for the
period from the date of acquisition (in January 2015) to 31
December 2015.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, TCC Huaihua
Group contributed HK$469,899,000 to the Group’s revenue
and loss of HK$44,794,000 to the Group’s results for the
period from the date of acquisition (in May 2015) to 31
December 2015.

If the acquisitions had been completed on 1 January 2015,
the Group would record total revenue of HK$11,184,547,000
and a pro forma loss of HK$560,801,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2015. The pro forma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication
of revenue and results of operations of the Group that
actually would have been achieved had the acquisitions been
completed on 1 January 2015, nor is it intended to be a

projection of future results.

36. WEH B QR (#)

WEEEHASEEEECTE

HE-_Z-AFf+_-_A=+—RHALFE
W-EZ2LAREWRBEAH(R_E—A1F
—A)RREZE—RAF+_A=+—H1t
B AN R E 2 s B BR299,644,000/ 7T
KRG B 2 FEET R E1E61,542,000/8

JC °

HE-_T-—AE+_A=+—HILEE
W-AaR(BE)EEEWRERR (K=
ET-hAFRABRE_T—HF+ A
S+—HILEBHEATEER 2 s &R
469,899,000/8 7T M R A B 2 EETERE
844,794,000/ 7T °

WKEEBEER_Z—AF—A—H=%MK
AAEEREE_TE—AF+=-A=1+—
A 15 5 #8315 42 W %511,184,547,0007%
T X {8 % E518560,801,000/8 7T ° £ & R
THEMEA A WA AER RIS FE
BER-ZTE—RAF—A—AZKE A&EH
ERERESzHEREEEBEZEE T
THRIERRREE 2 TER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

37.SHARE CAPITAL — ORDINARY SHARES 7. BRA-ZER
Number of
ordinary shares HK$’000
ZERHAE FHET
Authorised: VETE R
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each at FRREECAE T 7 L@k
1 January 2015, 31 December 2015 RZE—HF—HA—H"
and 31 December 2016 “E-AF+ZA=+—HEK
“ZE-XR¥+ZA=+—H  5,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRBRRAR:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each at FEEECI0E Lz L@
1 January 2015 R-ZZE—RF—HA—H 3,295,643,213 329,565
Rights issue of shares (note) AR BT (M) 1,647,821,617 164,782
Conversion of non-redeemable 460 7] 0] AT 8 (B e AR
convertible preference shares 21 -
At 31 December 2015 and R-Z-RFE+-_HA=+—H
31 December 2016 KZF—RFE+=A
=+—A 4,943,464,851 494,347

note; On 16 July 2015, the Company issued 1,647,821,617
ordinary shares, on the basis of one rights share for every
two existing ordinary shares at the issue price of HK$2.20
per share. The net proceeds of HK$3,608.1 million were
raised by the Company. The Company’s issued ordinary

share capital was increased to 4,943,464,851 shares.

The new shares issued rank pari passu in all respects with

the existing shares in issue.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 &£ =%

38. SHARE CAPITAL - NON-REDEEMABLE

CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES
(“PREFERENCE SHARES”)

HEMBRRME

—NFFZA=F—HIFE

38. A — A Al = o] R B Sk R
(MExK])

Number of
convertible
preference
shares HK$’000
TER
BEREE FHET
Authorised: ETERRA -
Preference shares of HK$0.10 each BREMECI0ETZEBER
At 1 January 2015, 31 December 2015 R_T-—hF—-A—FH-
and 31 December 2016 —REF+ZA=1t—RHK
—E-REtTZA=t—H 494,344,810 49,435
Issued and fully paid: BRTRHBERAE:
Preference shares of HK$0.10 each FREECI0B T ZBER
At 1 January 2015 RZZ—hAF—F—H 494,333,666 49,433
Conversion of preference shares BRELR (21) -
At 31 December 2015 and RZBE-RF+ZA=1t—HBERK
31 December 2016 —F-R"NFT-A=1+—H 494,333,645 49,433

The preference shares are non-redeemable and carry no
voting right. Pursuant to the terms of the preference shares
and the articles of association of the Company, as a result of
the rights issue of the Company, the initial conversion price
of preference share, being HK$4.90 per preference share,
has been conditionally adjusted to HK$4.49 per preference
share with effect from 12 June 2015. Under the terms of
the preference shares, each preference share is initially
convertible into one ordinary share. As a result of the above
change in the conversion price, the initial conversion rate
is adjusted such that the number of ordinary shares into
which each preference share is convertible will be adjusted
by multiplying the rate of “4.90/4.49”. Details of which is
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 12 June
2015.

B AR EE &AM AR -
BIEB R 2GR RAR T 2 B E M
Al RRB 2 HIREBRELR 2V ER
B (BB EL4.90 T) B A IE 1
BREEREXLKILAEB T BT —AHF
NATZARBER-RIBEEER KGR &
RELEBRYIFAIER SR TR Ll
BHREZHERVTERRGHEL AR

NS BRELRA FERZ LAREE K
LA [4.90/4.49) 2t =M FAFAE - H
BEEHERARRBSHAE-ZT—RAFA
A+-—BZzAHR-
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38.

39.

R R E A E

—NFEFZH=F—HILFE

SHARE CAPITAL - NON-REDEEMABLE
CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES
(“PREFERENCE SHARES”) (continuead)

The preference shareholders are entitled to receive dividend
pari passu with ordinary shareholders on an as converted
basis. In addition, they are also entitled to preferred
distribution at a rate of 1.0% per annum on the issue price,
at HK$4.9 per preference share, payable semi-annually in
arrears. The preferred distribution is non-cumulative. The
Directors may, in their sole discretion, elect to defer or not to
pay a preferred distribution. If the board of Directors elects
to defer or not to pay a preferred distribution, the Company
shall not pay any dividends, distributions or make any other

payment on any ordinary shares.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS

Equity-settled share option scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) for the purpose of enabling the Directors to grant
options to selected Eligible Persons as incentives or rewards
for their contribution or potential contribution to the Group.
The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10
years commencing on the adoption date of 23 May 2006.
The basis of eligibility of any of the Eligible Persons to the
grant of options shall be determined by the Directors from
time to time on the basis of the Directors’ opinion as to his
contribution or potential contribution to the development and
growth of the Group. Eligible Persons means any person

falling within one of the following classes:

() any Director or proposed Director (whether executive

or non-executive, including any independent non-
executive Director), employee of any member of the
Group or any controlling shareholder, a person who
controls the Company or any company controlled by a
controlling shareholder (a “Category A Eligible Person”);

or
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39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTIONS (continuead)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

(i) any holder of any securities issued by any member
of the Group or any controlling shareholder or any
company controlled by a controlling shareholder (a

“Category B Eligible Person”);

and, for the purposes of the Scheme, shall include any
company controlled by one or more persons belonging to

any of the above classes of persons.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed
10% of the shares in issue as at the date of adoption of
the Scheme. The Company can grant share options to
subscribe up to 77,292,200 shares of the Company under
the Scheme. The 10% limit may be refreshed with the

approval of shareholders of the Company.

The number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of
which options granted and may be granted to any individual
in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders. Any option
to be granted to a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company (or any of their respective
associates) must be approved by the independent non-
executive Directors (excluding any independent non-

executive Director who is the grantee of the options).

9. U EZNREBEZRES ()

DURASEE 2BRETS (F)

(i) AEBEMKE QA HAERMZERKE
SR IR AR RIE S 2 R B EITZ
EAEZZEAKAEA (BRAER
AL

MR BT S - B85S it (T — 4
T BHBBALEHZ EAAT

MBZAEREZEBREMS R 2RH
BE - THBBZTERBRMNE BB BT
R 1910% o AR B AT IR R 3Z 5T &3 B8
B #EE - DARRBE A% %77,292,2000% A A 7] I
o EARRNAIREIAER - Z10% ERA] T
B

RERRBRRELAE  ERIALRME
M—FARADERATERR 2 BRI K&
ZEETEETETZRNDEE  TEEB
BARR B RAEAABSE 2 BTN 1% ° FLA
EE ARAXBIBRABHEERR (K
mEEBZEMBEAN) REBERE AL
BYFATER (TEERNS REREA
BRAZEBILIFRTES )i

SREMEERRAT 2016 £

A

245



246
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTIONS (continuead)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

If a grant of options to a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive Director (or any of their
respective associates) will result in the total number of
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of options
already granted and to be granted to such person under
the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) in any 12-month period up to and including the
date of grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the
shares in issue; and in excess of HK$5 million, such further

grant of options is required to be approved by shareholders.

The option period commences on the Commencement Date
(the date upon which the options are deemed to be granted
and accepted) of such options and ends on the close
of business on the day immediately preceding the tenth

anniversary thereof.

The exercise price per share shall be determined by the
Board, being at least the highest of (i) the closing price of
the shares on the date on which an option is offered to an
Eligible Person, which must be a business day (“Offer Date”);
(i) the average closing price of the shares for the five trading
days immediately preceding the offer date, and (iii) the

nominal value of one share.

Share options do not contain rights on the holders to

dividends or vote at shareholders meetings.
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40.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (continuead)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

No share option was granted under the Scheme and no

movement was observed during both years.

No expense was recognised in relation to share options
granted under the Scheme by the Company during both

years.

RESERVES

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the
difference between the fair value of the combined net
assets value of the subsidiaries involved in the Group
reorganisation in September 1997 and the assets, liabilities
and undertakings which relate to the import and distribution
of cement carried out by Hong Kong Cement Manufacturing
Company Limited prior to the Group reorganisation (the
“Relevant Business”), as if they were acquired by the
Group when the subsidiaries and the Relevant Business
commenced operations, and the nominal value of the

Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor.

Statutory reserve fund

In accordance with the relevant PRC regulations applicable
to wholly-foreign owned enterprises, certain PRC
subsidiaries are required to appropriate an amount of not
less than 10% of its annual after tax profit to the statutory
reserve fund which may be used to increase the paid-up

capital of the PRC subsidiaries.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # %=

—NEFFZA=F—HIFE

41. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement
benefits scheme under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Ordinance (the “MPF Scheme”) for employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries with maximum of HK$1,500 per employee per
month and are charged to the profit and loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with
the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme,
except for the Group’s employer voluntary contributions,
which are refunded to the Group when the employee leaves
employment prior to the contributions vesting fully, in

accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC
are members of state-managed retirement benefit plans
operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiaries
are required to contribute a specified percentage of
payroll costs to the retirement benefit schemes to fund
the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the retirement benefit plan is to make the specified

contributions.

The total expense recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
HK$85,322,000 (2015: HK$82,144,000) represents
contributions payable to these plans by the Group at rates

specified in the rules of the plans.
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42.

43.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2016 &£ =%

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The Group’s

overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt,
which includes bank loans and amount due to immediate
holding company net of cash and bank balances, and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital, reserves and retained earnings. The Directors
review the capital structure on an annual basis. As part of
this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and the

risks associated with each class of capital. The Group will

42.
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balance its overall capital structure through the payment of SEOREEFR T EHEBEERERE-
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as
the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debts.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 43. M T A
Categories of financial instruments SRIAZER
2016 2015
ZE-XRE —HF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT TETT
Financial assets cHEE
FVTPL WAFEF AR
— held-for-trading investments —RERGABZRE 38,193 37,820
Derivative financial instruments PTHEEET A 396 -
Loans and receivables (including cash B 3k & fE L k18 (B8
and cash equivalents) RekReEE) 7,431,974 8,967,444
Available-for-sale investments AEERE 34,453 37,377
Financial liabilities TEEE
Amortised cost 51K A 11,994,117 14,623,061
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # %=

—NEFFZA=F—HIFE

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity
investments, trade and other receivables, loan receivables,
derivative financial instruments, bank deposits and bank
balances, trade and other payables, bank loans and amount
due to immediate holding company. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments include
credit risk, interest rate risk, currency risk, other price risk
and liquidity risk and the policies applied by the Group
to mitigate these risks are set out below. Management
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures

are implemented in a timely and effective manner.

Credit risk

At 31 December 2016, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk, which will cause a financial loss to the Group due
to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties,
is arising from the carrying amount of the respective
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position and the amount of contingent liabilities
in relation to financial guarantee issued by the Group as
disclosed in Note 44. In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a team responsible
for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual debtor
at the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In
this regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s credit

risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the

counterparties are banks with high credit ratings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group mainly trades on terms based on prepayments
and letters of credits in most of the transactions. Thus, the
management considers that the risk is adequately monitored
and does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its

obligations.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is mainly in the PRC, which accounted for all loan
receivables (2015: all) and 97.6% of the trade receivables
(2015: 97.4%) as at 31 December 2016.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group has concentration of
credit risk with (i) loan receivables due from three (2015:
four) borrowers within the government sectors in the PRC;
and (ii) financial guarantee issued by the Group to an

associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuead)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk

()

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to the pledged bank deposits, restricted bank
deposits and time deposits. The Group is also exposed
to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to floating-
rate bank loans, amount due to immediate holding
company and bank balances. The Group currently does
not have an interest rate hedging policy. However, the
management monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate exposure
should the need arise. The fair value interest rate risk on
bank deposits is insignificant as the fixed deposits are

short-term.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR, LIBOR and
benchmark loan rates of financial institutions set by The
People’s Bank of China arising from the Group’s bank

loans and amount due to immediate holding company.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group’s sensitivity to interest rate risk has been
determined based on the exposure to variable interest
rates for financial instruments at the end of the
reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
amount due to immediate holding company and
bank balances net of floating-rate bank loans at the
end of the reporting period were outstanding for the
whole year. A 50 basis point increase or decrease is
used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in

interest rates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuead)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

()

(i)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s
post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2016
would increase/decrease by HK$22,000,000 (2015:
HK$6,823,000).

Currency risk
The Group is mainly exposed to United States Dollars
(“US$”) and HK$.

Amount due to immediate holding company, bank
balances and bank loans of the Group are denominated
in foreign currencies. The management continuously
monitors the foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging foreign currency risk should the need

arise.

In addition, the Group enters into short-term forward
foreign exchange contracts (less than 3 months) for
hedging purpose. The Group utilises a variety forward
foreign exchange contracts to hedge its exposure to

foreign currencies on a regular basis.

As at 31 December 2016, major outstanding forward
foreign exchange contracts that the Group has
committed is buying US$ and selling RMB at rates
from 7.0265 to 7.0275 (2015: nil). Their fair value is
estimated to be an asset of HK$396,000 (2015: nil) and
is included as derivative financial instruments (2015: nil)
at the end of the reporting period. The contracts will

mature in the first quarter of 2017.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEVBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuead)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i) Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis
The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change of 5% in exchange rate
of US$ and HK$ against functional currency of RMB
respectively, while all other variables are held constant.
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items and
adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting

period for a 5% change in foreign currency rates.

43. €T R ()
PBEEREERERKE (£)
AR (E)

(i) ErmEp (&)
HREE S

TRAVNARERET BT BIE
NEEBEARBZEXAIGEBSNZA
BB IHRE MAAEMAERE
ERFIE M BRENTERRER
REBZINEHEERHRB RNHRE
HIRIRINEE K% BB FRHIGE

2016 2015
—ZE-RF —T—0fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FHET
Increase (decrease) in post-tax N BR A 12 5 FI3E 0
profit/decrease (increase) in R ) BBk EE
post-tax loss for the year wA (38 h0)
- if RMB weakens against US$ —MARBEHRETIESE 11,858 (218,488)
— if RMB strengthens against US$ —fiff AR & 0388 (11,858) 218,488
- if RMB weakens against HK$ —(WAREEE TS - (5,982)
— if RMB strengthens against HK$ — —fitf A R ¥ 57 JT 58 58 - 5,982

(ii)) ~ Other price risk
The Group’s equity investments and the investment
funds with underlying equity investments at the end
of the reporting period exposed the Group to equity
security price risk. The management manages this
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments
with different risk profiles. The Group’s equity price
risk is from listed equity securities in Hong Kong and
quoted investment funds. Available-for-sale investments
also exposed to price risk but no sensitivity analysis
is presented as the available-for-sale investments are

measured at cost.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuead)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(iii)) ~ Other price risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risks in respect

of held-for-trading investments at the reporting date.

If the prices of the respective held-for-trading
investments had been 20% higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s post-
tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2016
would increase/decrease by HK$7,639,000 (2015:
HK$7,564,000) as a result of the changes in fair value

of held-for-trading investments.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank

loans and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank loans as a significant source of
liquidity. As at 31 December 2016, the Group has available
unutilised bank loan facilities of HK$4,533,905,000 (2015:
HK$3,735,536,000). Details of which are set out in Note 33.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z —Z&

—NFEFZH=F—HILFE

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which

the Group can be required to pay. The maturity dates for

43. €T R ()

MEERERBRERE (&)

mEBEZEE (&)

TRAVNAEBFTEERBEZHERE
RZIHER - ZRIRBEASEANKZ
EREAMZERABETATARSRER
R RTETRAGENI A TIRERE

EEBHEE-

ZRBENERASR S

non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed M o W F B/ f#@]ﬂ% AIRITIR SRR
repayment dates. The table includes both interest and ERBHREAR A EFE
principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are
floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from
interest rate at the end of the reporting period.
Liquidity risk tables BB TR R
Weighted ~ Repayable Total
average on 1-3 3 months undiscounted Carrying
interest rate demand months tolyear 1-5years  cash flows amount
Mg RERK =fA KER
Gk #E -Z=f8A E-F -E1F HERLE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% T TR TR TR T T
2016 “E-RE
Non-derivative FiTELHERE
financial liabilities
Trade and other payables ERESEAR
TR - 1,007 860,783 1,093,271 - 1,955,061 1,955,061
Bank loans ROER 2.7 - 1,710,486 843,391 7,450,652 10,004,529 9,418,256
Amount due to immediate ENEBERARANE
holding company 23 - 3,567 10,700 635,067 649,334 620,800
Financial guarantee contract HHRERARY - 100,800 - - - 100,800 -
101,807 2,574,836 1,947,362 8,085,719 12,709,724 11,994,117
2015 ~%-1%
Non-derivative FiiELHER
financial liabilities
Trade and other payables ERESRAR
EAERN A - 838 968,632 990,708 - 1960178 1,960,178
Bank loans ROER 2.7 - 2,008,681 4,187,559 5879355 12,070,595 11,732,883
Amount due to immediate ENERERARANE
holding company 1.7 - 8,109 24,327 1,945,609 1,978,045 930,000
Financial guarantee contract BBRERAY - 124,950 - - - 124,950 -
125,788 2,980,422 5,202,594 7,824964 16,133,768 14,623,061
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HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contract
is the maximum amount the Group could be required
to settle under the arrangement for the full guaranteed
amount if that amount is claimed by the counterparty
to the guarantee. Based on expectations at the end of
the reporting period, the Group considers that it is more
likely than not that no amount will be payable under the
arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to change
depending on the probability of the counterparty claiming
under the guarantee which is a function of the likelihood that
the financial receivables held by the counterparty which are

guaranteed suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities is subject
to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the

reporting period.

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

Fair value measurements of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on
a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. The following table gives information about how the
fair values of these financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) and

inputs used).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 43. T B (&)
Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities tREEREMEBEZATE (&)
(Continued)
Fair value measurements of the Group’s financial assets FEFNEHEERHBEGEH A FET
and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on gzt BER L FENE (Z)

a recurring basis (Continued)

Financial assets/ Fair value as at Fair value Valuation technique(s)
financial liabilities 31 December 2016 hierarchy and key input(s)
RZB-X"F+=B=+—8H fRERITR
CREE ¢RAE ZAF¥E DAFEER FEHAEH
Financial assets
Held-for-trading investments Listed equity securities in Hong Kong: Level 1 Quoted bid prices in
- cement industry - HK$28,865,000 active markets.

(2015: HK$28,523,000); and quoted
investment funds in Taiwan -
HK$9,328,000 (2015: HK$9,297,000)
BIEXHRBEZRE REB LT 2RAES E— RERMGHMmBEERE-
KIEAT % — 28,865,000/ 7T
(ZE—FF:28,523,0008 L) : &
NEE 2z BEREES—9,328,000% T
(ZE—FH%:9,297,000/8 L)

Forward foreign exchange Assets — HK$396,000 (2015: nil) Level 2 Discounted cash flow
contracts as derivative

financial instruments in the
consolidated statement of
financial position

BAEBMBRAKRFERTLES
BTAZERBINES L

EE— 396,000 (ZE—HF:
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Future cash flows are
estimated based on
forward exchange
rates (from observable
forward exchange
rates at the end of the
reporting period) and
contract forward rates,
discounted at a rate that
reflects the credit risk of
various counterparties.
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44,

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2016 &£ =%

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
(Continued)

Fair value measurements of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on
a recurring basis (Continued)

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost
in the consolidated financial statements approximate their
fair values. In addition, available-for-sale investments are
measured at cost less impairment at the end of the reporting
period because the range of reasonable fair value estimates
is so significant that the Directors are of the opinion that

their fair values cannot be measured reliably.

There were no transfers between levels in both years.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2016, the Group provided a corporate
guarantee jointly with other shareholders of an associate
to a bank in respect of banking facilities granted to that
associate in aggregate amounted to RMB400,000,000
(equivalent to HK$448,000,000) (2015: RMB400,000,000
(equivalent to HK$476,000,000)), of which RMB300,000,000
(equivalent to HK$336,000,000) (2015: RMB350,000,000
(equivalent to HK$416,500,000) has been utilised by the
associate. Pursuant to the corporate guarantee agreement,
the Group has provided the guarantee amount proportioned
to its equity interest in the associate, which represents
RMB90,000,000 (equivalent to HK$100,800,000) (2015:
RMB105,000,000 (equivalent to HK$124,950,000)).

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no other material

contingent liabilities as at the end of the reporting period.

43.

44,

HEMBRRME

—NFFZA=F—HIFE

€@ TR (2
LREERSHEESATHE (&)

rEENEHEERCHBEBH L FET
UERMEER L FEE (F)

E=ZRR REHERAREEMBHRERA
ARZeREERERABRZEMERE
DNPERE U R|EHR ATHEE
BREDRRATNGRERE RASES
BAVEGFZEEER WEFZARKE
FZRVFEELAEFE

)

I

RRFEEFRZ AL EEE -

7.

XREE
RZE—XR"F+_A=+—8B ££H
A — B & QB2 A AR R h sz e &
RIEF 2 2%/ AR 400,000,000
7L (1% 7 448,000,000 70) (= F
— A F: AR ¥400,000,0005C (HHER
476,000,000 7T) ) 2 RITELE (EH A
[ #300,000,0007T ( #H % #°336,000,000
Br) (ZE—H4F: AR¥350,000,000
7T (% 7416,500,00058 7T) ) C # % B
ENTEA) MA—RRITREDEER -
BECEERBR NEEERARZE
ERmzRELAHIREERRSE DAA
2 #90,000,0007T ( #855#2100,800,000/%
) (ZF— R %F: AR¥105,000,0007T
(A% 124,950,000 7T) ) °

=

F+Ea+

D)

B EXFPRREEIN RIS IR AR EH
BEHMERKAREE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEVBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

45. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group’s capital expenditure in respect of the following

45, 8 R & IE

AEER TIFHZERINERREAY

items contracted but not provided for in the consolidated BHREBE CEATLOT
financial statements are as follow:
2016 2015
—E—XREF —E—hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT THET
Acquisition of property, BEWE BELE&HE
plant and equipment 473,440 893,459

46. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
outstanding commitments for future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases with a

fellow subsidiary which fall due as follows:

6. WEHYESE

REIEHR AEE L ERF R E QAR
VTR REHO 2 ARRERE
HIBGER W AR BT Z AR HEMBAWNT

2016 2015

—E—XE —E—hF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FE& T TFHET

Within one year —F R 4,968 4,968
In the second to fifth years inclusive E-FEERF 19,872 19,872
Over five years 8 i@ L F 28,169 33,137
53,009 57,977

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
Group for certain of its rented land based on current rental
payment. Leases are negotiated for lease term of thirty years
and the rental is repriced every two years based on the

market rent.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
GFEMBImRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

47. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 47. EEKH
As at 31 December 2016, assets with the following carrying R-E—R"F+_A=+—B K TER
amounts have been pledged as performance guarantee in BvEECERRE TRBESNIEARY
relation to certain mining contracts (2015: or as a security BR(ZZE—RF  HEARITER KT
for the bank loans). m) e

2016 2015
—E—RE —E-hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FiE T
Property, plant and equipment W BE M&E - 529,434
Prepaid lease payments FENHEEREA - 62,862
Pledged bank deposits BEBEITER 17,291 19,289
17,291 611,585
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

48. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances set out in
Notes 9, 27, 28, 31, 35 and 46, the Group entered into the

418. AEANERS

B AMTEE9 ~ 27 <28 ~31 ~ 35 K 46FF il 2 3T
SREHRIN RAFE  AEEBHEIT T

following material related party transactions during the year: ERBEEALRS:
2016 2015
—E-XE —E-HF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
k23 TERT FET
()  Rental expenses payable to () EE—HERRWNBARZ
a fellow subsidiary HeBH (@) 4,968 4,968
(i) Purchases of cement and iy MARRERRARBEKER
clinker from ultimate holding R
company (b) 26,577 75,427
(i) Transportation and management (i) ENREMEARZEH &
services fee payable to EERKE
fellow subsidiaries (@) 224,376 268,545
(iv) Maintenance service and one- (v) ERNRZRWEBARZEHM
off implementation service fee BHRG BERE R
of a computer software system —REBARBE
payable to fellow subsidiaries (@) 19,596 30,243
(v)  Sales of limestone to ultimate V) MEREERABHEERRA
holding company (b) - 7,331
(vi)  Service fee payable to ultimate Vi) EREERERARZREE
holding company (a&c) 120,249 86,177
(vii) Management fee payable to (i) BN —2HEEATZERE
a related party (note 1) (Hfit1) (@) 10,242 10,707
(viii) Rental expenses payable to (vii) BN —2BEEALTZHES
a related party (note 1) EBR(Wiz1) @) 704 743
(ix) Sales of cement to a related party (ix) [[A1— % EE A THEEKE
(note 1) (He1) (b) 44,876 52,348
(x)  Trademark fee payable to X EN—2@EEALTZ
a related party (note 2) EEERE (Mi2) (@) 5,432 4,766
(xi) Purchase of raw materials from x) M—EZEEALTBEERVR
a related party (note 3) (H1523) (b) 262 -
(xii) Purchase of raw materials from (xi) M—fEHERREERME
an associate (b) 24,086 29,209
(xiii) Sales of cement to an associate  (xii) [A]— 1 EE 2 A A $5 S KR (b) 75,469 90,172
(xiv) Sales of raw materials to (xiv) [Al—fE1BE & 1A A H & R AR
an associate (b) 17,804 31,2283
(xv) Service income from associates  (xv) KBS A F 2 REKA (@) 2,341 1,576

TCC International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2016

A



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

48. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

notes:

M

The related party is a non-controlling shareholder of a

subsidiary of the Company.

The related party is the holding company of a non-controlling

shareholder of a subsidiary of the Company.

The related party is a subsidiary of a non-controlling

shareholder of a subsidiary of the Company.

The prices of these transactions were determined between the

parties with reference to the agreements signed.

The prices of these transactions were determined between the

parties with reference to market prices.

On 12 March 2015, the Company entered into a service
agreement with the ultimate holding company for provision
of services including internal services (including human
resources, financial management, internal audit and legal
advice) and production related and sales related services by
the ultimate holding company. Mr. Koo Cheng-Yun, Leslie, an
executive Director, is interested in the transaction to the extent
that the ultimate holding company is controlled by him. The
agreement has a term commencing from 12 March 2015 to
31 December 2017. The service fee payable by the Company
is determined based on the total clinker production capacity,
total cement production capacity and the total residual heat
generated by the Group for the immediately preceding period.
Details of the transaction are set out in the announcement of
the Company dated 12 March 2015.

During the year, the remuneration of key management

personnel which represents the short-term benefits
of Directors remuneration is HK$7,185,000 (2015:
HK$3,610,000) as set out in Note 11.

A8. BBEALTRS (&)
Krat -

(1) ZEEALRARR—HEHBLRZIFE
RRASER

(2 ZEEALTRARR—REQEZIEE
% A% Rz 3 A 2 A

(B) ZEEALRARR—HEHBLRZIFE
PR AR IR 2 B B8 &

@) “%EXZZERHAINETZZEHETZ
175 % R E

G5
DHF

2ERGZERBRINET2EMSER
£

o

i3

T-HAFE=ZA+=H FARAIHEZK
ZRAFRRRERARDRERBEER
HERB(BFEANER BBERE "I
BT OERBRBRR) AR AEE RS HER
BRI RB W -RITEFERAAKRER
ZR 5 PR B R 2 RAEER QB
ez ZhEzHRE T —HF
At ARBE-ZT—+tF+_A=+—
H-ARBENZRBEERDBREREE
REZ E—MREEZ AR AER KE
BEERBRAMEE - EERH2HE
BRARRBEHA-_T-—HF=A+_-H
AN o

°
3
\ [

s
‘}

B EITSE RAFERN T BER
ANBZHH (BEESMEe 2R BHERN) A
7,185,000/ T ( ZZ— A% : 3,610,000/
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

49. SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31

TCC International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2016

A

December 2016 and 2015 are as follows:

49. B A 7

KRR ZE—RNFR_E—AF+=A

=T -BZIEMBRARZFBNT:

Place of Particulars
incorporation/ of paid up/ Proportion of
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital ownership interest Principal activities
e/
WEARARE B ANE- 31 aMERFE EEEREERL A TEER
2016 2015
—E-RE —Z-f1F
Shares held directly:
EERBZRG
Ulexite Investments Limited British Virgin Island (‘BVI")/ Ordinary US$200 100% 100%  Investment holding
Hong Kong L@k BAER
EBERAHS ([£8
RERES]) /B
Upper Value Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
HEREBRAT BE ERREL REER
Upper Value Investments Limited ~ BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary US$12,700 100% 100%  Investment holding
RERLHE/BA L@R12,700% T REER
Shares held indlirectly:
BEREZRD
Anhui King Bridge Cement Ltd.* ~ The PRC Registered capital 60% 60%  Manufacture and distribution of
ZHAFBREERA A B US$15,000,000 slag powder
HMER HERDHEED
15,000,000 70
Anshun Xin Tai*? The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of
ZIEEA? F RMB15,000,000 sand and gravel aggregate
HMERAREK products
15,000,0007C LERSEVAERER
Chiefolk Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000,000 70% 70%  Investment holding
EiB & i#fR1,000,0007% 7T BAER
Guizhou Kaili Rui An The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of
Jian Cai Co., Ltd."" # RMB389,660,500 cement and clinker
EMIEmR RN BERAR" HMERARS SE R A HAOR RAH
389,660,5007T
Guizhou Kong On Cement The PRC Registered capital 65% 65%  Manufacture and distribution of
Company Limited* # US$20,300,000 cement and clinker
EMBZKRERAR" HMER SERA AR RBH
20,300,000% 7T
HKC Investments Limited Taiwan Ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding
BRERERNERAA =) NT$155,000,000 RERR
LR
155,000,000%T & %



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
GFEMBImRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

49, SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

49. B AT (&)

Place of Particulars
incorporation/ of paid up/ Proportion of
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital ownership interest Principal activities
fr/
WELEERE EMRL EELY SMEAFE Bl RERERR L TEER
2016 2015
ZB-xE  —Z-5fF
Hong Kong Cement Hong Kong Ordinary 100% 100%  Import and distribution of cement
Company Limited B HK$164,391,013 EORDHEKE
EiRR164,391,013% T
Jurong TCC Cement Co., Ltd.* The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Mining of limestone and
ABRERKEBERAE # US$233,000,000 production and sales of cement
AMEX and cement products
233,000,000% 7T BRAREREERBE
KRRIKRE R
Koning Concrete Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 - 100%  Investment holding
0 ZRR100%E T RERR
Scitus Luzhou Cement Co., Ltd.*  The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of
BMNERKEFRA A # RMB395,000,000 cement and clinker
AR HER A EACRRAR
A %395,000,0007C
Scitus Luzhou Concrete Co., Ltd.*  The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of
BMNEZRRLERAR i RMB25,000,000 concrete
HMER HERDHERL
AR 25,000,000
Scitus Naxi Cement Co., Ltd.* The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of
ENMEEEKEERAR # RMB146,510,000 cement
HHER HERA#HKE
AR 146,510,0007
TCC Anshun Cement The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of
Company Limited*! # US$153,490,000 cement and clinker
Ak (ZIE)KEBRAR" Ralli-w HER A EKRRAH
153,490,000% 1
TCC Chongaing Cement The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of
Company Limited*! # US$118,000,000 cement and clinker
Ak (BE)KEERAR Balifow HER A EKRRAH
118,000,000% 7T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMBIRTME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

49, SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

TCC International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2016
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49. B AT (&)

Place of Particulars
incorporation/ of paid up/ Proportion of
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital ownership interest Principal activities
fr/
WELEERE EMRL EELY aMERFE EEERERER LA TEER
2016 2015
ZB-xE  —Z-5fF
TCC (DongGuan) Cement The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Transshipment cement and
Company Limited*! # US$20,000,000 cement products
Ak (RE)KEERAR Balifow BERRKREm
20,000,000% T
TCC Fuzhou Cement Co., Ltd.*"  The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of
BMaRICEER R A H US$16,250,000 cement
HMER HERAHKE
16,250,000% 7T
TCC Fuzhou Yangyu Port The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Provision of port facility services
Co., Ltd." i US$5,000,000 R MRS
BMARFEBEEERAEY AR
5,000,000% 7T
TCC Guangan Cement The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of
Company Limited*! # US$76,990,000 cement and clinker
Ak (ER)KERRAA" Balifow HE R HKRRAR
76,990,000% T
TCC (Guigang) Cement Ltd.*! The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of
B (BRB)VICRBRAF i US$217,875,900 cement and clinker
HHER HE RS HAR R AR
217,875,900% T
TCC Guigang Mining Industrial The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Provision of limestone quarrying
Company Limited* # US$5,000,000 services
ERARBREIRBERAR AR REARARRRSE
5,000,000% 7T
TCC Hong Kong Cement BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary US$10 100% 100%  Property holding
Development Limited RERLES/BE Deferred™* US$90 FENE
ERERI0ETL
ERR 0% T
TCC Huaihua™ The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of
ak (&) & RMB93,000,000 cement and clinker
HMERARHE HERA HAR R AR
93,000,000



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
GFEMBImRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

49, SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

49. B AT (&)

Place of Particulars
incorporation/ of paid up/ Proportion of
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital ownership interest Principal activities
fr/
WELEERE EMRL EELY SMEAFE Bl RERERR L TEER
2016 2015
“E-XE  ZZ-1F
TCC Huaihua Concrete The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of
Company Limited*? # RMB10,000,000 concrete
BlaRERLERAR? HMERARE HERDHERL
10,000,0007T
TCC Huaying™ The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of
Egak? H RMB901,850,000 cement and clinker
HMERARHS HE RS HAR R AR
901,850,0007T
TCC Jiangsu Mining Industrial The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Provision of limestone quarrying
Company Limited™' # US$4,000,000 services
IHARBREIRERAA AR REARARRRE
4,000,000% 70
TCC Jingzhou Cement The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of
Company Limited*? # RMB10,000,000 cement and clinker
EMARKEERAR? HMERARS SERA HARRBH
10,000,0007T
TCC Liaoning Cement The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of
Company Limited*! f US$55,391,700 cement and clinker
B (BE)IRBRARF" HHER HERA HAR R AR
55,391,700% 7T
TCC Liuzhou Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 70% 70%  Investment holding
ARMMNERAF BE L i®AR10,000%8 T BAER
TCC Liuzhou Construction The PRC Registered capital 42%* 42%  Manufacture and distribution of
Materials Company Limited* # US$13,500,000 slag powder
MHaERERMBERD AR HERDHEER
13,500,000% 7T
TCC Shaoguan Cement The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of
Co., Limited*! # US$40,000,000 cement and clinker (not yet
A (BE)KEERAA" HER commenced business)
40,000,000% T HER A EKRRAH
(HAREREH)
TCC Yingde Cement Co., Ltd.* The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of
B (RE)ICRBRAR i US$254,400,000 cement and clinker
HMER HERAEKRRAH
254,400,000% 7T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEVBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z —Z&

—NFEFZH=F—HILFE

49. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 49. B A 7 (&)
Place of Particulars
incorporation/ of paid up/ Proportion of
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital ownership interest Principal activities
fr/
WELEERE EMAL EE R SMEAFE EEERERER LA TEER
2016 2015
—-NE ik
TCC Yingde Mining Industrial The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Provision of limestone quarrying
Company Limited* # US$11,500,000 services
REARBXIRER HMER REARAR KRS
11,500,000% 7T
Yingde Dragon Mountain The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of
Cement Co., Ltd."! f RMB428,110,000 cement and clinker
AEEWKCEEREALRA" HMERARHS HE RS HAR R AR
428,110,0007T
* Registered as equity joint venture under the PRC law. * RBEPBEEEELRAGE QR

*1

law.

Registered as wholly foreign owned enterprise under the PRC

*2 Registered as domestic company under the PRC law.

*x

A subsidiary of a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

and, accordingly, is accounted for as a subsidiary by virtue of

the Company’s control over it.

The deferred shares of TCC Hong Kong Cement Development

Limited are non-voting, carry no rights to dividends and are

only entitled to a return of capital when the surplus exceeds
US$1,000,000,000,000,000,000,000.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company

which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected

the results, assets, or liabilities of the Group. To give details

of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors,

result in particulars of excessive length.

In the opinion of the Directors, none of its subsidiaries that

have non-controlling interests that are material to the Group.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at

the end of the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
GFEMBImRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

50. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

50. 2 2 B BF B AR R I b 4 R R

2016 2015
—E—XE —E—REF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FBT FABT
Non-current assets FERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RETB AR ZIRE 25,634,064 23,461,264
Intangible assets mEE 35 -
25,634,099 23,461,264
Current assets A E
Prepayments, deposits and ERRIE Ee Rk
other receivables H b JE Y FR B 24,095 19,930
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE WS BT 8~ B3k IR 456,517 487,886
Held-for-trading investments BIERXRSRB2EE 28,865 28,523
Derivative financial instruments TETsmIA 396 -
Cash and bank balances He MIRTTHES 671,241 999,355
1,181,114 1,535,694
Current liabilities mEAE
Other payables and accrued liabilities X 4 JE <t B & BT & & 44,458 38,231
Bank loans IRITEX 271,600 1,874,900
Amounts due to subsidiaries JERT I B~ Rl 3B 1,537,647 1,205,838
1,853,705 3,118,969
Net current liabilities mEAEFE (672,591) (1,583,275)
Total assets less current liabilities REERABDEE 24,961,508 21,877,989
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FEVBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2 —F— N NF+-HA=+—HIFFE

50. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

50. 2 2 B BF B AR R I b 4 R R

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (&)
(Continued)
2016 2015
—E—REF —E—hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAET
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Bank loans RITER 7,122,800 3,521,750
Amount due to immediate JENTEBIER A R FE
holding company 620,800 930,000
7,743,600 4,451,750
17,217,908 17,426,239
Capital and reserves B AN K R
Share capital — ordinary shares & AR — 58 A 494,347 494,347
Share capital — non-redeemable fE A — ] fE |
convertible preference shares A] BB ST 49,433 49,433
Reserves G 16,674,128 16,882,459
17,217,908 17,426,239
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SGEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z-F— N NF+-A=+—HIFE

50. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

50. 2 2 B BF B AR R I b 4 R R

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (%)
(Continued)
Movement in reserves HEEE
Capital
Share Contributed redemption Retained
premium surplus reserve earnings Total
BEARERE
B AR E BABRE e REEF Fob
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET
At 1 January 2015 R_E—RF—HF—H 10,547,971 264,586 5,130 3,217,959 14,035,646
Loss and total comprehensive expense AFEEEREARATAE
for the year - - - (79,604) (79,604)
Issue of new shares upon rights issue BB EEITIR 3,460,426 - - - 3,460,426
Transaction costs attributable to issue of %77 & B FEL L HAA
ordinary shares (17,089) - - - (17,089)
Payment of dividends SR E - - - (492,697) (492,697)
Preferred distribution to convertible BEARTHIERELRBRR
preference shareholders - - - (24,223) (24,223)
At 31 December 2015 R-ZF-RF+-A=1+—H 13,991,308 264,586 5,130 2,621,435 16,882,459
Loss and total comprehensive expense AEEBERZERYBE
for the year - - - (75,353) (75,353)
Payment of dividends Ll - - - (108,756) (108,756)
Preferred distribution to convertible BRARTUERELRRR
preference shareholders - - - (24,222) (24,222)
At 31 December 2016 RZZE-RE+ZA=+—H 13,991,308 264,586 5130 2,413,104 16,674,128
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Financial Summary

MBGH=E
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
—E--f = —Z-NE —T-HF ZE-KE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THL TEL TET SR TER
Results S
Revenue Yzt 11,304,282 12,970,794 13,752,863 10,911,069 11,412,814
Profit (loss) for the year ADEEAANEN
attributable to owners of the AEERER (EBE)
Company 610,000 1,674,569 2,051,156 (249,391) 193,840
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment ~ #1% ~ HE M & & 16,193,824 17,045,737 16,192,592 17,102,276 15,009,306
Prepaid lease payments BANEENE
(non-current portion) (FEmENEtn) 1,817,385 1,882,811 1,862,720 1,957,979 1,794,820
Intangible assets EMEE 2,898,405 3,179,788 3,104,141 3,667,443 3,424,323
Mining rights RER 401,163 441,630 397,993 465,128 420,741
Interests in associates BEnrER 1,537,007 1,711,627 1,497,663 1,516,419 1,416,528
Interest in a joint venture BEDNRER 21,700 12,800 12,500 10,627 -
Other non-current financial assets £ FE B¢ BEE 88,203 105,798 88,231 44,575 20,041
Deposits paid for acquisition of B ENE - BER
property, plant and equipment R EREMEE
and other assets YRZE e 291,637 312,376 245,604 204,169 421,704
Deposits paid for acquisition of KRB R AL M 234
subsidiaries 74,400 - 519,701 - -
Available-for-sale investments A/t HERE 614,167 45,193 41,459 37,377 34,453
Amounts due from investee e UNGIE
companies 144,075 - - - -
Pledged bank deposits EERRTER 4,578 10,217 18,561 17,746 15,834
Deferred tax assets EXERBEE 866 39,547 47,150 143,294 114,455
Other current assets HhReEE 9,327,449 9,919,201 11,613,300 10,660,416 9,204,277
Total assets BEE 33,414,859 34,706,725 35641615 35827449 31,876,482
Liabilities =N
Current liabilties nEEE 7,562,724 9,013,728 9,329,536 8,574,624 4,981,771
Deferred tax liabilities ELRBAE 354,812 365,298 359,755 405,289 343,029
Other non-current liabilities EWERBEE 9,712,736 7,641,398 7,310,672 6,634,736 7,758,383
Total liabilities BERE 17,630,272 17,020,424 16,999,963 15,614,649 13,083,183
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